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TO:   PACIFICA SYNOD VOTING MEMBERS 
 
FROM:   2022 ASSEMBLY PLANNING TEAM 
 
SUBJECT:  ANNUAL ASSEMBLY 
   May 19-21, 2022, Irvine Marriott 
   18000 Von Karman Avenue, Irvine, California    949.553.0100 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Pre-Assembly Report for the 
Annual Pacifica Synod Assembly 

 

To help you prepare for the experience of a synod assembly and introduce you to this year's business 
items and program content, please read carefully through all these materials. This report contains most 
of the official documents to be used for the assembly. Print what you need or download the PDF files to 
your tablet or laptop. Bring this pre-assembly report with you to the assembly.  These 
materials will also be available on the Guidebook App.  Look for details about how to 
download the app in your email. 
 

In order to provide an environment that is as safe as possible, proof of vaccination status or 
proof of a negative COVID test is required for all attendees of the assembly.  Prior to 
picking up your nametags and other voting member materials, you will be required to check in at the 
COVID Protocol Table to receive a wristband. If you are unable to provide proof of vaccination or a 
negative COVID test, you will NOT be allowed to enter the ballroom.   
More specific Covid protocol will be sent to everyone registered prior to the assembly. 
 
Voting materials, nametags and meal tickets will be distributed at registration area located in the foyer 
of the Irvine Marriott. Assembly registration will begin at 10 a.m. on Thursday, May 19. Check the 
agenda on page 2-1 for events each day.  
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ELCA Representative, Victoria Flood, will begin the 
explanation of the bishop election process at 1:45 p.m. 
Check-in and registration will close temporarily at 1:30 
p.m. If you wish to enter the ballroom and vote 
on the first ballot, you must be registered prior 
to 1:30 p.m.   
 
In the years when a bishop is elected, credentials—that is, 
whether persons are attending the assembly as voting 
members or visitors—are given additional care. In order to 
check credentials prior to the First Ballot for Bishop, check-
in and registration will close at 1:30 p.m. on Thursday, May 
19, and will not reopen until after the first ballot is collected. 
If you are a voting member who arrives during that time, 
you will not be able to enter the ballroom NOR vote on the 
First Ballot for Bishop. We will be unable to grant 
exceptions for late arrivals. While we expect most voting members will check in on Thursday morning, 
registration will be closed for 30 minutes prior to every bishop election ballot so that credentials can be 
verified. 
 
Because the assembly is a legislative meeting, the tables on the floor are designated for Voting 
Members. A voting member must be seated at one of these tables to speak at the microphone, 
receive a ballot and be counted in a quorum or division of the house. Non-voting members of the 
assembly are to be seated in the designated Visitor seats at the rear and side of the assembly hall.  

The official hotel check in time of the Irvine Marriott is 4 p.m., so it is possible that your room may not 
be ready when you arrive. In that event, you may store your luggage at the bell desk. Since checkout 
time is 11 a.m. on Saturday you may wish to check out before the morning session begins. Once again, 
you may store your luggage at the bell desk. The business of the assembly is expected to conclude no 
later than 12:00 p.m. Discounted cost of daily self-parking is $15 per day. 
 
Casual dress is encouraged throughout the assembly. Remember to bring your NRSV Bible (or another 
version if you prefer), a sweater/jacket for the meeting room, and this Pre-Assembly Report. An offering 
will be gathered at the assembly worship services and split 50/50 with Lutheran Disaster Response in 
Eastern Europe as they help refugees from Ukraine find hope and help in their present need and with 
Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Services as they help to resettle refugees from Afghanistan, Ukraine, 
and other parts of the world, as they make a new life in the United States.  Please make offering checks 
payable to the Pacifica Synod and include “Assembly Offering” in the memo.  
 
In the event of an emergency while at the assembly dial 911, then contact hotel personnel and synod 
staff immediately. 
 
 

 
 

 

No WIFI in hotel ballroom 
Due to the high cost of providing 
WiFi, there will be no WiFi access in 
the ballroom.  Wifi is available for 
free in the hotel lobby or provided 
for free for hotel guests in your 
rooms.  If you plan to use the 
Guidebook App for assembly 
material, please note that updates 
need to be done over WiFi.  A good 
practice is to refresh the Guidebook 
App each time you are in your room 
or in the lobby. 
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Where is the Coffee? 
 
In previous assemblies, coffee was available to all attendees.  Due to the rising cost of coffee provided 
by the hotel, we are unable to cover the cost.  There is a Starbucks located in the lobby of the hotel and 
there are coffee makers in your room.  There are several other coffee shops located within walking 
distance of the Irvine Marriott: 
 

Krisp Fresh Living: 2272 Michelson Dr #100, Irvine, 92612 (0.4 mile walk) 
Starbucks: 2961 Michelson Dr, Irvine, 92612  (0.9 mile walk) 

 
 

Voting Member Guide 
 
What is a Synod Assembly? 
Just as a congregation has an annual meeting, so each year the synod has an annual meeting when 
representatives from all the congregations of the synod come together to form the Voting Membership 
of a Synod Assembly. The purpose of the assembly is to hear reports of work done over the past year on 
our collective behalf, to elect people to serve in synod and churchwide leadership capacities, to 
deliberate issues, and to consider and approve a synod budget. 
 
Who attends a Synod Assembly? 
The voting membership of the assembly includes laypersons from each congregation, clergy (pastors 
and deacons), under call in this synod, a 10% representation of the retired clergy on the synod roster, 
and the Synod Council. As constituted, at least 60% of the voting members of the assembly are 
laypersons. 
 
Other assembly participants include representatives from the ELCA churchwide offices, synod staff, 
representatives from the synod program units and related agencies and institutions, special guests and 
visitors. 
 
Assembly Vocabulary 
The words "assembly" and "voting members," rather than convention and delegates, were chosen 
deliberately to reflect the understanding of the church that members gather in worship, carry out service 
and assemble occasionally for governance decisions and elections. Assembly participants do not come 
from a given caucus as politicized delegates to a party convention; rather they assemble as duly selected 
members of this church with voting responsibilities. 
 
Assembly Program 
Interspersed with the business, an assembly program committee plans opportunities for assembly 
participants to be inspired, grow in understanding and experience a deepening of faith. These 
opportunities come in the forms of worship, speakers, discussion, workshops, forums, and fellowship. 
 
Assembly Participation 
Become a full participant in the Synod Assembly. Attend business sessions, hearings and workshops, 
join in worship and share in discussions. Meet new people and renew old acquaintances. You will be 
blessed and others will be blessed by your presence. 
May the assembly experience strengthen your faith and broaden your understanding; and may it further 
equip and encourage you as a witness to the gospel and servant of the Lord. 
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Orientation 
 

Participation 
The Synod Assembly is the highest legislative body of the synod. As a voting member of the assembly, 
you play an important role in making decisions that shape and affect our ministry together. Participation 
in all of the assembly—hearings, plenary sessions, and workshops—can help you to consider difficult 
issues. 
 
Study Materials 
§ This Assembly Notebook is prepared for registered assembly participants. It contains the official 

assembly documents. Voting Members are asked to read and review these materials before the 
assembly begins. 

§ Bylaw and constitution changes, resolutions and legislative matters are important items of 
business. 

§ Robert's Rules of Order govern parliamentary procedures at the assembly. 
 
Attend Plenary Sessions 
Plenary (business) sessions are sometimes prolonged. Important decisions, however, often come near the 
end of a session. Therefore, it is important for all Voting Members to attend every business session and 
stay until a session is recessed or adjourned. 
 
Participate in Other Opportunities 
Along with the business of the synod, the assembly also provides participants with other unique 
experiences: 
  
Worship—In addition to gathering for two worship services, the assembly also begins each business 

session with Bible study to worship and glorify God. 
 
Knowledge and Growth—Reports, presentations, workshops, and displays offer opportunities to: 
§ Gain new or broader understanding of the mission and ministry for the whole church. 
§ Grow in faith, be renewed in spirit and refreshed for service. 

 
Community-Building—Organized fellowship opportunities, meal times and interaction with assembly 

participants from other parts of the church help to build community and strengthen the Body—
the Church. 

 
Procedures for Conducting Business 
Voting Members, and only Voting Members, are to be seated at tables designated "Voting Member." 
You must sit at a "Voting Member" table in order to vote or to be counted in a quorum. 
 
Floor microphones are placed on the assembly floor at strategic locations. Voting Members and Voice-
Only Members are allowed to speak on the assembly floor. To do so you must: 

1) Approach the microphone nearest your table. 
2) Wait to be recognized by the Chair (usually the Bishop). 
3) State your name and congregation, organization, or capacity, which entitles you to speak. 
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If you wish to make a motion or amendment to a motion (other than one of a procedural nature), you 
must first give a written copy to the Secretary. Forms for making a motion or amendment to a motion 
are available at the Secretary’s Table.  
 

What Can Be Done with a Motion? 
You may debate an issue which has been properly placed before the assembly. The maker of a motion is 
entitled to speak first. 
 

Form of Making Motions by Voting Members 
 
MAIN MOTION 
I move 
I move the adoption of this report 
I wish to present the following resolution __________ I move its adoption 
I move the adoption of the proposition in the letter read 
 
POSTPONE INDEFINITELY 
I move to postpone this matter indefinitely 
 
AMEND 
I move to amend the motion by inserting __________ between __________ and __________ 
I move to amend the motion by adding __________ after __________ 
I move to amend the motion by striking out __________ 
I move to amend the motion by striking out __________ and inserting __________ 
I move to amend by striking out the motion and substituting this motion (read or state substitute motion) 
 
COMMIT or RE-COMMIT 
I move that this matter be referred to a committee of __________ to be named by __________ with 
instruction __________ 
 
POSTPONE TO A SET TIME 
I move that this matter be postponed to __________ 
I move that this matter be postponed to __________ meeting at (name time) and be made A Special 
Order of Business (2/3 vote required) 
 
PREVIOUS QUESTION 
I call for (or move) the previous question (2/3 vote) 
 
TABLE 
I move that this matter be laid on the table (no debate) 
 
TAKE FROM THE TABLE 
I move that the motion __________ be taken from the table (no debate—motion made when no business 
is pending) 
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APPEAL 
I appeal from the decision of the Chair (in order only after the chair has made a decision or ruling) 
 
OBJECTION TO CONSIDERATION OF A QUESTION 
I object to the consideration of this question (2/3 vote) 
 
SUSPEND THE RULES 
I move that we suspend the rules for the purpose of __________ 
 
WITHDRAW A MOTION 
I ask leave to withdraw my motion (no second required—only maker of motion may ask leave) 
 
QUESTION OF PRIVILEGE (Personal or General Privilege) 
I rise to a question of privilege (state your question) 
I rise to a parliamentary inquiry (state your inquiry) 
I rise to a point of order (state your point) 
 
ORDERS OF THE DAY  
I move we return to the orders of the day 
 
READING PAPERS 
I move that the paper be read or re-read 
 
TO FIX THE TIME TO WHICH TO ADJOURN 
I move that when we adjourn, we adjourn to meet __________ 
 
ADJOURN 
I move that we adjourn (no debate) 
 
RESCIND 
I move to rescind the action taken, which was __________ (2/3 vote) 
I give notice that I shall move to rescind __________ (no second required at the next meeting—at the 
next meeting, offer the Motion to Rescind) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 1 - 8 

PACIFICA SYNOD CHURCHES & MINISTRIES BY CONFERENCE 
 
†     Synod Authorized Worshiping Community  
 
 
#1 East San Diego Conference  
Dean: The Rev. Richard Vevia  
Chula Vista, Glory  San Diego, Ascension 
Chula Vista, St. Mark San Diego, Calvary 
El Cajon, The Welcome Church † San Diego, St. Andrew’s 
El Cajon, St. John San Diego, Tierrasanta 
Lemon Grove, Lemon Grove Santee, Carlton Hills 
La Mesa, Shepherd of the Valley  

 
 
#2 West San Diego Conference  
Dean: The Rev. David Nagler  
Coronado, Resurrection San Diego, First 
San Diego, All Saints San Diego, Gethsemane 
San Diego, Christ San Diego, Our Savior/Nuestro Salvador 
San Diego, Clairemont/Iglesia Luterana 
Clairemont 

San Diego, St. Peter’s by the Sea 

  
 
#3 Harvest Conference  
Dean: The Rev. Laura Ziehl  
Encinitas, Bethlehem San Diego, Taiwanese 
Escondido, House of Prayer San Marcos, San Marcos 
Oceanside, King of Kings Solana Beach, Calvary 
Poway, Incarnation Temecula, Hope 
Ramona, Spirit of Joy Vista, First/Primera Iglesia 
  

 
#4 Raincross Conference  
Dean: The Rev. Kent Tuohino  
Claremont, Good Shepherd Ontario, First 
Corona, Peace Riverside, Eden 
Hemet, Spirit of Joy Riverside, Grace of Glen Avon 
Hemet, Trinity Riverside, Trinity 
Lake Elsinore, Shepherd of Life Sun City, Faith 
Moreno Valley, Lord of Life Upland, Grace 
Norco, Bethany  
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#7 Saddleback Conference  
Dean: The Rev. David Mattson  
Corona del Mar, Church of the Master Rancho Santa Margarita, Community 
Dana Point, Gloria Dei  San Clemente, Christ 
Laguna Niguel, Mission San Clemente, Our Savior 
Newport Beach, Newport Harbor  

 
 
#8 Son & Surf Conference  
Dean: The Rev. Jennifer Schultz  
Cypress, Mt. Calvary 
Fountain Valley, King of Glory 

Los Alamitos, Imanuel Indonesian Fellowship† 
Orange, Christ 

Garden Grove, Our Redeemer Orange, Our Saviour’s 
Garden Grove, St. Olaf Santa Ana, St. Peter/San Pedro 
Huntington Beach, Resurrection Seal Beach, Redeemer 
Los Alamitos, Bethlehem  

 
 
#9 Rejoice Conference  
Dean: The Rev. Anne-Grethe Nielsen  
Anaheim, Faith  Fullerton, St. Paul 
Anaheim, Grace  La Habra, Emanuel 
Anaheim, Lamb of God Whittier, St. Andrew 
Anaheim, Church of Dream Builders † Whittier, Shepherd of Life 
Buena Park, Good Shepherd Whittier, Salem 
Fullerton, First Yorba Linda, Emanuel Danish 
Fullerton, The Table † Yorba Linda, Messiah 
Fullerton, St. Luke  

 
#10 Hukilau Conference  
Dean: The Rev. Kathryn Zurcher  
Honolulu, Calvary by the Sea Kihei, Kihei 
Honolulu, Lutheran Church of Honolulu Lihue, Lihue 
Honolulu, Prince of Peace Mililani, Christ 
Kailua, St. John Pearl City, Joy of Christ 
Kailua-Kona, Luth Church of the Holy Trinity Waianae, Maluhia 

 
 
 
#5 Big Bear Conference 

 

Dean: The Rev. Matt Anderson  
Banning, Our Savior  
Barstow, Shepherd of the Desert 

Rancho Cucamonga, Indonesian Lutheran 
Ministry† 

Big Bear City, Spirit of Peace Redlands, ELCA BATAK Ministry†  
Fontana, Gloria Dei 
Joshua Tree, Lutheran Church of the Desert 
Palm Desert, Hope 
Palm Desert, St. John 
Palm Springs, River of Hope  
Rancho Cucamonga, Cross and Crown 
 

Redlands, First 
Rialto, Luth Church of the Cross 
San Bernardino, Central City Luth Mission † 
San Bernardino, LC of Our Savior-Spirit of 
Hope 
Victorville, Trinity  
Yucaipa, Faith 
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2021 Parochial Reports Filed 
 

We thank ALL our congregations for your partnership in ministry this year! 
Your congregation’s annual report is instrumental to the synod and churchwide offices in helping to 

better serve your ministry needs and contributes to our representation at Churchwide Assembly. 
 

EAST SAN DIEGO: 
Ascension San Diego 
Calvary San Diego 
Lemon Grove Lemon Grove 
Shep of the Valley La Mesa 
St. Andrew’s San Diego 
St. John’s El Cajon 
St. Mark’s Chula Vista 
The Welcome Ministry 

El Cajon (SAWC) 

Tierrasanta San Diego 
 
WEST SAN DIEGO: 
All Saint’s San Diego 
Christ San Diego 
Clairemont San Diego 
First San Diego 
Gethsemane San Diego 
Our Savior’s San Diego 
Resurrection Coronado 
St. Peter’s by the Sea SD 
 
HARVEST:  
Bethlehem Encinitas 
First Vista 
Hope Temecula 
House of Prayer Escondido 
Incarnation Poway 
King of Kings Oceanside 
San Marcos San Marcos 
Spirit of Joy Ramona 
Taiwanese San Diego  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RAINCROSS: 
Bethany Norco 
Eden Riverside 
Good Shepherd Claremont 
Lord of Life Moreno Valley 
Peace Corona 
Spirit of Joy Hemet 
Trinity Hemet 
Trinity Riverside  
 
BIG BEAR:  
Cross & Crown R Cucamonga 
Gloria Dei Fontana 
LC of the Cross Rialto 
LC of the Desert Joshua Tree 
Our Savior’s Banning 
Shep of the Desert Barstow 
Spirit of Peace Big Bear 
St. John’s Palm Desert 
Trinity Victorville 
 
SADDLEBACK:  
Christ San Clemente 
Community  

Rancho Santa Margarita 
Gloria Dei Dana Point 
Newport Harbor  

Newport Beach 
Our Savior’s San Clemente  
 
SON & SURF:  
Bethlehem Los Alamitos 
Imanuel Indonesian  

Los Alamitos (SAWC) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SON & SURF (continued):   
King of Glory Fountain Valley 
Our Redeemer Garden Grove 
Our Saviour’s Orange 
Redeemer Seal Beach 
Resurrection Huntington Bch 
St Olaf Garden Grove  
 
REJOICE:  
Church of Dream Builders  

Anaheim (SAWC) 

Emanuel Danish Yorba Linda 
Emanuel La Habra 
First Fullerton 
Good Shepherd Buena Park 
Grace Anaheim 
Messiah Yorba Linda 
Salem Whittier 
St. Andrew Whittier 
St. Paul Fullerton 
The Table Fullerton (SAWC)  
 
HUKILAU: 
Calvary by the Sea Honolulu 
Christ Mililani 
Holy Trinity Kailua-Kona 
Joy of Christ Pearl City 
Lihue Lihue 
LC of Honolulu Honolulu 
Maluhia Waianae 
Prince of Peace Honolulu 
St. John Kailua

If your congregation is not listed above, it is not too late! Go to ELCA.org and file your report using 
your congregational ID and password. If you need assistance, please contact Carol Youngman in 

the synod office. Thank you! 
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Annual Synod Assembly 
 

Marriott Hotel, Irvine, California 
 

 
 
 

11:00 a.m. (California)/8:00 a.m. (Hawaii): Resolutions Hearing (via Zoom) 
12:15 p.m. (California)/9:15 a.m. (Hawaii): Budget Hearing (via Zoom) 

 
 
 
 
10:00 a.m.  Registration opens (Foyer of Irvine Marriott)  
1:00 p.m.  Opening of the Assembly  
1:30 p.m.  Registration CLOSES TEMPORARILY 
   Credentials Report 
   Bishop Ballot 1  
2:35 p.m.  Break 
2:50 p.m.  Business Session 
  Bishop Andy Taylor Report 
  Resolutions 
4:30 p.m.  Break for dinner on your own 
7:00 p.m.  Business Session 
  Bishop Ballot 2 
8:00 p.m.  Worship 
 
 
 
 
 

THURSDAY, MAY 19, 2022
  

SATURDAY, MAY 7, 2022
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8:30 a.m.  Business Session 
  Q&A with bishop candidates 
  Bishop Ballot 3 
9:55 a.m.  Break 
10:10 a.m.  Business Session 
  Synod Council/Mission Funds elections 
  Budget Vote 
12:00 p.m.  Lunch and Conference Breakouts 
1:10 p.m.  Business Session  
  Speeches by bishop candidates 
  Bishop Ballot 4 
2:00 p.m.  Workshops 
3:15 p.m.  Break 
3:30 p.m.  Business Session  
  Additional speeches by bishop candidates 
  Bishop Ballot 5 
 
5:45 p.m.  Reception sponsored by California Lutheran Homes and Community Services 
 
6:30 p.m.  Banquet Dinner, including farewell program for Bishop Andy Taylor 
 

  
 
 
   
    
8:30 a.m.  Business Session 
  Reports 
  Resolutions 
10:00 a.m.  Worship with Holy Communion-Bishop Andy Taylor preaching 
 
  

SATURDAY, MAY 21, 2022 

FRIDAY, MAY 20, 2022 
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Thank you to our sponsors! 
We are so pleased to work with these ministry partners 

and very grateful for their generous gifts to the assembly. 
 

 
 

The Friday evening reception  
is sponsored by 

 
California Lutheran Homes  

and Community Services. 
 

We thank  
President and CEO, Deacon Nancy J. Ackerman 

and the board of CLH  
for your partnership in ministry with  

the Pacifica Synod. 
 
 

+++ 
 

Our ability to livestream this assembly is sponsored in part by the  
Mission Investment Fund of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America.   

We thank our Region 2 Manager Joel Wudel for his partnership. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

+++ 
 

Other potions of this assembly have been sponsored by Portico Benefit Services.   
We thank our Regional Representative Andrea Arey for her partnership 
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RESOLUTIONS AND BUDGET HEARINGS 
 

To better prepare yourself for discussion on Resolutions and the Synod Budget, there will be hearings 
offered prior to the assembly using Zoom.  Separate registration required. 

 

Resolutions Hearing 
Saturday, May 7 

11:00 a.m. (PDT)/8:00 a.m. (HST) 

 

Budget Hearing 
Saturday, May 7 

12:15 p.m. (PDT)/9:15 a.m. (HST) 

 

To register for a hearing, please contact Terri Robertson at TerriRobertson@PacificaSynod.org or 
714-692-2791. 

 

After you register, you will be sent a link with further instructions. 

 

The Budget can be found in Section 3 of this Pre-Assembly material.   

The Resolutions can be found in Section 6 of this Pre-Assembly material. 
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Opening of a Synod or Churchwide Assembly 
Evangelical Lutheran Worship 
 
 
L: As in one body we have many members, 
C: so we, who are many, are one body in Christ. 
L: Where two or three are gathered in my name, says the Lord, 
C: I am there among them. 
L: Live a life worthy of the calling to which you have been called, 

with all humility and gentleness, 
making every effort to maintain the unity of the Spirit 
in the bond of peace. 

C: Let us pursue what makes for justice and peace, 
and for mutual upbuilding. 

L: The Lord be with you. 
C: And also with you. 
 
L: Let us pray. 

O God, on this day you open the hearts of your faithful people 
by sending into us your Holy Spirit. 
Direct us by the light of that Spirit, 
that we may have a right judgment in all things 
and rejoice at all times in your peace, 
through Jesus Christ, your Son and our Lord, 
who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, 
one God, now and forever. 

C: Amen. 
 
L: I declare the 2022 Pacifica Synod Assembly to be in session 

in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit. 
C: Amen. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © 2017 Augsburg Fortress. All rights reserved. Reprinted by permission under Augsburg Fortress Liturgies 
Annual License #SB130414. 
  



2 - 6 

Closing of a Synod or Churchwide Assembly 
Evangelical Lutheran Worship 
 
L: Jesus said, You will be my witnesses 
C: to the ends of the earth. 
L: I chose you and appointed you 
C: to bear fruit that will last. 
L: Remember, I will be with you always, 
C: to the end of time. 
L: The Lord be with you. 
C: And also with you. 
L: Let us pray. 

Direct us, O Lord God, in all our doings with your most gracious favor, 
and extend to us your continual help; 
that in all our works begun, continued, and ended in you, 
we may glorify your holy name; and finally, by your mercy, bring us to everlasting life; 
through Jesus Christ, our Savior and Lord. 

C: Amen. 
L: O God, our beginning and our end, you kept Abraham and Sarah in safety throughout the days 

of their pilgrimage, you led the children of Israel through the midst of the sea, and by a star you 
led the magi to the infant Jesus. Protect and guide us now as we set out to travel. Make our ways 
safe and our homecomings joyful, and bring us at last to our heavenly home, where you dwell in 
glory with our Lord Jesus Christ and the life-giving Holy Spirit, one God, now and forever. 

C: Amen. 
L: I declare this assembly closed 

in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit. 
C: Amen. 
L: Go in peace. Share the good news. 
C: Thanks be to God. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Copyright © 2017 Augsburg Fortress. All rights reserved. Reprinted by permission under Augsburg Fortress Liturgies 
Annual License #SB130414. 
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ASSEMBLY PARTICIPANTS 
 

 
CHAIR  ..........................................................  Andrew A. Taylor, Bishop 
 
PARLIAMENTARIAN  ................................  Ms. Pauline Getz 
 
SECRETARY ................................................  Ms. Kathy Hartl 
 
ASSEMBLY PLANNING TEAM…………. 
    The Rev. Jennifer Zahnow, Chair                    The Rev. JP Sabbithi                                         
    Ms. Rachel Line, Assembly Manager              The Rev. Glen Egertson 
    Ms. Kay Fielder                                                The Rev. Misael Fajardo-Perez                  
    Ms. Freya Hendrickson                                    Staff Support:  Ms. Terri Robertson 
    The Rev. Katy Grindberg                                              Ms. Carol Youngman 
     
     
      
AUDIO/VISUAL ..........................................  Big Dog Sound 
 
CREDENTIALS  ...........................................  Ms. Terri Robertson 
  
LOGO ............................................................  Mr. Nate Maxwell-Doherty 
 
NOMINATING COMMITTEE ....................   
Ms. Lori Herman                                                         The Rev. Darryl Kozak 
Ms. Daneen Pysz                                                         The Rev. Tom Goellrich 
The Rev. Nate Allen                                                    The Rev. JP Sabbithi 
The Rev. Maria Santa Cruz                                         Dr. Nicolette Rohr, ex-officio 
                                                                         
 
REGISTRATION COORDINATORS ..........  Ms. Terri Robertson 
 Ms. Sandy Poteet 
 Mr. Glenn Travers 
 Ms. Charlyn Travers 
 
RESOLUTIONS COMMITTEE  ..................  The Rev. Laura Ziehl, Chair 
                                                                                    The Rev. Jay Egenes 
                                                                                    The Rev. Jennifer Schultz 
                                                                                    Ms. Sheila Wenzel 
   
       
SYNOD COUNCIL ELECTIONS  ...............  The Rev. Kim Eifert Krogstad 
   
WORSHIP  ....................................................   
   The Rev. Jennifer Zahnow                                The Rev. Katy Grindberg 
   The Rev. Misael Fajardo-Perez                         The Rev. Matt Anderson 
   Mr. Tyler Robinson                                            
    
 
Bishop Election Committee Co-Chairs  ........  Ms. Lori Herman and Ms. Becky Draper 
 
Bishop Nominating Task Force .....................  
Ms. Becky Anderson, co-chair                                   The Rev. Dave Hendrickson 
Dr. Melissa James, co-chair                                       Ms. Helga Bergthold 
Ms. Esmeralda Vences                                               Ms. Gitte Olsen 
Mr. Bob Michelet                                                       The Rev. Juli Patten 
The Rev. Wesley Menke 
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ELCA CHURCHWIDE REPRESENTATIVE 

Victoria Flood serves as Senior Director for 
Mission Support in the churchwide expression 
of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America 
(ELCA).  Learning more about the ministries of 
our church through visits (mostly digital, these 
days!) in synods and with congregations is one 
of Victoria’s greatest joys in this position.  She is 
often heard saying, “Mission Support is rooted 
in our faith and our relationships.  It is one of 
the most tangible ways that all of us in the ELCA 
demonstrate we are church together for the 
sake of the world.”  

Victoria began serving in this position in March 
2016.  Prior to that, Victoria served 15 years in 
the churchwide expression as part of the team 
in Research and Evaluation.  Prior to serving in 

the ELCA, Victoria worked nearly seven years in Wisconsin state government. 
Victoria earned a Master’s degree in Public Administration and Public Policy from 
the University of Wisconsin-Madison and a Bachelor’s degree in Humanities and 
Political Science from Valparaiso University. 
She and her husband, Rod Boriack, live in Des Plaines, IL.  They are proud parents 
and grandparents to 2 children – Katy (Christian); Jon (Brooke); and 2 grandchildren 
– Ayden (17) and Zoe (4).  Victoria and Rod are members at Our Saviour’s Lutheran 
Church in Arlington Heights, IL.    
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Assembly Rules and Procedures for the Pacifica Synod 
of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America 

Most rules are mandated by the constitutions of the ELCA and Pacifica Synod.  Quotations from 
the Pacifica Synod Constitution are noted at the end with provision of constitution in parentheses 

following the quote.   
 
LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY 
“This Synod shall have a Synod Assembly, which shall be its highest legislative authority.” (S7.01) 
 
MEETINGS 
“Regular meetings of the Synod Assembly may be held annually, as scheduled by the Synod 
Council, generally in the months of April, May, or June.” (S7.11.01) 
 
QUORUM 
“One-half of members of the Synod Assembly shall constitute a quorum.” (S7.14)   
This means one-half of those checked in on-site constitute a quorum. 
 
AGENDA 
The Chair shall have the authority, within the adopted agenda, to call items before the Assembly 
in such an order as to ensure the orderly flow of business.   
 
Any resolution presented after the 90-day deadline is to be submitted to the Secretary who will 
immediately refer it to the Synod Council.  
 
All resolutions not voted on at the Assembly will be placed on the next Synod Council meeting 
agenda for action. 
 
A two-thirds vote of the Assembly shall be required to add new business to the Agenda. 
 
VOTING MEMBERS 
“The membership of the Synod Assembly, of which at least 60% of the voting membership shall 
be composed of laypersons, shall be constituted as follows: 
 
a. All ministers of Word and Sacrament under call on the roster of this synod in attendance 

at this Synod Assembly shall be voting members. 
b. All ministers of Word and Service, under call, on the roster of this synod shall be voting 

members in the Synod Assembly.  
c. A minimum of one lay member elected by each congregation with fewer than 175 baptized 

members and a minimum of two lay  members elected by each congregation with 175 or 
more baptized members related to this synod, typically one of whom shall be a man and one 
of whom shall be a woman, shall be voting members. The Synod Council shall establish a 
formula to provide additional lay representation from congregations on the basis of the 
number of baptized members in the congregation. The Synod Council shall seek to ensure 
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that, at least 45 percent of the lay members of the assembly shall be women and at least 45 
percent shall be men. (S7.21.a; S7.21.b; S7.21.c) 

 
d.  In addition to the lay voting members elected by each congregation as stipulated in 

*S7.21.c, each congregation may provide additional lay representation to a synod 
assembly by adding one lay voting member who is a Youth or Young Adult … less than 30 
years of age.  Synod Authorized Worshipping Communities (SAWC) of the Pacifica Synod 
shall be permitted to have one lay representative (S7.26).  
Licensed lay ministers in recognized ethnic ministries of the synod are granted voice and 
vote at the assembly, plus one additional layperson from the community may be elected 
as a voting member. The Synod Council will review a list of the eligible ministries/persons 
annually. (SC99.04.05)  

 
d. “Voting membership shall include the officers of this synod.” (S7.21.d) 
 
e. Ten percent (10%) of all retired ministers of Word and Sacrament and Word and Service 

on the roster of this synod shall have the right to serve as voting members of the Synod 
Assembly. The selection of these retired rostered ministers to serve as voting members 
shall be done in a process established by the Synod Council. (S7.22.b,c)  

 
f. Retired ministers of Word and Sacrament on the roster of the Pacifica Synod serving 

congregations in an interim position under a contract with the congregation and with the 
approval of the synod, notwithstanding the provisions above (S7.22b), shall be voting 
members of the Synod Assembly, consistent with †S7.21.c. (S7.22.A12) 

 
g.  “This synod may establish processes through the Synod Council to grant a minister of 

Word and Sacrament from a church body with which a relationship of full communion 
has been declared and established by the Churchwide Assembly of the Evangelical 
Lutheran Church in America the privilege of both voice and vote in the Synod Assembly 
during the period of that minister’s service in a congregation of this church.” (S7.27) 
Ministers of Word and Sacrament from full-communion partners who serve in a 
congregation of this synod shall be granted voice and vote at synod assembly. 

 
h. Retired pastors from a church body with which a relationship of full communion has been 

declared and established by the Churchwide Assembly of the Evangelical Lutheran 
Church in America, who are serving congregations in an interim position under a contract 
with the congregation and with the approval of the synod, notwithstanding the 
provisions in S7.22b, shall be voting members of the Synod Assembly, consistent with 
*S7.21.c. (S7.27.A12) 

 
i. “Duly elected voting members of the Synod Council who are not otherwise voting 

members of the Synod Assembly under S7.21. shall be granted the privilege of both voice 
and vote as members of the Synod Assembly.” (S7.28) 
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j. Rostered leaders with On Leave from Call or those granted disability status, in good 
standing with this synod, may serve as voting members of the assembly. (S7.22) 

 
VOICE ONLY 
“The Pacifica Synod of the ELCA grants seat and voice to the President of the Pacifica Synodical 
Women’s Organization at Synod assemblies.” (S7.21.A94)  
 
“The presiding bishop of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America and such other official 
representatives of the churchwide organization as may be designated by the presiding bishop, 
shall have voice but not vote in the meetings of the Synod Assembly. Like privileges shall be 
accorded to those additional persons whom the Synod Assembly or the Synod Council shall from 
time to time designate.” (S7.23)  
 
VOTING 
Proxy and absentee voting shall not be permitted in the transaction of any business of this synod. 
(S7.31)  
 
NOMINATIONS 
Nominations for all positions, whether offered by the Nominating Committee, or from the floor, 
shall be valid only if prior to the nominations being closed, the Nominee has, either directly or 
indirectly, indicated his/her willingness to serve if elected. 
 
All nominations from the floor must be accompanied by a written nomination containing the 
signatures of no less than 10 persons qualified to vote for the Nominee indicating their support for 
the nomination and needs to be in compliance with gender, clergy/lay representation 
requirements. 
 
Floor nominations for all offices must be submitted to Secretary no later than 8:30 a.m. on Friday, 
May 20. Those desiring to make nominations are asked to get a Nominations Form from the Synod 
Secretary, Kathy Hartl, and, after completing it, return it to the Synod Secretary. 
 
 
VOICE 
No member may speak from the floor more than two minutes or more than twice on one issue 
without consent of the Assembly. 
 
DISCUSSION 
Each item of business is allowed a 30 minute discussion time, with two 10 minute extensions if 
approved by the assembly. (Approved May 18, 2018) 
 
 
ROBERT’S RULES OF ORDER 
Robert’s Rules of Order, latest edition, shall govern parliamentary procedure of the Synod 
Assembly. (S7.32) 
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APPROPRIATION OF FUNDS 
Any proposal to appropriate funds, whether by amendment to the budget or otherwise, which is 
presented to a meeting of the Synod Assembly without the prior approval of the Synod Council, 
shall be immediately referred to the Synod Council for an opinion and report prior to any debate 
or action by the Synod Assembly. (S10.04) 
 
DISPLAYS AND EXHIBITS 
Authorization for setting up displays and exhibits and for placing posters, announcements, etc., at 
Assemblies of the Pacifica Synod shall be limited to those agencies or groups who are approved by 
the Executive Committee. The selling of goods or services is not allowed unless approved in 
advance by the Executive Committee. 
 
 

DISPLAYS BY AFFILIATED AND NON-AFFILIATED ORGANIZATIONS 
The Pacifica Synod Council has approved the following list of organizations as ones that may display at the 

2022 Synod Assembly. 
Permission to display by non-affiliated organizations is granted by the Executive Committee of the Synod 
Council and does not constitute any type of endorsement of these groups. Under no circumstances may 
non-affiliated organizations be involved in direct solicitation of funds at the assembly. Permission to 
display is granted on a year-by-year basis. 

 
DISTRIBUTION OF MATERIALS 
All materials for distribution to voting members at the Synod Assembly shall be in the synod office 
no later than five working days prior to the opening of the assembly. After the assembly is in 
session, permission to distribute materials must be secured from the on-site synod office. 

  

African Team Ministries Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service 
Agape San Diego, SDSU Lutheran Retreats, Camps & Conferences 
Bethlehem Handcrafts Lutheran Social Services of Southern California 
California Lutheran University—Pacific 
Lutheran Theological Seminary Mission Investment Fund ELCA 
Coaching Ministry Nancy Bond Insurance Services 
ELCA Fund for Leaders-Federal Chaplaincy 
Scholarships Pacifica Women of the ELCA 
ELCA Foundation Portico Benefit Services 
Lutheran Border Concerns Ministry  
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CHANGES TO SYNOD ROSTERS SINCE 2021 ASSEMBLY 
 
WORD AND SACRAMENT ROSTER 
 
 

RECEIVED BY ORDINATION AND CALL:     TO: 
Julie Patten   05.22.2021  Christ, San Clemente 
Christina De La Cruz  09.04.2021  House of Prayer, Escondido 
Amanda McGlynn  11.21.2021  King of Kings, Oceanside 
Cole McGlynn   11.21.2021  Our Savior’s, San Clemente 
Jennifer Garcia  12.18.2021  First, Fullerton 
Brianna Lloyd   02.20.2022  Lutheran Church of Honolulu 
Stephen Anderson  03.12.2022  Our Savior-Spirit of Hope, San Bernardino 
 
 
PASTORS RECEIVED FROM OTHER SYNODS BY CALL:     TO: 
Benjamin Sheets  02.01.2021  Lana’i Union Church, UCC 
Douglas Moffat  03.01.2021  Interim, Hope, Temecula (Reinstated) 
Kathryn Grindberg  03.17.2021  Dir. Of Contextual Education, PLTS 
Sharon Bockelman  07.15.2021  St. John the Divine, Guam, (Reinstated) 
Robert Bork   03.01.2022  Kapa’a United Church, UCC 
Ruth Peterson   04.11.2022  Kuakini Medical Ctr, Pacific Health Ministry  
 
 
NEW CALLS WITHIN SYNOD:        TO: 
Karin Boye   05.01.2021  Interim, Calvary, Solana Beach 
Sandra Bentz   06.15.2021  Interim, Emanuel, La Habra 
Carole Parmeter Dyer  11.01.2021  Pastor, Mt. Calvary Cypress 
Misael Fajardo-Perez  01.30.2022  Interim, Our Redeemer, Garden Grove 
 
 
CURRENTLY ON LEAVE FROM CALL OR DISABILITY 
Samuel Kumissa  08.14.2017 
Karla Wildberger  03.01.2021 
Catherine Luehr  06.01.2021 
Timothy Eichler  09.04.2021 
 

Continuing Disability: 
Roger Patterson  07.17.2012 
Mark Cansino   11.02.2016 
David Jorstad   12.12.2021 
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PASTORS WHO RETIRED: 
Victoria Rufsvold  05.03.2021  Brian Taylor  01.01.2022 
Phyllis Hormann  10.01.2021  Mark Winick  01.01.2022 
Richard Ajer   11.01.2021  Yukio Hamada  01.01.2022  
Douglas Moffat  12.01.2021  Brian Oltman  03.15.2022 
Steven Bieghler  01.01.2022 
 
PASTORS TRANSFERRED TO ANOTHER SYNOD:     TO: 
Kathryn Schlechter  04.29.2021  Rocky Mountain Synod 
Timothy Mason  09.07.2021  Southwest Minnesota Synod 
Dianne Eller   09.29.2021  Oregon Synod 
Dianne Wendt   10.01.2021  Sierra Pacific Synod 
Pongtep Chutimapongrat 11.28.2021  Metro Chicago Synod 
Martin Jacobson  01.01.2022  Northeast Ohio Synod 
Joe Johnson (Retired)  03.03.2022  Oregon Synod 
 
DECEASED, RESIGNED OR REMOVED FROM THE ROSTER 
Theodore Johns  09.19.2021  Deceased 
Yutaka Kishino   01.28.2022  Deceased 
John Spann   02.07.2022  Deceased 
 
APPROVED FOR CALL  
Jasmine Waring  04.07.2022  Awaiting Graduation 
 
 
WORD AND SERVICE ROSTER 
 

NEW CALLS WITHIN SYNOD:     TO: 
Margy Schmitt-Ajer  09.15.2021  Deacon, San Marcos Lutheran Church 
 
CURRENTLY ON LEAVE FROM CALL OR DISABILITY: 
Melissa James   01.01.2020 
 
DEACONS WHO RETIRED: 
Lynne Prechel   01.01.2022 
 
 
FULL COMMUNION PARTNERS 
 
INVITATIONS TO SERVE: 
Jasmine Bostock 01.01.2021 Pastor, Maluhia Lutheran Church, Waianae 
Gloria Imamura 02.01.2022 Pastor, Prince of Peace, Honolulu 
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ANNIVERSARIES OF ROSTERED LEADERS-2022
 

 
 
 
 
 

WORD AND SACRAMENT 
MORE THAN FIFTY YEARS 
Kenneth J. Dale 1951 
Donovan A. Myers 1952 
Gilbert C. Moore 1953 
M. Laurel Gray  1956 
Edward J. Volkmann 1956 
Raymond Mehl 1957 
John Knudson  1958 
Paul Larson  1958 
Robert R. Freistedt 1960 
Bruce P. Craft  1961 
Richard L. Elliott 1962 
Eugene R. Holtz 1962 
David D. Reynolds 1962 
Kenneth Caudill 1963 
Donald Johnson 1963 
Ying-Chhi Kuo  1963 
Albert Stott  1963 
David Wenger  1963 
James Bullock  1963 
David Chen  1964 
William A. Norman 1965 
Charles W. Sundry 1965 
David Kupka  1966 
Cliff A. Listug  1966 
William Bengtson 1967 
William Harman 1967 
Kenneth Licht  1967 
Ronald Shonk  1967 
A Jori Watland  1968 
Gary Miller  1968 
John Lundblad  1969 
George Falk  1970 
David Miller  1970 
David Barber  1971 
William Radatz 1971 
Lee Rozen  1971 
 

50 YEARS-1972 
Dale Burke 
Jerry Crawford 
H Ivor Kraft 
John Moody 
Richard Rierson 
 
45 YEARS-1977 
Milo Ken Anderson 
Mark Anderson 
W Daniel Erlenbusch 
James Friedrich 
Elwood Hall 
Ken Puccio 
William Snyder 
Carl Witt 
 
40 YEARS-1982 
Margaret Duttera 
Lawrence Hand 
Carol Worthing 
 
35 YEARS-1987 
Steven Bieghler 
David Mattson 
Kenneth Severa 
 
30 YEARS-1992 
Diane Martinson 
Marda-Ruth Roberts 
 
25 YEARS-1997 
Charles Aden 
Solomon Hailu 
Darin Johnson 
Linda Olson 
Glenn Orris 
Laura Ziehl 
 
 

20 YEARS-2002 
Linda Vogelgesang 
 
15 YEARS-2007 
Karla Halvorson 
Marcus Lohrmann 
Sarah Sumner-Eisenbraun 
 
10 YEARS-2012 
Richard Fry 
Kinndlee Lund 
 
 

+++ 
WORD AND SERVICE 

MORE THAN 50 YEARS 
Betty Darrow  1966 
Melvin M. Kieschnick 1950 
Randall Sensmeier 1971 
 
35 YEARS-1987 
Mary Stohlman 
 
20 YEARS-2002 
Shirley Lee 
 
15 YEARS-2007 
Lynne Prechel 
 
5 YEARS-2017 
Mindy Bugaj 
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ANNIVERSARIES OF CONGREGATIONS-2022 

 
 
  

141 YEARS 
Lihue, Lihue 
 
134 YEARS 
Eden, Riverside 
First, San Diego 
 
128 YEARS 
Trinity, Riverside 
 
122 YEARS 
Lutheran Church of Honolulu, Honolulu 
 
121 YEARS 
First, Redlands 
 
116 YEARS 
Emanuel Danish, Yorba Linda 
 
108 YEARS 
Trinity, Hemet 
St. Peter, Santa Ana 
 
107 YEARS 
Our Savior’s, San Diego 
 
104 YEARS 
Grace, Anaheim 
 
95 YEARS 
First, Ontario 
 
75 YEARS 
Christ, San Diego 
 
65 YEARS 
Ascension, San Diego 
Grace of Glen Avon, Riverside 
Our Redeemer, Garden Grove 
Resurrection, Coronado 
St. Andrew, Whittier 
 
 

60 YEARS 
Bethlehem, Encinitas 
Christ, Orange 
Good Shepherd, Claremont 
King of Glory, Fountain Valley 
Shepherd of the Desert, Barstow 
 
50 YEARS 
Tierrasanta, San Diego 
 
40 YEARS 
LC of the Holy Trinity, Kailua-Kona 
Taiwanese, San Diego 
 
35 YEARS 
Shepherd of Life, Lake Elsinore 
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CELEBRATING FIFTY YEARS OF 
WORD AND SACRAMENT MINISTRY – 2022 

 

The Rev. John H. Moody was ordained on April 15, 1972 at 
Zion Lutheran Church, North Pacific District (ALC) in Kent, 
Washington by the Reverend William Voris. His first call 
was as Community Services Developer for Richland 
Lutheran Church in Richland, Washington. From 1973 -
1986, he served as Executive Director and CPE Supervisor 
for Tri-Cities Chaplaincy in Kennewick, Washington. He has 
served mostly with Pacific Health Ministry in various 
capacities from 1987 until now. From 1987 – 2009, he 
served as President and CPE Director for Pacific Health 
Ministry in Honolulu, Hawaii. Rev. Moody served as CPE 
Supervisor and Program Developer at Alice Ho Miu Ling 
Nethrsole Hospital in Hong Kong SAR from 1994 – 2004, 
and at Providence Alaska Medical Center in Anchorage, 
from 2005 – 2007 (Visiting Faculty while at PHM). From 
2007 – 2017, Rev. Moody served as Regional Director for 
the Pacific Region of the Association for Clinical Pastoral 

Education (ACPE). After 2017, he returned to Pacific Health Ministry as President Emeritus and 
CPE Supervisor in Honolulu, Hawaii where he continues to serve. Rev. John Moody has served 
on many boards including International Congress on Pastoral Care and Counseling, Asia Pacific 
Congress on Pastoral Care and Counseling, Association for Clinical Pastoral Education and the 
Pohai Nani Good Samaritan Foundation’s Lutheran Retirement Community. He has received the 
Anton Boison & Helen Flanders Dunbar Award from ACPE for Specialized Service in Pastoral 
Care Education as well as the International Pastoral Care Award for Pastoral Education Program 
Development in the Asian Pacific. He was also awarded the Indonesian Pastoral Care 
Association Award for Special Service for assistance following the Tsunami Disaster. Creating 
pastoral care programs and educational services in international, remote and rural areas has 
been the focus of Rev. Moody’s entire ministry. He was the founder of two community wide 
pastoral care and education agencies in Washington and Hawai’i. He also assisted with the 
development of pastoral care and education programs in Hong Kong, Indonesia, Japan, Alaska, 
Utah and Montana. Rev. John Moody hopes to be spoken of as a “good and faithful servant of 
God.” 
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The Rev. Richard L. Rierson was ordained on June 
4,1972 at Zion Lutheran Church in Ruthven, Iowa 
(Western Iowa Synod, ELCA) by the Reverend Arne 
Christanson. He describes it as a most wonderful day in 
his life! Rev. Rierson’s first call was as Pastor of 
Bowdon-Hurdsfield Lutheran Parish in Bowdon, North 
Dakota. He served as Pastor of Chenoa Lutheran 
Church in Chenoa, Illinois and then at Zion Lutheran in 
Elgin. From 1996 – 2002 he served as Pastor at Bethel 
Lutheran Church in Greatenger, Iowa. In 2002, Rev. 
Rierson was called as Pastor of Lemon Grove Lutheran 
Church in the Pacifica Synod. After his retirement in 
2008, he served as Interim Pastor at College Lutheran 

Church from 2009 – 2010.  
Rev. Rierson has held a variety of leadership positions throughout his career. He was the 
Pastor’s Conference Chairman for 3 years, ELCA Assembly Representative, a Conference 
Benevolence Chairman for 2 years and the Synod Ham Radio Emergency Contact. He was a 
chaplain for the Boy Scouts of America Jamboree, a fire department chaplain and a police 
department chaplain. He created and established the Bowdon Rural Ambulance Association 
and was a fire department rescue and SCUBA trainer. He was a church conference education 
leader and a conference youth leader. Rev. Rierson emphasized preaching and teaching the 
Word of God, administering the sacraments, visiting and sharing in the life of the congregation 
and ministering to those who were not part of the congregation. Rev. Richard Rierson believes 
that service and ministry are not just words but a way of life and would like to be known as a 
pastor who considered the entire community which he served as part of his congregation, 
spending the vast majority of his time visiting and being with his people. 
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The Rev. Jerry A. Crawford was ordained on June 18, 
1972 at his home congregation, Mt. Calvary Lutheran 
Church in La Puente, California (ALC church body) by the 
Reverend Lauren Egdahl. He was first called as Pastor at 
Kathryn Lutheran Parish in Kathryn, North Dakota. In 1975 
he came back to Southern California to serve as Associate 
Pastor at St. Olaf Lutheran Church in Garden Grove until 
1985. He was then called as Pastor to All Saints Lutheran 
Church in Novato, California. From 1992 - 2009 he served 
as Pastor at Faith Lutheran Church in Anaheim. After 
retirement in 2010, he continued his service in the ELCA. 
In 2014 he served as Interim Pastor at Good Shepherd in 
Buena Park until 2017. Rev. Crawford is currently serving 
as Interim Pastor at Grace Lutheran Church in Anaheim, 
California. Rev. Crawford has served as Board President at 
West Anaheim Community Hospital and as the Dean of 
the Rejoice Conference of the Pacifica Synod. During his 

years of ministry, he found his niche following two long term founding pastors of 
congregations. He has also enjoyed establishing strong youth ministry programs. Rev. Crawford 
is described as deeply compassionate and strongly committed to the mission of the church and 
development of the spiritual gifts within each individual. 
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The Rev. Dale S. Burke was ordained on 
August 13, 1972 at Angelica Lutheran Church, 
Pacific Southwest Synod (LCA) in Los Angeles, 
California by the Reverend Dr. Carl W. 
Segerhammar. His ordination service was 
together with the Rev. P. Kempton 
Segerhammar.   
Rev. Burke’s first call was as Pastor at 
Gethsemane Lutheran Church in San Diego. 
He served Gethsemane until 1979. In 1979 he 
moved to Hawaii and served as Mission 
Developer/Pastor for Christ Lutheran Church 
in Mililani, Hawaii. From 1994 – 2017 he 
served as Faculty/Chaplain at Hawaii Pacific 
University in Honolulu, Hawaii. Rev. Dale has 

been active in the community, the university, and the church. He served on the Board of 
Directors for Wahaiwa General Hospital (1993 – 2000) and at ARC of Hawaii (1982 – 1990). He 
has been a special Olympics parent/coach since 1988 and even served as a swim coach for 
Team USA, Special Olympics, World Games in Dublin, Ireland (2003). Rev. Dale has served as 
Chair of the Department of Communication for Hawaii Pacific University (2005 – 2009) and as 
the Chair of HPU Faculty Assembly (208 – 2009). He was recognized as Teacher of the Year, HPU 
(2001 – 2002) and after he retired in 2017 he was honored as Professor Emeritus, Hawaii Pacific 
University. Sunday School and Family Ministry have been the main emphases of his ministry. He 
has always loved his Lord and loved his people! 
 
 
 
The Rev. H. Ivor Kraft was ordained on June 11, 1972 (LCA). He served as Pastor at All Saints 
Lutheran Church in San Diego, California until his retirement in 2004. 
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CELEBRATING TWENTY-FIVE YEARS OF 
WORD AND SACRAMENT MINISTRY – 2022 

 
The Rev. Charles A. Aden was ordained on June 29, 
1997 at Penasquitos Lutheran Church, San Diego 
California, which was an ELCA congregation of the 
Pacifica Synod at that time. He was ordained by the 
Rev. Robert L. Miller, Bishop of the Pacifica Synod. 
Rev. Aden is a second career pastor having been a 
practicing dentist from 1975 until 1992 when he 
began following his call to ministry. His first call was 
as Pastor to Shepherd of Life Lutheran Church in 
Lake Elsinore where he served from June 1997 – 
December 2011. From December 2011 until 

September 2014 he served as Spiritual Care Coordinator at Heartland Hospice in Riverside. Rev. 
Aden retired in 2014 but continued supply preaching until 2018. Rev. Charles has served on 
Pacifica Synod Council for several terms. He was also the Dean of Raincross Conference. He was 
the leader of the advisory board to Community Connections, a community assistance 
organization in Lake Elsinore. The Rev. Charles Aden has shared the love of Christ to the best of 
his ability through preaching, teaching and by example to all that crossed his path. His wife of 
51 years, Nancy Rudd Aden, has always been a great asset in his ministry and in his life. 
 
 

 
The Rev. Lynda L. Elmer (pictured with Rev. Paul Spohn, 
ordination sponsor) was ordained on August 3, 1997 at 
Ziegel’s Lutheran Church in Fogelsville, Pennsylvania by 
the Rev. David Strobel, Bishop of the Northeastern 
Pennsylvania Synod. Her first call was as the Pastor’s 
Assistant and Children’s Director at Holy Spirit Lutheran 
Church in Reading. She also shared responsibilities of 
visitation and congregational development with the Sr. 
Pastor of the congregation. Rev. Lynda served in several 
more congregations in Pennsylvania including 
Belleman’s Lutheran Church in Mohrsville, Epiphany 
Lutheran Church in Temple and many rural Lutheran 
Churches in Eastern Pennsylvania. Her honors came 
from the Lutheran Seminary in Philadelphia where her 
study and work in Biblical Translaton and teaching the 
same to beginning students. In California, Rev. Lynda led 

Bible study at Redeemer Lutheran Church in Seal Beach. She retired in 2010. Rev. Lynda Elmer’s 
ministry has focused on visitation, preaching and leading Bible study within the congregations 
she has served. She lives in the love of the Lord and looks for ways she can extend that love to 
wherever the Lord leads her. 
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The Rev. Laura Ziehl was ordained on August 30, 
1997 at Prince of Peace Lutheran Church in Everett, 
WA (Northwest Washington Synod). She was 
ordained by Bishop Don Maier. She served as 
Interim Campus Pastor at UC Boulder in Colorado. 
Her first call was as Associate Pastor at Bethlehem 
Lutheran Church in Marysville, Washington where 
she served until 2002. She then served as Associate 
Pastor at Cross and Crown Lutheran Church in 
Rohnert Park, California. In 2008 Rev. Laura Ziehl 
was called to serve as Lead Pastor at Bethlehem 
Lutheran Church in Encinitas where she continues 
to serve. She has been very active in the Pacifica 
Synod serving on Synod Council and Executive 
Committee (2009 – 2018), Synod Worship Planning 
Team (2009 – 2013), Co-Chair of Bishop’s Election 
Committee (2016), Synod Assembly Planning Team 
(2015 and 2021), Churchwide Assembly Voting 
Member (2019), Churchwide Assembly Memorials 
Committee member (2019), Theoasis Planning 

Team (2021) and Resolutions Chair (2009 – present). She served in Sierra Pacific Synod as 
Churchwide Voting Member (2005) and Resolutions Committee Member and Chair (2003 – 
2008). In Northwest Washington Synod she served at Trinity College (LBI) in Issaquah and as a 
member of the Board of Directors and an Executive committee member (2002 – 2008). Pastor 
Laura is currently serving as Harvest Conference Dean, Pacifica Synod Resolutions Chair and 
First Call Mentor Pastor. 
Bethlehem Encinitas became an RIC congregation under Pastor Laura’s leadership. The 
welcome and inclusion of all, as well as interfaith work, particularly with Muslim and Jewish 
communities is significant to her ministry. Extensive ministry with children has always been a 
focus of the congregations she has served. Pastor Laura treasures the proclamation of the 
gospel in every time and place and values her work in the synod and the wider church. Pastor 
Laura has served in short term mission work in Hong Kong, in campus ministry, and in parish 
ministry for 25 years. She has a deep love for children, for synod constitutions and for the 
proclamation of the gospel in every time and place. She has a heart for interfaith work and has 
served the synod in many capacities. 
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The Rev. Darin N. Johnson was ordained on November 
22, 1997 at Bethel Lutheran Church in Windsor, 
Colorado. (Rocky Mountain Synod, ELCA). He was 
ordained by Dean Richard Kling, on behalf of Bishop 
Allan Bjornberg. He was ordained over a year after he 
began serving as Interim Associate Pastor at Trinity 
Lutheran Church in Fort Collins, Colorado. Rev. Darin 
was a structural engineer before he heeded the call to 
ministry. His first call was as Associate Pastor, Acting 
Senior Pastor at Bethel Lutheran Church in Windsor, 
Colorado where he served until 2000. From 2000 – 
2004 he served as Associate Pastor at Christ the King 
Lutheran Church in Durango, Colorado. In 2005 he was 
called as Campus Pastor at University Lutheran Center 
in Fargo, North Dakota until 2009. He was called to his 
current position as Campus Pastor at Agape San Diego 

Campus Ministry in 2009. Rev. Darin has served both the Eastern North Dakota and Pacifica 
Synods as a council member. He received the James R. Carr Distinguished Service Award for 
founding Lutheran Campus Ministry Network (LuMin). He served on the inaugural Board of 
Directors for LuMin. He has served as Region 2 Campus Ministry Facilitator and as a 
teacher/panelist in Religious and Contemplative Studies, Philosophy, Sociology and Law. Rev. 
Darin currently is co-chair for Pacifica Synod’s Anti-Racism Team. His ministry has emphasized 
faith-rooted community organizing to overcome systemic oppression, fascism and student 
poverty. He has focused on spiritual and vocational formation of young adults and seminarians. 
He takes an ecumenical and interfaith approach to ministry and community. Other emphases in 
ministry include interspiritual direction, integrating action and contemplation, faith and reason, 
contemplative practice and liberation theology. Rev Darin Johnson would like to be described 
as a working-class, tender-hearted, hard-headed enthusiast for grace, inclusion, freedom and 
equity; a mystical sailor, life partner of Angie, father of Clare, and ‘dogfather’ of Torrey the 
greyhound. 
 
 
 
 

The Rev Linda Salmonson Olson was ordained on August 9, 
1997 at Resurrection Lutheran Church in the Sierra Pacific 
Synod by Rev. Robert Matthies, Bishop. Her first call was as 
Pastor of Our Saviors Lutheran Church in Ferndale, 
California. From 2002 through 2010 she served as Chaplain 
at Vitas Healthcare Hospice. She took a hiatus until 2018 
when she was called as Pastor of Shepherd of Life Lutheran 
Church in Lake Elsinore California. In 2020 she retired from 
Shepherd of Life and returned to the retirement roster.  
Rev. Linda served on the Ethics Committee of John Muir 

Hospital. The emphases in her ministry has been on family care. 
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The Rev. Glenn W. Orris was ordained on June 14, 1997. He has been serving as a Military 
Chaplain with the United States Navy since 2005. In 2019 he transferred from the Metro 
Chicago Synod to the Pacifica Synod and is a member at First Lutheran Church, San Diego. 
 
The Rev. Solomon Hailu was ordained on October 20, 1997 through the Ethiopian Evangelical 
Church Mekane Yesus. His first call in Pacifica was as Pastor at Calvary Lutheran Church in San 
Diego where he served until 2004. After that, he received a call as Chaplain for Sharp Hospice 
Care in La Mesa, California where he is currently still serving. 
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NECROLOGY 
 
 

 
THE REV. THEODORE JOHNS 

JANUARY 27, 1939 – SEPTEMBER 19, 2021 
 
 

THE REV. YUTAKA KISHINO 
JANUARY 3, 1952 – JANUARY 28, 2022 

 
 

THE REV. JOHN SPANN 
MAY 31, 1921 – FEBRUARY 7, 2022 
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If you have any questions about items contained in the financial section, please 

contact Terri Robertson, Synod Bookkeeper, at 714.692.2791, Ext. 732                      
or by email at terrirobertson@pacificasynod.org. 
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FINANCIAL GIFTS TREND OF THE PACIFICA SYNOD 2015-2022

Total

Mission Support

Designated

ELCA World Hunger
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Cong Mission Support 
$1,277,120

Cong Designated Other Ministries 
$57,501

Cong Designated 
Pacifica Ministries 

$280,283

Cong Designated
ELCA Ministries

$123,659

Non-Congregation Income
$4,275,671

FINANCIAL GIFTS TO THE PACIFICA SYNOD
February 1, 2021 to January 31, 2022

$6,014,234

P
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Mission Support to ELCA
$651,331 

Congregation Designated Gifts 
$461,443 

Designated Gifts - Disbanded 
Cong $405,582 

Synod Administered Ministry 
Expenses $18,750 

Grants to Institutions & 
Agencies $104,622

Synod Ministries & 
Administration $843,358 

FINANCIAL GIFT DISBURSEMENTS OF THE PACIFICA SYNOD
February 1, 2021 to January 31, 2022

$2,485,086

P
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 Pacifica Synod

 Comparative Statement of Financial Position 
 As of January 31, 2022

Jan 31, 22 Jan 31, 21 $ Change % Change

ASSETS

Current Assets

Checking/Savings

1100000 · Checking & Savings Accounts 4,409,092.67 188,292.88 4,220,799.79 2,241.61%

1108000 · Designated Funds 6,306,003.49 4,966,591.72 1,339,411.77 26.97%

1110000 · Temporarily Restricted Accounts 881,173.51 867,016.55 14,156.96 1.63%

1112000 · Permanently Restricted 613,723.64 575,647.37 38,076.27 6.62%

Total Checking/Savings 12,209,993.31 6,597,548.52 5,612,444.79 85.07%

Other Current Assets

1140000 · Inter-Fund Loans Receivable -21,893.00 33,808.00 -55,701.00 -164.76%

1145500 · Other Accounts Receivable 31,669.03 1,387,500.00 -1,355,830.97 -97.72%

1147155 · Synod Property Receivable 5,000.00 1,704,480.17 -1,699,480.17 -99.71%

1149575 · Loan Receivable 3,000.00 0.00 3,000.00 100.0%

1155000 · Prepaid Expense 1,900.00 3,000.00 -1,100.00 -36.67%

Total Other Current Assets 19,676.03 3,128,788.17 -3,109,112.14 -99.37%

Total Current Assets 12,229,669.34 9,726,336.69 2,503,332.65 25.74%

Fixed Assets

1170000 · Fixed Assets 2,489,854.66 2,541,245.33 -51,390.67 -2.02%

Total Fixed Assets 2,489,854.66 2,541,245.33 -51,390.67 -2.02%

TOTAL ASSETS 14,719,524.00 12,267,582.02 2,451,941.98 19.99%

LIABILITIES & EQUITY

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Other Current Liabilities

1305000 · Accounts Payable - Current 569,851.02 465,857.32 103,993.70 22.32%

1306000 · Inter-Fund Loans Payable -21,893.00 33,808.00 -55,701.00 -164.76%

1340000 · Designated Funds 6,566,225.91 6,570,464.84 -4,238.93 -0.07%

1345000 · Temporarily Restricted Funds 963,287.90 891,584.70 71,703.20 8.04%

Total Other Current Liabilities 8,077,471.83 7,961,714.86 115,756.97 1.45%

Total Current Liabilities 8,077,471.83 7,961,714.86 115,756.97 1.45%

Long Term Liabilities

1350000 · Permanently Restricted Funds 255,572.83 255,572.83 0.00 0.0%

Total Long Term Liabilities 255,572.83 255,572.83 0.00 0.0%

Total Liabilities 8,333,044.66 8,217,287.69 115,756.97 1.41%

Equity

1450000 · Operating Fund-Beg. Balance 367,287.67 25,113.89 342,173.78 1,362.49%

1460000 · Property Fund 2,490,043.66 2,541,245.33 -51,201.67 -2.02%

Net Income 3,529,148.01 1,483,935.11 2,045,212.90 137.82%

Total Equity 6,386,479.34 4,050,294.33 2,336,185.01 57.68%

TOTAL LIABILITIES & EQUITY 14,719,524.00 12,267,582.02 2,451,941.98 19.99%
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Pacifica Synod Investment Report as of January 31, 2022

Institution Type of account Maturity Date

Interest 

Rate

 Market

Price

p/Share 

Account

Balance

01.31.22

Total by

Category

Checking 

1100000 · Checking Accounts

1103000 - Farmers & Merchants Checking Farmers & Merchants Bank Checking N/A N/A N/A 4,408,993

1107775 - Petty Cash - Bishop's Travel N/A Cash Fund N/A N/A N/A 100 4,409,093

Investments

1108000 · Designated Funds

Agage House Investments - Designated

1108229 - MIF Term #25518 - Agape House/CLC Legacy MIF (ELCA) Term Investment 1/22/25 3.21% N/A 1,690,200

MIF Term Accounts - CLC Legacy Pending Designation

1108234 - MIF Term Investment #33901 MIF (ELCA) Term Investment 7/29/23 0.65% N/A 196,025

1108235 - MIF Term Investment #33928 MIF (ELCA) Term Investment 7/29/22 2.82% N/A 200,514

1108208 - Thrivent -Mission Fund 2015 Thrivent Balanced Fund N/A N/A Various 503,319

1108212 · Thrivent - Mission Funds (LCC) Thrivent Div Income Plus N/A N/A 7.42$     877,803

1108220 - Thrivent Ltd Maturity GEM Thrivent Ltd Maturity Bond N/A N/A 12.48$   173,834

1108221 - Thrivent - Latino Min Thrivent Ltd Maturity Bond N/A N/A 12.48$   20,416

1108222 - Thrivent - Mission Fund (Atonement) Thrivent Balanced Fund N/A N/A 13.96$   1,491,072

Thrivent Div Income Plus N/A N/A 7.43$     500,236

1108203 - ELCA End-NMDEF #271135 ELCA Pooled Trust Balanced Fund N/A N/A 1,517$   173,129

1108207 · ELCA Endowment- Latino A ELCA Pooled Trust Balanced Fund N/A N/A 1,517$   270,058

2516 - MIF Demand #2516 MIF (ELCA) Demand Investment N/A 0.50% N/A 24,328

1108228 - MIF Demand #9999 - Pacifica/CLC Legacy MIF (ELCA) Demand Investment N/A 0.50% N/A 152,984

1108232 - MIF Demand #11896 - Calvary, Santa Ana MIF (ELCA) Demand Investment N/A 0.50% N/A 32,084

Total 1108000 · Designated Funds 6,306,003

1110000 · Temporarily Restricted Accounts

1106220 · MIF-Wright Estate-MP #7276 MIF (ELCA) Demand Investment N/A 0.50% N/A 69,189

1106600 · MIF-Temp Rest Term B CD 3435 MIF (ELCA) Fixed 6 Year Term 7/26/22 2.48% N/A 184,191

1108011 · MIF-Temp Rest Term A CD 3170 C Wright MIF (ELCA) Fixed 6 Year Term 7/22/22 2.48% N/A 427,698

1108213 - Thrivent Ltd Maturity C. Wright Thrivent Ltd Maturity Bond N/A N/A 12.48$   200,095

Total 1110000 · Temporarily Restricted Accounts 881,174

1112000 · Permanently Restricted

1108210 - ELCA Endowment - Matthew 25 Fund ELCA  Pooled Trust Balanced Fund N/A N/A 1,517$   370,073

1108215 - ELCA Endowment - Warner Trust ELCA  Pooled Trust Balanced Fund N/A N/A 1,517$   243,651

Total 1112000 · Permanently Restricted 613,724

Total Investments 7,800,901

12,209,994Total Checking and Investments

1108223 - Thrivent - Peace, San Diego
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Pacifica Synod General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan (FYE January 31, 2023) 
Assumptions 

 Income: 

1 Congregational Mission Support reduction of 3% of 2021-2022 actuals of $1,277,120 

2 Restricted/Designated Donor Contribution Income and Expense are equal, as this is an in and out item 

3 Non-Congregation Income includes: 

 a. ELCA support for Director of Evangelical Mission reflects a 1% increase to $116,842 (estimated) 

 b. Staffing support from Synodical Administration Designated Fund continues at $70,000 

 c. ATTB (one quarter-time position) support of $30,000 continues from Pacifica Synod CLC Legacy Designated Fund 

 d. Additional Designated Mission Funding of $14,500 continues to offset congregational redirection of Mission Support 

 e. Additional income from a portion of the tithe to the Synod from Atonement, San Diego sale proceeds 

 f. Expense offset from designated fund for Eckstrom Avenue, San Diego leased property for mission start 

 Expenses: 

4 Mission Support to the ELCA continues at 51% of Congregational Mission Support 

5 Grants to Institutions and Agencies continues at 8.2% 

6 Compensation includes a 4% overall increase, along with an additional 2% employer contribution to retirement for employees waiving health coverage 

7 Staff travel reinstated at two-thirds of original 2022-2023 budget of $50,000 

 

Pacifica Synod General Fund 2023-2024 Budget (FYE January 31, 2024) 
Assumptions 

 Income: 

1 Congregational Mission Support reduction of 3% of 2022-2023 Spend Plan of $1,239,273 

2 Restricted/Designated Donor Contribution Income and Expense are equal, as this is an in and out item 

3 Non-Congregation Income includes: 

 a. ELCA support for Director of Evangelical Mission remains at $116,842 (pending commitment from ELCA) 

 b. Staffing support from Synodical Administration Designated Fund continues at $70,000 

 c. ATTB (one quarter-time position) support of $30,000 continues from Pacifica Synod CLC Legacy Designated Fund 

 d. Additional Designated Mission Funding to offset congregational redirection of Mission Support ends 

 e. Additional income from a portion of the tithe to the Synod from Atonement, San Diego sale proceeds 

 Expenses: 

4 Mission Support to the ELCA continues at 51% of Congregational Mission Support 

5 Grants to Institutions and Agencies continues at 8.2% 

6 Compensation includes a 4% overall increase, along with an additional 2% employer contribution to retirement for employees waiving health coverage 

7  Staff travel remains at two-thirds of original 2022-2023 budget of $50,000 

 



Pacifica Synod General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan AND 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Summary

Income

1501000 - Congregation Contributions - Mission Support 1,369,716           1,277,120           1,369,716           1,239,273           1,202,095           

1502000 - Restricted/Designated Donor Contributions 418,798              461,443              420,000              400,000              400,000              

1510000 - Non-Congregation Income 2,131,967           4,275,671           300,946              355,418              392,842              

Total Income 3,920,481           6,014,234           2,090,662           1,994,691           1,994,937           

Expense

   Benevolence

1601000 - Mission Support to the ELCA 699,144              651,331              698,555              632,029              613,068              

1602000 · Restricted Designated Donor Exp 736,640              867,025              420,000              400,000              400,000              

1603000 - Mission Support Grants to Institutions & Agencies 114,725              104,622              112,317              101,621              98,573                

NEW - Other Synod Support Grants 1,800                  2,300                  2,800                  2,800                  

   Total Benevolence 1,550,509           1,624,778           1,233,172           1,136,450           1,114,441           

   Synod Office

1650000 - Compensation & Benefits 611,652              639,330              657,465              671,626              698,556              

1657000 · Continuing Education 2,941                  2,520                  4,300                  4,300                  4,300                  

1658000 · Professional Expense 179                     151                     850                     850                     850                     

1670000 · Travel 9,133                  17,136                50,000                33,000                33,000                

1700000 · Shipping & Postage 1,240                  1,077                  1,350                  1,200                  1,250                  

1720000 · Office Supplies 1,964                  1,349                  2,475                  1,650                  1,925                  

1730000 · Hospitality 97                       40                       800                     250                     400                     

1740000 · Contract Services 21,247                20,216                25,125                25,065                26,015                

1748000 · Professional Services 62,471                19,926                19,000                20,600                21,300                

1750000 · Insurance 9,866                  9,305                  9,900                  9,700                  10,200                

1770000 · Office Expenses 5,328                  2,722                  6,550                  6,500                  6,650                  

1800000 · Equipment Lease 8,134                  11,499                9,500                  6,500                  6,700                  

1830000 · Occupancy 18,631                27,190                17,575                19,475                19,750                

1840000 · Utilities & Telephone 16,653                16,810                17,900                17,325                17,850                

   Total Synod Office 769,534              769,272              822,790              818,041              848,746              

  Synodical Leadership, Events, Candidacy & Ministry Teams

NEW - Synodical Leadership 8,500                  6,750                  7,500                  

NEW - Events & Education 1,250                  1,250                  1,250                  

1930001 - Pacifica Synod Candicacy 1,867                  9,000                  5,000                  5,000                  

1910000 - Ministry Teams 14,961                7,772                  10,600                17,500                18,000                

   Total Synod Leadership, Candidacy & Ministry Teams 14,961                9,639                  29,350                30,500                31,750                

Total Expense 2,335,004           2,403,689           2,085,312           1,984,991           1,994,937           

Net Income Operating Fund 1,585,476           3,610,545           5,350                  9,700                  -                      

1850000 · Depreciation (53,685)               (53,061)              

Atonement, SD - Income/Expenses (40,157)               

Hope, San Diego - Expenses (7,699)                 (18,750)              

Eckstrom Ave, SD - Expenses -                      (9,586)                (5,350)                 (9,700)                 

Net Income General Fund 1,483,935           3,529,148           -                      -                      -                      

Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/24

Synod Council

Recommended

1/22/22

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Assembly

Approved

5/1/21 

 Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/21 

 Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/22 

Base

Spend Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Synod Council

Approved

1/22/22
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail

Income

1500000 · Congregation Contributions

1501000 · Mission Support Unrestricted             1,369,716 1,277,120            1,369,716             1,239,273         1,202,095            

1502000 · Restricted Desg/Donor                418,798 461,443               420,000                400,000            400,000               

Total 1500000 · Congregation Contributions 1,788,514            1,738,563            1,789,716             1,639,273         1,602,095            

1510000 · Non-Congregation Income

1501499 · Reimbursements to Synod                    2,537 5,198                   

1511000 · Undesignated Pacifica Synod Support                    3,657 10,484                 3,500                    3,500                3,500                   

1521000 · Interest Income 365                      

1523400 · ELCA/DMU Grant for Staff/DEM                113,417 116,352               115,685                116,842            116,842               

1525595 - Desig Fds Synodical Admin Staff Support                  70,000 70,000                 70,000                  70,000              70,000                 

1525610 - Temporary Restricted Funds DEM Support                    7,203 9,621                   10,000                  10,000              10,000                 

1530000 · Other Income 2,408                   

1525627 - Designated Fund ATTB  Support 17,500                 30,000                  30,000              30,000                 

1525632 - Proceeds - Disbanded Church Asset             1,699,686 3,982,868            

1525632 - Designated Mission Fund Support                  14,500 14,500                 14,500              -                       

1525633 - Grace Taiwanese - Synod Tithe                    6,967 

1530200 · Facility Renewal Reimb Income 1,800                   

1530300 - PPP Loan Forgiveness Income                214,000 

1525635 - Atonement Sale Partial Tithe Income 34,989                 71,761                  100,876            162,500               

NEW - Eckstrom Avenue Expense Reimbursement 9,586                   9,700                

Total 1510000 · Non-Congregation Income 2,131,967            4,275,671            300,946                355,418            392,842               

Total Income 3,920,481            6,014,234            2,090,662             1,994,691         1,994,937            

Expense

1600000 · Mission Support

1601000 Mission Support to the - ELCA                699,144                651,331 698,555                632,029            613,068               

1602000 Restricted Designated Donor Exp                418,798                461,443 420,000                400,000            400,000               

1602550 Designated Gifts from Disbanded Congregation 317,842                              405,582 

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Assembly

Approved

05/01/21 

 Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/21 

 Base

Spend Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Synod Council

Approved

1/22/22 

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/24

Synod Council

Recommended

1/22/22 

Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/22
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Assembly

Approved

05/01/21 

 Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/21 

 Base

Spend Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Synod Council

Approved

1/22/22 

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/24

Synod Council

Recommended

1/22/22 

Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/22

1603000 · Mission Support Grants to Institutions/Agencies

Ecumenical Relationships

1602210 · California Council of Churches 250                                            250 250                       250                   250                      

1602220 - Pacific Health Ministries (Hawaii) 250                                            250 250                       250                   250                      

     Total Ecumenical Relationships 500                      500                      500                       500                   500                      

Program Grants & Partnerships

1602180 · Lutheran Office Of Public Policy (2.5%)                    1,155 1,065                   1,155                    887                   811                      

1602240 · Lutheran Planned Giving Partnership                  10,000 10,000                 10,000                  10,000              10,000                 

1602260 - CCM Center for Chinese Ministry (1.70%)                       785 622                      785                       552                      

1602260 - LRCC (Temporary Allocation 22-23) (1.70%) 603                   -                       

1605000 · ELCA Region II Support                    6,500 2,500                   6,500                    6,500                6,500                   

  Total Grants & Partnerships 18,440                 14,187                 18,440                  17,991              17,863                 

Support Related Agencies

1602120 · Lutheran Social Services (8%) 3,695                   3,408                   3,695                    2,840                2,596                   

1602150 · Lutheran Retreats Camps, & Conferences (9%) 4,157                   3,834                   4,157                    3,194                2,920                   

1602170 · California Lutheran Homes 250                      250                      250                       250                   250                      

1602250 · Central City Lutheran Mission (14%) 6,467                   5,964                   6,467                    4,969                4,542                   

  Total Related Agencies 14,569                 13,455                 14,569                  11,253              10,308                 

Support Related Institutions

1602100 · Pacific Lutheran Theological Seminary (61.5%) 28,407                 26,198                 28,408                  21,829              19,954                 

1602115 - San Diego State Univ. Campus Ministry 51,284                 48,876                 48,876                  48,876              48,876                 

1602130 · California Lutheran University (3.3%) 1,524                   1,406                   1,524                    1,171                1,071                   

  Total Related Institutions 81,216                 76,479                 78,808                  71,876              69,901                 

Total 1603000 · Mission Support Grants to Institutions/Agencies 114,725               104,622               112,317                101,620            98,572                 

New - Other Synod Support Grants

1911310 - ELCA Christian Education Network 300                      300                      300                       300                   300                      

1911358 - Jubilee USA Network 500                      500                   500                      

1912650 - ELCA Chaplaincy Scholarship 1,000                   1,000                   1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

1913250 - Education Workshop Sponsorship 1,000                   -                      1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

Total NEW - Other Synod Support Grants 2,300                   1,800                   2,300                    2,800                2,800                   

TOTAL BENEVOLENCE 1,234,968            1,624,778            1,233,172             1,136,450         1,114,440            
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Assembly

Approved

05/01/21 

 Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/21 

 Base

Spend Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Synod Council

Approved

1/22/22 

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/24

Synod Council

Recommended

1/22/22 

Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/22

1650000 · Compensation & Benefits

1652000 · Salaries 491,128               499,958               505,500                515,412            536,028               

1652066 - ATTB Leadership Development (Purchase of Svcs) 14,583                 25,000                  26,000              27,040                 

1655000 · Employer's FICA Contribution 12,675                 12,785                 13,110                  13,316              13,849                 

1655001 · Workers Compensation 4,776                   4,249                   6,825                    6,500                6,825                   

1656000 · Employer's Pen/Medical Contrib. 103,072               107,754               107,030                110,398            114,814               

Total 1650000 · Compensation & Benefits 611,652               639,330               657,465                671,626            698,556               

1657000 · Continuing Education

1657100 · Bishop 1,000                   -                      1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

1657555 - ATTB - (Allen) 1,585                   1,000                   1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

NEW - ATTB (Qtr Time) 500                      500                       500                   500                      

1657561 · Director of Evangelical Mission 356                      1,000                   1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

1657000 · Continuing Education - Support Staff 20                        800                       800                   800                      

Total 1657000 · Continuing Education 2,941                   2,520                   4,300                    4,300                4,300                   

1658000 · Professional Expense

1658001 · Books / Media for Ministry -                      150                       150                   150                      

1658004 · Professional Expense Bishop -                      200                       200                   200                      

NEW - ATTB (Qtr Time) -                      100                       100                   100                      

1658010 - Professional Expense Allen -                      200                       200                   200                      

1658007 · Professional Expense DEM 179                      151                      200                       200                   200                      

Total 1658000 · Professional Expense 179                      151                      850                       850                   850                      

1670000 · Travel

1670000 · Staff Travel ALL 9,133                   17,136                 50,000                  33,000              33,000                 

Total 1670000 · Travel 9,133                   17,136                 50,000                  33,000              33,000                 

1700000 · Shipping & Postage 1,240                   1,077                   1,350                    1,200                1,250                   

1720000 · Office Supplies

1720000 · Office Supplies 1,909                   1,295                   2,250                    1,500                1,750                   

1722550 - Janitorial Supplies 55                        54                        225                       150                   175                      

Total 1720000 · Office Supplies 1,964                   1,349                   2,475                    1,650                1,925                   

1725000 - Congregational Resources
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Assembly

Approved

05/01/21 

 Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/21 

 Base

Spend Plan

FYE 1/31/23

Synod Council

Approved

1/22/22 

 Base

Budget Plan

FYE 1/31/24

Synod Council

Recommended

1/22/22 

Audited

Actuals

Fiscal Year

Ended

1/31/22

1730000 · Hospitality

Meals for Outside Groups (5)                        -                      400                       100                   150                      

Snack Supplies for LCFML 101                      40                        250                       100                   150                      

Staff Lunches -                      150                       50                     100                      

Total 1730000 · Hospitality 97                        40                        800                       250                   400                      

1740000 · Contract Services

Audio - Visual Maintenance -                      150                       100                   150                      

Coastline Technology 8,576                   6,815                   10,500                  10,000              10,500                 

ICON Systems / Software 300                      300                      350                       350                   350                      

Internet & Web 1,638                   1,798                   2,000                    2,000                2,200                   

OC Janitorial Services 5,824                   6,228                   6,300                    6,800                6,800                   

Professional Protection 990                      840                      800                       840                   840                      

Registration Program 625                      625                      625                       775                   775                      

Office 1/Kyocera Copy Usage -                      450                       300                   350                      

Servant Keeper Database 300                      600                      600                       600                   600                      

SmartSheet Spreadsheet Program 567                      567                      600                       600                   600                      

1744000 · Payroll Services 2,427                   2,443                   2,750                    2,700                2,850                   

Total 1740000 · Contract Services 21,247                 20,216                 25,125                  25,065              26,015                 

1748000 · Professional Services

1741001 · Audit 15,900                 15,950                 16,500                  16,000              16,500                 

1742000 · Legal 46,571                 3,976                   2,500                    4,600                4,800                   

Total 1748000 · Professional Services 62,471                 19,926                 19,000                  20,600              21,300                 

1750000 · Insurance

1750001 · Umbrella Liability & D & O 1,100                   2,056                   1,100                    2,100                2,200                   

1750002 · Property & General Liability 8,056                   6,948                   8,300                    7,300                7,700                   

1839200 - Eckstrom Ave, SD Insurance 210                      

1750003 · Accident & Medical for Volunteers 500                      300                      500                       300                   300                      

Total 1750000 · Insurance 9,866                   9,305                   9,900                    9,700                10,200                 

1770000 · Office Expenses

1770001 · Miscellaneous -                      50                         50                     50                        

1775000 · Bishop's Discretionary 827                      20                        2,000                    2,000                2,000                   

1791000 · Bank/Credit Card Fees 2,822                   2,701                   2,750                    2,700                2,800                   

1791750 - Computer Equipment 1,678                   -                      1,750                    1,750                1,800                   

Total 1770000 · Office Expenses 5,328                   2,722                   6,550                    6,500                6,650                   
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail
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1800000 · Equipment Lease

Office Copier 7,200                   10,578                 8,500                    5,500                5,700                   

Postage Meter 934                      921                      1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

Total 1800000 · Equipment Lease 8,134                   11,499                 9,500                    6,500                6,700                   

1830000 · Occupancy

1760000 · Business/Property Taxes 898                      900                      600                       900                   950                      

1834055 - Landscape Maintenance 1,760                   2,080                   2,050                    1,800                1,850                   

1834060  - Repair & Maintenance 3,067                   5,775                   3,200                    5,000                5,150                   

1834075 - Facility Renewal 1,800                   

1834100 - Auto Repair/Maintenance 934                      4,764                   1,500                    1,500                1,500                   

1834150 - Bishop's Auto Ins Claim 1,875                   

1838000 · Parkcourt Square HOA 9,996                   9,996                   10,000                  10,000              10,000                 

1843101 · Ability Fire Equipment 375                      -                      225                       275                   300                      

1839100 - Eckstrom Ave, SD Rent 1,600                   

Total 1830000 · Occupancy 18,631                 27,190                 17,575                  19,475              19,750                 

4,800                   4,800                    4,800                

356                      550                       400                   

4,429                   4,500                

9,586                   5,350                    9,700                

1840000 · Utilities

1747000 · Telephone

1747001 · Office Phone/Internet 6,940                   6,288                   7,000                    6,000                6,200                   

1747002 · Cell - Bishop 944                      868                      1,000                    1,200                1,200                   

1747009 · Cell - Allen 1,289                   1,271                   1,200                    1,200                1,200                   

1747008 · Cell - DEM 1,317                   955                      1,200                    1,200                1,200                   

Total 1747000 · Telephone 10,490                 9,383                   10,400                  9,600                9,800                   

1841000 · Electric 2,919                   3,567                   3,750                    3,700                3,850                   

1841001 · Water 2,891                   3,532                   3,250                    3,700                3,850                   

1842000 · Gas 352                      328                      500                       325                   350                      

Total 1840000 · Utilities including Telephone 16,653                 16,810                 17,900                  17,325              17,850                 

TOTAL OFFICE 769,534               778,858               828,140                827,741            848,746               

1839300 - Waste/Recycling Disposal

Total 1839000 - Eckstrom Ave, SD Property

1839000 - Eckstrom Ave, SD Property

1839100 - Rent

1839200 - Insurance
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail
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NEW - Synodical Leadership

1912003 · Synod Council -                      6,000                    4,500                5,000                   

1912630 - Conference Deans 1,742                   -                      2,000                    1,250                2,000                   

1912640 · ELCA Churchwide Events -                      500                   

1912912 - Congregational Consultations -                      500                       500                   500                      

Total  NEW - Synodical Leadership 1,742                   -                      8,500                    6,750                7,500                   

NEW - Events & Education

1911365 - Regional Deacon's Summit -                      1,000                    1,000                1,000                   

1912620 · Day of Theological Reflection -                      250                       250                   250                      

Total NEW - Events & Education -                      -                      1,250                    1,250                1,250                   

1930001 Pacifica Synod Candidacy 5,819                   1,867                   9,000                    5,000                5,000                   

1910000 · Ministry Teams

1911320 - Coaching 1,500                   -                      1,500                    1,800                1,800                   

1911330 - Ecumenical Interfaith Relations -                      100                   100                      

1911340 - Latino / Hispanic* -                      100                       

1911370 - Anti-Racism 35                        5,000                   5,000                    10,000              10,000                 

NEW - Accessibility 1,000                1,000                   

1912200 · Faith Formation/Youth Ministry 1,306                   805                      2,500                    2,000                2,500                   

NEW - Faith Formation/Other 100                   100                      

1912301 - Interim Ministry Team* 585                      -                      

1912610 · Worship Ministry 674                      679                      900                       900                   900                      

1913100 · Hunger & Housing* 1,000                   -                      500                       

1913300 - AMMPARO/Immigration Ministry Team -                      100                       100                   100                      

1913650 - Mission Support/Stewardship -                      100                   100                      

1915100 - Vitality/Viability-MRA 4/Goal 3 1,288                   1,300                1,300                   

NEW - Evangelism 100                   100                      

Total 1910000 · Ministry Teams 5,100                   7,772                   10,600                  17,500              18,000                 

*Funding sources available outside of budget

TOTAL LEADERSHIP, EVENTS, CANDIDACY & MINISTRY TEAMS 12,661                 9,639                   29,350                  30,500              31,750                 

Total Expense 2,009,602            2,413,275            2,090,662             1,994,691         1,994,936            

Net Income Operating Fund 1,910,879            3,600,960            -                        0                       0                          
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Pacifica Synod

General Fund 2022-2023 Spend Plan and 2023-2024 Budget Worksheet - Detail
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1850000 · Depreciation

1856000 - Office Equipment Depreciation 3,379                   3,162                   

1857000 - LCFML Depreciation 50,306                 49,899                 

Total 1850000 · Depreciation (53,685)               (53,061)               

Atonement, SD - Income/Expenses (40,157)               

Hope, San Diego - Expenses (7,699)                 (18,750)               

Net Income General Fund 1,809,338            3,529,149            -                        - -                       
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PACIFICA SYNOD MISSION FUNDING PLAN

(As of February 9, 2022)

February 1, 2022 to January 31, 2023

Congregation/Ministry
ELCA

Support

 Pacifica 

Synod

Support

Congregation

Support

GRAND 

TOTAL

Beaumont/Cherry Valley Exploration (Pending)** 20,000 TBD TBD 20,000

Welcome Ministry, El Cajon 15,000 15,000 30,000

Ch of Dream Bldrs, Anaheim/St. Luke's, Fullerton 10,000 8,000 64,620 82,620

First Lutheran, Fullerton 15,000 15,000

The Table, Fullerton 2,500 25,000 45,595 73,095

Hilo, HI Exploration (Pending)** 20,000 TBD 20,000

Resurrection Japanese, Huntington Beach 10,000 10,000

Shepherd of Life, Lake Elsinore 16,000 24,000 40,000

Imanuel Indonesian, Los Alamitos 10,000 5,000 15,000

Lutheran Retreats, Camps, Conferences, Oak Glen 25,000 25,000

River of Hope, Palm Springs TBD 50,000 30,000 80,000

Indonesian Lutheran Ministry, Rancho Cucamonga 7,122 8,000 15,122

ELCA Batak, Redlands 10,000 15,000 25,000 50,000

CCLM, San Bernardino* 5,000 30,000 35,000

Agape, SDSU 25,000 25,000

Peace Lutheran, San Diego SAWC (Pending)** 20,000 50,000 TBD 70,000

Maluhia, Waianae, HI 33,355 33,355

ALEP/Timothy Project (Pending) 2,500 2,500

Pacifica Synod Mission Support 14,500 14,500

TBD 12,000 12,000

Training 12,000 12,000

Mission Insite Subscription 6,500 6,500

ELCA DMU Grant for DEM 117,999 117,999

Designated ATTB Cong Legacy Support 30,000 30,000

Synod Staff Support - Synodical Administration 70,000 70,000

    TOTALS 217,621 477,855 189,215 884,691

* ELCA Funding on Hold and Reduced Synod Funding Until Pastor Called

**ELCA Funding on Hold Pending Ministry Start
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Conference Name CITY CHURCH 2020 2021

East San Diego Chula Vista St. Mark's 20,000 24,183

1 Chula Vista Glory 0 500

El Cajon St. John 600 300

El Cajon Welcome Ministry 1,000 1,500

La Mesa Shepherd of Valley 20,267 17,267

Lemon Grove Lemon Grove 1,800 1,800

San Diego Ascension 13,758 11,725

San Diego Calvary 1,200 0

San Diego St. Andrew's 109,010 110,063

San Diego Tierrasanta 7,500 7,500

Santee Carlton Hills 12,307 10,876

West San Diego Coronado Resurrection 6,000 6,000

2 San Diego All Saints 2,700 2,700

San Diego Christ 25,000 25,000

San Diego Clairemont/Iglesia Luterana 30,625 26,250

San Diego First 25,420 26,479

San Diego Gethsemane 10,688 11,033

San Diego Our Savior's/Nues. Salv. 4,008 4,008

San Diego St. Peter's by the Sea 29,370 26,725

Harvest Carlsbad Spirit Harbor 0 0

3 Encinitas Bethlehem 52,752 48,806

Escondido House of Prayer 16,642 14,582

Oceanside King of Kings 18,900 17,535

Poway Incarnation 0 21,200

Ramona Spirit of Joy 3,000 3,000

San Diego Taiwanese 4,250 0

San Marcos San Marcos 22,417 20,000

Solana Beach Calvary 43,550 25,850

Temecula Hope 7,667 8,004

Vista First /Primera Iglesia 16,863 17,004

ELCA Pacifica Synod Undesignated Mission Support by Congregation
2020: February 1, 2020 to January 31, 2021

2021: February 1, 2021 to January 31, 2022
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Conference Name CITY CHURCH 2020 2021

ELCA Pacifica Synod Undesignated Mission Support by Congregation
2020: February 1, 2020 to January 31, 2021

2021: February 1, 2021 to January 31, 2022

Raincross Claremont Good Shepherd 23,066 23,010

4 Corona Peace 6,643 1,560

Hemet Spirit of Joy 16,590 17,618

Hemet Trinity 10,680 8,485

Lake Elsinore Shepherd of Life 2,459 1,480

Moreno Valley Lord of Life 5,200 4,800

Norco Bethany 11,681 12,158

Ontario First/Primera 10,615 0

Riverside Eden 7,500 9,500

Riverside Grace 4,000 0

Riverside Hope 10,211 7,330

Riverside Trinity 11,022 11,508

Sun City/Menifee Faith 15,012 14,026

Upland Grace 0 1,000

Big Bear Banning Our Savior's 16,000 13,333

5 Barstow Shepherd of the Desert 2,805 3,386

Big Bear City Spirit of Peace 3,885 2,610

Fontana Gloria Dei 2,400 2,400

Joshua Tree LC of the Desert 591 782

Palm Desert Hope 47,751 35,107

Palm Desert St. John's 16,677 19,236

Palm Springs River of Hope 3,024 4,722

Rancho Cucamonga Indonesian Lutheran Ministry 1,000

Rancho Cucamonga Cross & Crown 0 3,277

Redlands ELCA Batak 400 600

Redlands First 14,034 17,580

Rialto LC of the Cross 3,600 3,600

San Bernardino Central City Lutheran Mission 0 0

San Bernardino LC of Our Savior 29,997 10,511

San Bernardino Spirit of Hope 6,765 6,086

Victorville Trinity 14,559 14,995

Yucaipa Faith 5,208 4,340

Saddleback Corona Del Mar LC of the Master 1,000 2,400

7 Dana Point Gloria Dei 84,135 91,176

Laguna Niguel Mission 20,000 0

Newport Beach Newport Harbor 15,000 17,083

Rancho Santa Margarita Community 20,828 18,591

San Clemente Christ 6,980 12,678

San Clemente Our Savior's 28,665 10,668
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Conference Name CITY CHURCH 2020 2021

ELCA Pacifica Synod Undesignated Mission Support by Congregation
2020: February 1, 2020 to January 31, 2021

2021: February 1, 2021 to January 31, 2022

Son & Surf Cypress Mt. Calvary 600 600

8 Fountain Valley King of Glory 38,457 37,473

Garden Grove Our Redeemer 38,193 34,539

Garden Grove St. Olaf 6,875 6,915

Huntington Beach LC of the Resurrection 22,500 19,000

Los Alamitos Bethlehem 7,333 7,624

Los Alamitos Imanuel Indonesian 500 1,000

Orange Christ 2,790 4,306

Orange Our Saviour's 13,150 14,505

Santa Ana Calvary 0 0

Santa Ana St. Peter / San Pedro 0 0

Seal Beach Redeemer 6,000 7,500

Rejoice Anaheim Church of Dream Builders 0 0

9 Anaheim Faith 0 0

Anaheim Grace 0 500

Anaheim Lamb of God 3,489 1,958

Buena Park Good Shepherd 900 0

Fullerton First 14,131 15,051

Fullerton St. Luke 669 2,508

Fullerton St. Paul 43,200 38,040

Fullerton The Table 2,443 1,894

La Habra Emanuel 31,900 34,800

La Habra LC of the Master 1,500 0

Whittier Salem 4,100 3,600

Whittier Shepherd of the Hills 0 3,150

Whittier St. Andrew 6,916 7,308

Yorba Linda Emanuel Danish 500 1,000

Yorba Linda Messiah 21,315 21,825

Hukilau Honolulu Calvary by the Sea 5,450 0*

10 Honolulu LC of Honolulu 27,298 28,250

Honolulu Prince of Peace 3,000 4,200

Kailua St. John 27,862 23,669

Kailua-Kona LC of the Holy Trinity 13,206 14,999

Kihei Kihei 11,260 14,209

Lihue Lihue 9,566 11,420

Miliani Christ 5,400 4,950

Pearl City Joy of Christ 6,089 4,890

Waianae Maluhia 3,600 3,300

MS from Individuals 3,247 3,611

1,369,716 1,277,120

*Mission Support for 2021-2022 was received after the close of the 1/31/22 fiscal year.

TOTAL MISSION SUPPORT
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PACIFICA SYNOD GRANT/SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS 2021-2022

Congregation/Ministry City Purpose

 Base

Grant 

Matching

Funds

Shepherd of the Desert Lutheran Church Barstow Porta-potties for guests who participate in monthly free lunch program 900$             

Spirit of Peace Lutheran Church Big Bear Lake To purchase of prepared food and containers for Simple Supper meals 1,000$          500$             

Luth Church of the Good Shepherd Buena Park Supplies to make fleece blankets, health kits, and treat bags 950$             

St. Mark's Lutheran Church Chula Vista Christmas presents for those out of work in the congregation 900$             500$             

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church Claremont Supplies to include in gift bags for Prison Ministry with CA Institute for Women 1,000$          500$             

Mt. Calvary Lutheran Church Cypress Support of women's ministry at Judy's Kitchen and care kits 500$             

St. John's Lutheran Church El Cajon Assistance for Calvary Cupboard's food donation 500$             

King of Glory Lutheran Church Fountain Valley Support of King's Kitchen ministry 1,000$          

St. Paul Lutheran Church Fullerton Support of Madre Asunta shelter for migrants, women, and children in Tijuana, Mexico 1,000$          500$             

Calvary by the Sea Lutheran Church Honolulu To purchase worktables, carts, and shelving for Angel Network Charities Ministry 900$             500$             

Prince of Peace Lutheran Church Honolulu Funding to support Senior Support Network Outreach Program for isolated seniors 1,000$          

St. John Lutheran Church Kailua Support of Windward Wounded Warriors & Fernhurst Residential Facility library project 1,000$          

Kihei Lutheran Church Kihei Funding for outreach ministry that feeds hungry, homeless and those in need 1,000$          500$             

Emanuel Lutheran Church La Habra Clothing for parents and children fleeing homes due to violence 1,000$          

Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church La Mesa Funding of Third Avenue Charitable Organization (TACO) and El Nido programs 950$             500$             

Lemon Grove Lutheran Church Lemon Grove Support of feeding ministry outreach program 1,000$          500$             

Lihue Lutheran Church Lihue Support of Mobile Munchies ministry 1,000$          

Imanuel Indonesian Fellowship Los Alamitos Work with Central City Lutheran Mission, LSS, and Indonesian families in need 1,000$          500$             

LRCC/Luther Glen Farm Oak Glen Fencing to separate farm animals from food grown for Faith Pantry & guests 950$             500$             

Joy of Christ Lutheran Church Pearl City Purchase of food for ministry at Institute for Human Services houseless shelter on Oahu 1,000$          500$             

Cross and Crown Lutheran Church Rancho Cucamonga Repair of playground equipment, support for CCLM and RC Family Resource Center 800$             500$             

Eden Lutheran Church Riverside Food cards for those in need, food for preschool kids and hygiene pack supplies 900$             400$             

Trinity Lutheran Church Riverside Supplies for Shower of Hope program 1,000$          

Christ Lutheran Church San Clemente For congregation Matthew 25 Support Program to provide food and clothing to those in need 950$             

Agape San Diego San Diego Emergency assistance for students in financial crisis of housing and food insecurity 950$             500$             

The Closet on 54th San Diego Replacement racks & PPE for The Closet to reopen safely 850$             

The Cupboard on 54th San Diego Enhancement of the ability to serve community during the pandemic and increase outreach 1,000$          

Lutheran Border Concerns Ministry San Diego Purchase of infant formula for Infant's Healthy Start Program serving Tijuana, Mexico 1,000$          500$             

Senior Gleaners of San Diego County San Diego Support of the annual expense of van essential to food transport for ministry 750$             500$             

St. Andrew's Lutheran Church San Diego Funding for housing for the Haitian families the congregation supports 1,000$          500$             

Survivors of Torture, International San Diego To provide basic necessities for non-detained asylum-seeking torture survivors 900$             500$             

Third Avenue Charitable Organization San Diego Assistance with meal preparation and service 1,000$          500$             

San Marcos Lutheran Church San Marcos For basic needs to help immigrant families and individuals become settled in new communities 900$             

Carlton Hills Lutheran Church Santee Friday night dinner for homeless and monthly Saturday breakfast for community 900$             

Summer Harvest - Food for Kids Seal Beach Funding for supplemental food for nutritionally-challenged people 750$             500$             

First Lutheran Church Vista Start up of a food pantry to serve low income community and the homeless 850$             

Maluhia Lutheran Church Waianae Funding for One Pot, One Hope monthly food outreach ministry of the Hukilau Conference 950$             500$             

TOTAL  DISTRIBUTED 34,000$       10,400$       

Congregation City Purpose Amount

St. Mark's Lutheran Church Chula Vista Security fencing and play structure for addition of a childcare facility 10,000$         

Clairemont Lutheran Church San Diego Seminary scholarship for TEEM program for student from Clairemont 6,500$          

Our Savior's Lutheran Church San Diego Seminary scholarship for MDiv program at PLTS for student from Our Savior's 10,000$         

TOTAL  DISTRIBUTED 26,500$       

2021 Pacifica Synod Matthew 25 Grant Award Recipients
This fund was established through the generous gift of Jerry and Linda Engelhardt to help the hungry and homeless and others in need, as well as helping

congregations and organizations develop and expand their community outreach ministries as described in Matthew 25:35-40.

In 2021, thanks to a generous donation, applicants were able to request up to $500 in additional matching funds to supplement funds raised by the applicant for the purpose of their request.

2021-2022 Latino Ministry Endowment Fund Partnership Support Grant Award Recipients
Funded in 2005, these grants provide assistance and support to congregations with existing Latino Ministries or who intend to develop new Latino Ministries. 

In addition, the grant may be used to fund seminary or TEEM program costs for Latino students.
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PACIFICA SYNOD GRANT/SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS 2021-2022

Congregation/Ministry City Purpose Amount

Shepherd of the Desert Lutheran Church Barstow Purchase of swing, slide swing, and glider for outdoor play set 350$             

St. Mark's Lutheran Church Chula Vista Vacation Bible School support 1,000$          

Resurrection Lutheran Preschool Coronado Purchase of Bibles, curriculum supplies and outdoor table for preschool 820$             

St. John's Lutheran Church El Cajon Purchase of large screen TV and DVD player for preschool and Sunday School 960$             

First Lutheran Church Fullerton Divider screen for intergenerational use Parish Hall space 1,000$          

St. Paul Lutheran Church Fullerton Funding to update nursery with furniture and educational activities 1,000$          

Our Redeemer Lutheran Church Garden Grove Converting storage room to Sunday School/Confirmation classroom 1,000$          

St. Olaf Lutheran Preschool Garden Grove Purchase Crawl & Explore First Climber for licensed infant center 875.90$         

Calvary by the Sea Lutheran Church Honolulu Youth Room remodel and summer mini-camp for high school students 1,000$          

Luther Glen Farm/LRCC Oak Glen Beautification at amphitheater campfire used for summer camp 1,000$          

Spirit of Joy Lutheran Church Ramona Support for Sunday School, youth ministry and family drive-in movie programs 1,000$          

First Lutheran Church San Diego Creating children's worship bags 500$             

St. Peter's by the Sea Lutheran Church San Diego Purchase Godly Play training, supplies and curriculum for SS & Preschool Chapel 1,000$          

Tierrasanta Lutheran Church San Diego Advertising, promotion and musicians for new Children's Worship Service 1,000$          

Calvary Lutheran Church Solana Beach Support for "Camp Treasured" Summer Day Camp 1,000$          

Faith Lutheran Church Yucaipa Improving Confirmation & Adult Education classroom 1,000$          

TOTAL  DISTRIBUTED 14,506$       

Congregation/Ministry City Purpose Amount

Pacifica Synod Congregations Subsidize lay leader registration fees for Synod Anti-Racism Training Workshop in Oct 2021 2,275$          

TOTAL  DISTRIBUTED 2,275$         

Congregation City Purpose Amount

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church Claremont Continiung support for Providence Ministries (Kenya) 1,250$          

Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran La Mesa Quilting supplies to make LWR Mission Quilts 1,250$          

Incarnation Lutheran Church Poway Funding for purchase of building materials for homes near Tijuana 1,250$          

Clairemont Lutheran Church San Diego Education funding for Empowering Africa's Orphanage in Nyrobi, Kenya 1,250$          

Lutheran Border Concerns Ministry San Diego Purchase food/supplies for adults/families living in Tijuana 1,250$          

St. Andrew's Lutheran Church San Diego Funding for housing/legal support services for 4 Haitian families 1,250$          

Taiwanese Lutheran Church San Diego Monetary/prayer support for Christian orphanage school in Kenya 1,250$          

St. Mark's Lutheran Church Chula Vista Creating bilingual/bi-cultural Christian Ed/Fellowship program 1,250$          

TOTAL  DISTRIBUTED 10,000$       

2021 Murray & Rhoda Finck Global Engagement Mission Fund Award Recipients

The goals of the Murray & Rhoda Finck Global Engagement Mission fund are to assist congregations of the Pacifica Synod in their Global Mission efforts, to initiate and/or continue direct 

support of present and future Companion Synods of the Pacifica Synod, and to share in ministry with God's people as we strive together for a lasting world peace. Applications are received 

and awards given annually.

2021-2022 Pacifica Synod Warner Trust Fund Grant Award Recipients

This fund was established through the generous gift of Charles and Mable Warner who were members of First Lutheran Church, Los Angeles.  

They loved their church as evidenced by the following quote from their will:“...The entire remainder of the trust estate shall go and be distributed to the Evangelical Lutheran Synod of the 

Southwest, Los Angeles, California, with the request that such estate be used in the construction of Sunday School facilities and to further youth Christian education.” As legal successors to 

the Southwest Synod, the principal was divided among the five ELCA synods in Region 2 and the interest is distribute annually.

2021-2022 Pacifica Synod Cathryn Wright Stephen Ministry Scholarship Award Recipients

These scholarships are given through the Cathryn W. Wright Bequest specifically designated for Stephen Ministry lay leaders. Congregations are encouraged to

attend local Stephen Ministry training events and the scholarships may be used to help fund congregational enrollment and registration fees for up to 2 lay leaders. 

The fund may also be used for any synod-authorized lay leader training opportunities.
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PACIFICA SYNOD GRANT/SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS 2021-2022

Congregation/Ministry City Amount

Church of Dream Builders Anaheim 640.00$         

Our Savior's Lutheran Church Banning 5,000.00$      

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church Buena Park 2,889.50$      

St. Mark's Lutheran Church Chula Vista 5,000.00$      

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church Claremont 5,000.00$      

Peace Lutheran Church Corona 5,000.00$      

St. John's Lutheran Church El Cajon 1,750.00$      

King of Glory Lutheran Church Fountain Valley 3,843.33$      

First Lutheran Church Fullerton 5,000.00$      

St. Paul Lutheran Church Fullerton 5,000.00$      

Our Redeemer Lutheran Church Garden Grove 2,000.00$      

St. Olaf Lutheran Church Garden Grove 3,500.00$      

Trinity Lutheran Church Hemet 4,500.00$      

Calvary by the Sea Lutheran Church Honolulu 5,000.00$      

Lutheran Church of the Resurrection Huntington Beach 5,000.00$      

Lutheran Church of the Desert Joshua Tree 600.00$         

Kihei Lutheran Church Kihei, HI 5,000.00$      

Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church La Mesa 4,870.00$      

Shepherd of Life Lutheran Church Lake Elsinore 5,000.00$      

Lihue Lutheran Church Lihue, HI 1,000.00$      

Bethlehem Lutheran Church Los Alamitos 5,000.00$      

Imanuel Indonesian Los Alamitos 2,400.00$      

Christ Lutheran Church Mililani 1,600.00$      

Newport Harbor Lutheran Church Newport Beach 5,000.00$      

Lutheran Retreats, Camps, and Conferences Oak Glen 5,000.00$      

King of Kings Lutheran Church Oceanside 3,975.00$      

Christ Lutheran Church Orange 5,000.00$      

Our Saviour's Lutheran Church Orange 5,000.00$      

Hope Lutheran Church Palm Desert 5,000.00$      

St. John's Lutheran Church Palm Desert 2,500.00$      

River of Hope Palm Springs 4,000.00$      

Joy of Christ Lutheran Church Pearl City 2,145.26$      

Lutheran Church of the Incarnation Poway 5,000.00$      

Spirit of Joy Lutheran Church Ramona 5,000.00$      

Cross and Crown Lutheran Church Rancho Cucamonga 5,000.00$      

Community Lutheran Church Rcho Sta Margarita 1,219.18$      

ELCA Batak/HKBP CA Redlands Redlands 5,000.00$      

First Lutheran Church Redlands 2,800.00$      

Eden Lutheran Church Riverside 5,000.00$      

Hope Lutheran Church Riverside 500.00$         

Trinity Lutheran Church Riverside 5,000.00$      

LCOS/Spirit of Hope Lutheran Church San Bernardino 5,000.00$      

Ascension Lutheran Church San Diego 5,000.00$      

Calvary Lutheran Church San Diego 1,750.00$      

Clairemont Lutheran Church/Iglesia Luterana San Diego 5,000.00$      

First Lutheran Church San Diego 4,775.76$      

Gethsemane Lutheran Church San Diego 3,000.00$      

Our Saviors Lutheran Church San Diego 5,000.00$      

2021 Pacifica Synod Technology Development Matching Fund Grants
In March 2021, using Pacifica Synod Mission Funds, Technology Development Matching Fund Grants (up to $5,000 per congregation) were offered to assist congregations and ministries of 

the Pacifica Synod in developing or improving their online ministry capabilities to connect and create deep, meaningful experiences in a virtual setting. The funds could be used to procure 

the technology (equipment, software, or subscriptions), or for technology needs assessment, training or support. 66 grants totaling $261,743 were awarded.
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PACIFICA SYNOD GRANT/SCHOLARSHIP RECIPIENTS 2021-2022

Congregation/Ministry City Amount

St. Andrew's Lutheran Church San Diego 5,000.00$      

St. Peter's by the Sea Lutheran Church San Diego 5,000.00$      

Tierrasanta Lutheran Church San Diego 5,000.00$      

San Marcos Lutheran Church San Marcos 5,000.00$      

Carlton Hills Lutheran Church Santee 5,000.00$      

Calvary Lutheran Church Solana Beach 5,000.00$      

Faith Lutheran Church Sun City 850.00$         

Hope Lutheran Church Temecula 4,000.00$      

Grace Lutheran Church Upland 5,000.00$      

Trinity Lutheran Church Victorville 5,000.00$      

First Lutheran Church Vista 5,000.00$      

Maluhia Lutheran Church Waianae 2,000.00$      

Salem Lutheran Church Whittier 5,000.00$      

Shepherd of the Hills Lutheran Church Whittier 5,000.00$      

St. Andrew Lutheran Church Whittier 5,000.00$      

Danish Lutheran Church Yorba Linda 1,635.12$      

Messiah Lutheran Church Yorba Linda 5,000.00$      

Faith Lutheran Church Yucaipa 2,000.00$      

TOTAL  DISTRIBUTED 261,743$     
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2022 Mission Support Intent Recognitions  
 

THANK YOU to those who submitted their 2022 Mission Support Intent as of April 15, 2022. 
 

2022 Mission Support Intent  
 

East San Diego Conference: St. Mark’s, Chula Vista; St. Andrew’s, San Diego. 
 

West San Diego Conference: All Saints, San Diego; Clairemont, San Diego; St. Peter’s by the Sea, San 
Diego. 
 

Harvest Conference: Bethlehem, Encinitas; House of Prayer, Escondido; King of Kings, Oceanside; 
San Marcos, San Marcos. 
 

Raincross Conference: Good Shepherd, Claremont; Trinity, Riverside.  
 

Big Bear Conference: Spirit of Peace, Big Bear City; St. John’s, Palm Desert; First, Redlands. 
 

Saddleback Conference: Newport Harbor, Newport Beach; Christ, San Clemente. 
 

Son & Surf Conference: King of Glory, Fountain Valley; St. Olaf, Garden Grove; Our Saviour’s, 
Orange. 
 

Rejoice Conference: First, Fullerton; Shepherd of the Hills, Whittier.  
 

Hukilau Conference: Christ, Mililani. 
 
Note: If your congregation is not listed above, please contact Terri Robertson in the synod office at 

terrirobertson@pacificasynod.org to have a form emailed to you. Thank you! 
 

THANK YOU to those congregations listed below who plan to tithe 10% (or more!) of their 
Congregational Weekly Offerings to the work of the Pacifica Synod and the Evangelical Lutheran 

Church in America (as indicated on their 2022 Mission Support Intent). 
 

East San Diego Conference: St. Andrew’s, San Diego. 
 

West San Diego Conference: St. Peter’s by the Sea, San Diego. 
 

Harvest Conference: House of Prayer, Escondido; King of Kings, Oceanside. 
 

Raincross Conference: Good Shepherd, Claremont. 
 

Big Bear Conference:  
 

Saddleback Conference: Newport Harbor, Newport Beach; Christ, San Clemente. 
 

Son & Surf Conference: King of Glory, Fountain Valley; St. Olaf, Garden Grove. 
 

Rejoice Conference: First, Fullerton. 
 

Hukilau Conference:  
 
We give thanks to ALL of our congregations for your partnership and generosity in 2021. 

mailto:terrirobertson@pacificasynod.org
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Synod Council 
Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical 
Lutheran Church in America 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church (a nonprofit 
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of January 31,2022, and the related statements of 
activities and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church as of January 31, 2022, and the changes in its net assets and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, 
considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church’s ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material  misstatement when it exists. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued) 

 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related matters that we 
identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Supplementary Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The Schedule 
of Net Assets, Schedule of Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – Designated Funds, the Schedule of Net Assets 
With Donor Restrictions – Temporarily Restricted Funds, and the Schedule of Expenses by Funding Source on 
pages 14 – 17 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. 
Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including 
comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to 
prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the 
information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole. 
 
 

 
 
April 5, 2022 
San Marino, CA 
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PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Without With 

Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

Current Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Checking 4,409,092$             -$                        4,409,092$             

MIF Demand Accounts

Agape House -                          -                          

Calgary, Santa Ana 32,084                    32,084                    

Cathryn W Wright Bequest 69,190                    69,190                    

New Mission Starts 24,328                    24,328                    

Pacifica Synod CLC Legacy 152,984                  152,984                  

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 4,618,488               69,190                    4,687,678               

Short Term Investments

MIF Term Accounts

Pending Designation 196,025                  196,025                  

ELCA Endowment Fund Pooled Trust

Latino Ministry 270,058                  270,058                  

Matthew 25 259,081                  10,992                    270,073                  

Pacifica Synod Mission Funds 173,129                  173,129                  

Warner Trust 38,849                    49,229                    88,078                    

Thrivent Mutual Funds 

Cathryn W Wright Bequest 200,095                  200,095                  

Fink Global Engagement Mission Fund 173,834                  173,834                  

Latino Ministry 20,416                    20,416                    

Pacifica Synod Mission Funds 1,381,123               1,381,123               

Atonement 1,491,072               1,491,072               

Peace, SD 500,236                  500,236                  

Total Short Term Investments 4,503,823               260,316                  4,764,139               

Receivables & Prepaids

Receivable from Hope, Riverside 2,500                      2,500                      

Receivable from Grace of Glen Avon, Riverside 2,500                      2,500                      

ElCA Receivable 31,669                    31,669                    

Receivables - Other 3,000                      3,000                      

Prepaid Expenses 1,900                      1,900                      

Total Receivables & Prepaids 41,569                    -                          41,569                    

Total Current Assets 9,163,880               329,506                  9,493,386               

Long Term Investments

MIF Term Accounts

Agape House 1,690,200               1,690,200               

Cathryn W Wright Bequest 401,807                  401,807                  

Pending Designation 200,514                  200,514                  

Pacifica Synod Mission Funds 210,082                  210,082                  

Total Long Term Investments 1,890,714               611,889                  2,502,603               

Fixed Assets

CFML Land and Building 3,167,169               3,167,169               

Furniture, Equipment and Other 445,186                  445,186                  

Accumulated Depreciation (1,122,501)              (1,122,501)              

Total Fixed Assets, Net 2,489,854               -                          2,489,854               

Other Assets

ELCA Endowment Fund Pooled Trust

Matthew 25 Fund 100,000                  100,000                  

Warner Trust 155,573                  155,573                  

Due from (to) Other Funds (21,893)                   21,893                    -                          

Total Other Assets (21,893)                   277,466                  255,573                  

TOTAL ASSETS 13,522,555$           1,218,861$             14,741,416$           

Current Liabilities

Accrued Expenses and Payables 55,882$                  380$                       56,262$                  

Due to ELCA 494,944                  -                          494,944                  

Due to Region 20,000                    -                          20,000                    

Total Curent Liabilities 570,826                  380                         571,206                  

TOTAL LIABILITIES 570,826                  380                         571,206                  

NET ASSETS 12,951,729             1,218,481               14,170,210             

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 13,522,555$           1,218,861$             14,741,416$           

January 31, 2022

LIABILITIES

ASSETS

See accompanying notes.
3
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Without With

Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
SUPPORT AND REVENUE

Support:
Mission Support 1,307,677$      265,535$         1,573,212$      
ELCA Grants 9,248               187,021           196,269           
Shared Ministry Income -                   356,788           356,788           

Revenue:
Proceeds from Disbanded Church Assets, net of expenses 3,982,868        -                   3,982,868        
Interest and Dividend Income 282,654           30,483             313,137           
Realized Gains (Losses) on Investments 43,160             1,453               44,613             
Unrealized (Losses) on Investments (29,721)            10,706             (19,015)            
Conference and Other Registration Fees 29,170             43,541             72,711             
Other Income 7,604               4,093               11,697             

Net Assets Released from Restrictions 896,528           (896,528)          -                   
Board Contribution to Restricted Deficient Funds (68,232)            68,232             -                   

     Total Support and Revenue 6,460,956        71,324             6,532,280        

EXPENSES
Operating Expenses

Program Services 3,722,439        3,722,439        
Management & General 407,548           407,548           

Total Expenses 4,129,987        -                   4,129,987        

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS 2,330,969        71,324             2,402,293        

NET ASSETS, beginning of year 10,620,760      1,147,157        11,767,917      

NET ASSETS, end of year 12,951,729$    1,218,481$      14,170,210$    

PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
Year Ended January 31, 2022

See accompanying notes.
4
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Program Management

Services & General Total

General Administration
Contract Services 10,440$                  24,360$                  34,800$                  
Depreciation 26,530                    26,531                    53,061                    
Equipment Lease 3,450                      8,049                      11,499                    
Hospitality 32                           8                             40                           
Insurance 966                         8,695                      9,661                      
Legal and Professional Services -                         22,746                    22,746                    
Occupancy and Utilities 39,989                    39,990                    79,979                    
Office Expense 1,611                      1,611                      3,222                      
Professional Expense 2,226                      2,227                      4,453                      
Shipping and Postage 538                         539                         1,077                      
Supplies and Materials 674                         675                         1,349                      

86,456                    135,431                  221,887                  

Personnel
Salaries 631,185                  217,810                  848,994                  
Continuing Education 1,144                      395                         1,539                      
Payroll Taxes 10,415                    3,594                      14,009                    
Pension, Medical and Disability 142,373                  49,130                    191,503                  
Worker's Compensation 3,442                      1,188                      4,630                      

788,559                  272,117                  1,060,675               

Leadership, Support and Program
Ministry Teams 3,439                      -                         3,439                      
Region II Support 4,000                      -                         4,000                      
Travel 20,152                    -                         20,152                    

27,591                    -                         27,591                    

Other Program Expenses
Financial Support to ELCA 651,331                  -                         651,331                  
Support to Institutions 105,255                  -                         105,255                  
Designated Gifts from Disbanded Churches 405,582                  -                         405,582                  
Assembly Expenses 18,843                    -                         18,843                    
Conferences and Workshops 57,290                    -                         57,290                    
DEM Expenses 360                         -                         360                         
Grants 1,186,145               -                         1,186,145               
Shared Ministry Expenses 364,148                  -                         364,148                  
Other Congregation Expenses 30,880                    -                         30,880                    

2,819,834               -                         2,819,834               

Total Expenses 3,722,439$             407,548$                4,129,987$             

PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
Year Ended January 31, 2022

See accompanying notes.
5
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PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 2,402,293$            

Adjustments to reconcile (Decrease) in Net Assets to Net Cash

Provided (Used) by operating activities:

Depreciation 53,061$

Unrealized Gains on Investments 19,014

Realized Gains on Investments (44,613) 

Interest Income Invested in Mission Term Accounts (76,697) 

Dividends Reinvested (233,624) 

(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expense 1,100

(Increase) Decrease in Loan Receivables 3,052,311              

Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Expenses and Payables 105,349

Total Adjustments 2,875,901              

Net Cash (Used) by Operating Activities 5,278,195              

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Investment in Fixed Assets (1,670) 

Purchase of Investments (1,902,283)             

Withdrawal from MIF Term Account 15,176

Withdrawal from ELCA Endowment Fund 10,897

Withdrawal from Thrivent Mutual Fund Accounts 476,316

Net Cash Preovided by Investing Activities (1,401,564)             

3,876,631              

811,047

4,687,678$            

DECREASE IN CASH

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of year 

COMPOSITION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - ENDING

Without Restriction 4,618,488              

With Restriction 69,190

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents - Ending 4,687,678$            

Year Ended January 31, 2022

See accompanying notes.
6
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
January 31, 2022 
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NOTE A – NATURE OF ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Nature of Organization 
 
Pacifica Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (Synod) was incorporated as a not-for-profit organization 
in July 1986.  The Synod is affiliated with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America (ELCA) and is responsible for the 
oversight and the life and mission of the ELCA in the counties of Imperial, Orange, Riverside, San Bernardino, and San 
Diego in the state of California, and in the state of Hawaii.  The Synod is supported primarily through contributions 
received from member congregations.   
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The financial statements of the Synod have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and accordingly reflect all 
significant receivables, payables, and other liabilities. 
 
Financial Statement Presentation 
 
Financial statement presentation follows the recommendations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board in ASU 
2016-14.  Accordingly, net assets, revenue, expenses, gains and losses are classified based on donor-imposed restrictions.  
Net assets of the Synod and changes therein are classified and reported as: 
 

Without Donor Restrictions – Those resources not subject to donor-imposed restrictions.  Resources not subject to 
donor-imposed restrictions include those net assets that the Synod has set aside for a particular purpose. 
 

With Donor Restrictions – Those resources subject to donor-imposed restrictions that will be satisfied by action of 
the Synod or by the passage of time, and permanently restricted net assets that are subject to donor-imposed restrictions 
which never lapse.   
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash consists of checking and savings deposits with banks.    
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $1,000 are capitalized.  Property and equipment are carried at cost or, 
if donated, at the approximately fair value at the date of donation.   
 
The Synod depreciates assets using the straight-line method over the useful lives of the assets of 5, 7 and 39 years.   
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NOTE A – NATURE OF ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 
Investments and Credit Risks 
 
Investments consist of funds invested with Mission Investment Fund (a Financial Ministry of the ELCA), the ELCA 
Endowment Fund Pooled Trust, and Thrivent Financial Mutual Funds.  Investments in the Mission Investment Fund 
include Demand with Check Writing Accounts and Mission Term Accounts. The Demand with Check Writing Accounts 
is similar in character to savings accounts and the Mission Term Accounts are certificates of deposits. All Mission 
Investment Funds are stated at cost and are not protected by FDIC. 
 
Investments in the ELCA Endowment Fund are stated at fair value based on amounts reported to the Synod by the 
management of the Fund. Realized and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in the statement of activities. Investments 
in the ELCA Endowment Fund are not protected by SIPC (Security Investor Protection Corporation).  
 
Investments in Thrivent Financial Mutual Funds are stated at fair value based upon quoted prices of the mutual funds in 
an active market.  Realized and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in the statement of activities. Investments in the 
Thrivent Financial Mutual Funds are not protected by SIPC (Security Investor Protection Corporation). 
 
As of January 31, 2022, the Synod’s uninsured balance in cash and investments was as follows: 
 Checking $     4,409,093 
 Mission Investment Fund Demand with Check Writing Accounts 278,584 
 Mission Investment Fund Term Accounts  2,698,629 
 Checking, Money Market and Certificates of Deposit 7,386,306 
 ELCA Endowment Pooled Trust       1,056,911 
 Thrivent Mutual Funds   3,766,776 
 Total $ 12,209,993 
 
Disclosures about Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities 
 
Fair Value Standards (ASC 820-10) establishes a hierarchal disclosure framework which prioritizes and ranks the level of 
market price observability used in measuring fair value. This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used 
to measure fair value into three levels: 
  

Level 1 - Quoted market prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting 
date. 
 
Level 2 - Pricing inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets, which are either directly or indirectly 
observable as of the reporting date, and fair value is determined through the use of models or other valuation 
methodologies. A significant adjustment to a Level 2 input could result in the Level 2 measurement becoming a 
Level 3 measurement. 
 
Level 3 - Pricing inputs are unobservable and shall be used to measure fair value to the extent that observable 
inputs are not available. The inputs into the determination of fair value are based upon the best information 
available and require significant management judgment or estimation. 

 
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such 
cases, the level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. 
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PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL 
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
January 31, 2022 

NOTE A – NATURE OF ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Contributed Services 

The Synod receives services contributed by individuals involved in the Synod’s missions.  The services provided 
generally involve the contribution of time to various Synod committees.  No amounts for contributed services have been 
reflected in the financial statements since the services do not meet accounting standards for recognition.  The criteria 
require that contributed services create or enhance financial assets, require specialized skills which would be purchased if 
not donated and have an objective basis for measurement. 

Leases 

Leases are evaluated and classified as capital or operating in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Income Taxes 

The Synod is included in a group ruling issued by IRS to the ELCA and therefore is exempt from Federal income taxes 
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Functional Expenses 

Amounts presented in the statement of functional expenses for the year ended January 31, 2022 are allocated to program 
and supporting services using estimates based on measures of the benefits provided. Accordingly, certain costs have been 
allocated amount the programs and supporting services benefited based on management’s estimate. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles require management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 

NOTE B – LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS 

The following reflects the Synod’s financial assets as of the statement of financial position date, reduced by amounts not 
available for general use because of contractual or donor-imposed restrictions within one year of the balance sheet date.  

Financial assets at January 31, 2022 
Checking, Money Market and Certificates of Deposit $ 7,386,306 
ELCA Endowment Pooled Trust       1,056,911 
Thrivent Mutual Funds    3,766,776 

 Total    12,209,993 

Less those financial assets unavailable for general expenditures within one year, due to: 
Donor-imposed to maintain as an endowment      (255,573) 
Donor-imposed for specified purposes Temporarily Restricted Funds (963,287) 

Financial assets available to meet cash needs for general expenditure within one year   $ 10,991,133 
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NOTE C – INVESTMENTS 
 
The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for instruments measured at fair value on a recurring 
basis and recognized in the accompanying statement of financial position, as well as the general classification of such 
instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy. 
 
Where quoted market prices are available in an active market, securities are classified within Level 1 of the valuation 
hierarchy. Level 1 investments can include investments in mutual funds.   If quoted market prices are not available, then 
fair values are estimated by using pricing models, quoted prices of securities with similar characteristics, or discounted 
cash flows (Level 2).   Where Level 1 and Level 2 inputs are not available, investments are classified within Level 3 
hierarchy.  Because market activity for the ELCA Endowment Fund investment is not active, the Synod’s investment in 
the Fund is classified as Level 3.  Investments in MIF Term Certificates are also classified as Level 3. 
 
                  Fair Value Measurements Using 
 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
MIF Term Certificates $ 2,698,629 $         -       $       -         $ 2,698,629 
ELCA Endowment Fund 1,056,911 -                    -         1,056,911     
Thrivent Financial Mutual Funds             3,766,776   3,766,776          -                  -        
   $ 7,522,316     $ 3,766,776      $       -            $ 3,755,540 
 
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3): 
 
       MIF Term ELCA End Fund  
 January 31, 2021 $ 2,637,107 $ 992,210 
 Interest reinvested 76,697  
 Dividends reinvested  26,477 
 Realized gains  1,628 

Unrealized gains  47,493 
 Net cash withdrawn (15,175) (10,897) 

Invested                                        
 January 31, 2022                                                    $ 2,698,629  $   1,056,911 
 
NOTE D – NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS - PERMANENTLY RESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
In 1990 and 1994, Pacifica Synod received a bequest of $155,573 from the estate of Charles and Mabel Warner. In 
accordance with the provisions of the bequest, Synod Council placed the corpus of the trust in a Mission Certificate 
Account, and income from the trust is used to fund grants to specific programs and ministries of the Synod, and 
institutions and agencies affiliated with the ELCA.  
 
In December 2015, Pacifica Synod received a gift of $100,000.  Pursuant to the terms of the gift, the funds have been 
placed in a permanently restricted fund called “Matthew 25 Fund”.  The gift has been invested in the ELCA Endowment 
Pooled Fund.  The income of the fund is to be used to maintain congregational outreach and unity in the spirit of Matthew 
25:35-40. 
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NOTE E – NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS - TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED ASSETS 
 
CATHRYN W. WRIGHT BEQUEST 
In 2002 the Synod received a bequest from Cathryn W. Wright in the amount of $590,000.  Additional contributions 
which are also restricted for lay ministries have been added to this fund over the years. Consistent with Mrs. Wright’s 
direction that the bequest be used for caring lay ministries, the Synod Council has committed the funds to Lay Ministry 
Training.  The following summarizes the activity in the fund during the year: 
 
 Fund Balance, January 31, 2021 $ 662,916  
 Investment Income 10,449 
 Lay Ministry Training                                                    (2,275) 
 Fund Balance, January 31, 2022  $ 671,090 
 
NOTE F – BORROWINGS BETWEEN OPERATING FUND, DESIGNATED FUNDS, AND TEMPORARILY 
RESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
At January 31, 2022, the Unrestricted, Designated, Temporarily Restricted and Permanently Restricted Net Assets have 
inter-fund receivables and payables, as presented on the Statement of Financial Position.  The receivables and payables 
are primarily attributable to transfers and re-allocations of funds during the year, not fully re-allocated in the related 
investments. 
  
NOTE G – RETIREMENT PLAN 
 
The Synod participates in a defined contribution retirement plan with Portico Benefit Services, formerly the Board of 
Pensions of the ELCA.  The plan covers substantially all employees, and contributions are immediately fully vested and 
funded.  The Synod’s total contribution to the plan was $82,849 for the year ended January 31, 2022.    
 
NOTE H – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
In June 2017, the Synod entered into a 60 month lease for a Ricoh CV4504ex Color Laser Multifunction Printer.  The 
lease calls for monthly payments of $682.16.  The lease permits the lessor to increase the monthly payment by as much as 
15% per year.  Since this lease is accounted for as an operating lease, payments on the lease which total $7,352 were 
expensed in the year ended January 31, 2022.  In July of 2021, the Synod entered into a new copier lease.  As part of the 
new agreement, the Synod received $8,185.80 to pay off the old lease.  Since the Synod was not allowed to pay off the old 
lease immediately, it still remains on the books.  The remaining amount to satisfy the old lease is $4,092.96 as of January 
31, 2022. The Synod’s future monthly payment obligations under the lease are stated at the current monthly payment 
amount with $3,411 remaining for the year ending January 31, 2023. 
 
In July 2021, the Synod entered into a 63 month lease for a Kyocera TASKalfa 4053 ci Copier.  The lease calls for 
monthly payments of $461.85.  Since this lease is accounted for as an operating lease, payments on the lease which total 
$2,853 were expensed in the year ended January 31, 2022.  The Synod’s future monthly payment obligations under the 
lease are stated at the current monthly payment amount, as follows: 
 
 Year Ending Amount 
 January 31, 2023  $  5,542 
 January 31, 2024 5,542 
 January 31, 2025 5,542 
 January 31, 2026 5,542 
 January 31, 2027     4,157 
  $ 26,325 
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NOTE H – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
In August 2020, the Synod entered into a 60 month shared property lease of church property for a specific purpose at 
specific times. The lease calls for monthly payments of $400 the first two years and then $1000 a month for the 
subsequent three years.  Since this is accounted for as an operating lease, payments on the lease which total $4,800 were 
expensed in the year ended January 31, 2022.  The Synod’s future monthly payment obligations under the lease are stated 
at the current monthly payment amount, as follows: 
 
 Year Ending Amount 
 January 31, 2023     $ 7,200 
 January 31, 2024     12,000 
 January 31, 2025                                        12,000 
 January 31, 2026     8,000 
  $ 39,200 
 
There is a gain contingency of approximately $750,000 as Pacifica has entered into a lawsuit regarding the transfer of 
another Church’s assets.  There is also a counter claim of $30,000 by the defendant for monies that the Synod previously 
collected on behalf of the church.  The parties have currently reached a Memorandum of Understanding to continue 
negotiations to finalize a complete resolution of the matter. Negotiations include the potential of the Synod to keep the 
church open and active. If a resolution is not agreed upon, it will be decided by the Court in August. 
 
NOTE I – DISBANDED CHURCHES 
 
During the year ended January 2022, there was one church disbanded that had a significant impact upon the income of the 
financial statements. 
 
In October of 2020, the property of Lutheran Church of the Master, La Habra was sold for $4,200,000.  The Synod 
received cash proceeds of $3,972,868 from the sale. 
 
 
NOTE J – EVALUATION OF SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 5, 2022, which is the date the financial statements were available to 
be used.  
 
On March 29, 2022, the Synod voted to receive the assets of Hope Lutheran Church, Riverside into Synodical 
Administration.  This church had voted to close on January 9, 2022.   The Synod plans to put the property up for sale.  The 
value of the property is estimated between $2.7 and $2.9 million.  The listing agreement is for $3.3 million but it will 
require a unique buyer.  The total liabilities net of cash are estimated near $50,000. 
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Without With 

Donor Donor

Restrictions Restrictions

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

Operating Fund Balance (Deficit) 3,895,649$         

Property Fund

Furniture and Fixtures 3,800$                 

Office Equipment 29,974                 

Center for Mission and Learning

Land 1,236,905           

Building 1,930,264           

Furniture, Equipment, and Other 411,412              

3,612,355           

Less Accumulated Depreciation (1,122,501)          

Total Property Fund 2,489,854           

Designated Funds - See Supplemental Schedule 2 6,566,226           

Total Net Assets Without Restrictions 12,951,729$       

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions
Temporarily Restricted Net Assets - See Supplemental Schedule 3 963,288$            
Permanently Restricted Net Assets - See Note D for additional details

Warner Trust Fund 155,573$            
Matthew 25 Fund 100,000              

255,573              
Net Assets With Restrictions 1,218,861
Less Liabilities 380
Total Net Assets With Restrictions 1,218,481$         

January 31, 2022

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE 1
SCHEDULE OF NET ASSETS

LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA
PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
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Net assets without donor restrictions which have been designated by Synod Council consist of the following:

Agape House 1,715,525$             

Agape House Building Project -                          

Assembly Fund Carryover 34,988                    

Atonement 88,789                    

ATTB Cong Dev & Legacy Salary -                          

Bishop's Transition 152,254                  

Bishop's Transition - Vestments 4,060                      

Calvary, Santa Ana 32,084                    

CLC Legacy - Pacifica Synod 252,265                  

CLC Legacy - Pending 443,162                  

Continuing Education - Synod Clergy and Staff 9,448                      

Coop Candidacy Comm 12,971                    

Facilities Renewal 5,626                      

GEM (POP) 181,953                  

Latino / Hispanic Ministry 426,049                  

Matthew 25 (POP) 209,684                  

Pacifica Mission Fund 1,917,161               

Palm Springs Mission Start 2,124                      

Peace, San Diego 490,650                  

RL Miller (POP) 20,297                    

Synodical Administration 493,400                  

Taiwanese Ministry Fund 46,764                    

Warner TR (POP) 26,972                    

6,566,226$             

PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE 2
SCHEDULE OF NET ASSETS WITHOUT DONOR RESTRICTIONS

January 31, 2022
DESIGNATED FUNDS
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Anti-Racism Training 447                         
Asian Ministry Coordinator 2,045                      

Bilingual Retreat (3,709)                     

Bishop's Discretionary Fund 6,853                      

Building Capacity for Sustain Ministry 7,044                      

Cathryn Wright Trust 671,091                  

Church of Dream Builders Anaheim (1,391)                     

Coaching Ministry 53                           

Companion Synod Program 7,787                      

COVID-19 Response Fund Grants 2,065                      
Day of Theological Reflection 505                         

Director of Evangelical Mission 2,315                      

ELCA AMMPARO 4,000                      

ELCA Coach Launch 2019 500                         

ELCA YG 2018 Synod Day Director 250                         

Emergency 1,700                      

Ethiopian Ev Chrch-Mekane Yesus 11,103                    

Financial Workshops 408                         

Finck GEM Distribution Fund 3,047                      

First Call Theological Education 13,282                    

ILERT 946                         

Imanuel Indonesian-Los Alamitos 1,800                      

International Companion Program 2,144                      

Luth Office of Public Policy 2,571                      

Matthew 25 Distribution Fund 10,992                    

New Mission Development Endowment 51,359                    

Oxford Back / Psych. Evaluation 1,207                      

Palm Springs Mission Start (7,997)                     

Portico 1% Wellness Award 16,240                    

Professional Leader's Conference 3,435                      

R.L.Miller Scholarship Fund 34,499                    
Raincross Mission Commitment 1,300                      

Rev Laurie Line Memorial Scholarship 34,933                    

Ricoh Copier Lease 4,093                      

Safe Boundaries Workshop 2,723                      
Secretaries/Admin Retreat 50                           
Synod Mission Cong 2017-2018 417                         

Synod Youth Team/LYO Events 983                         

Synodical Mission Funding 7,268                      

Synodical Training 1,414                      

TEEM Clinical Training 1,578                      

The Table / South OC New Start (6,184)                     

Valley Luth Retirement Distrib 17,410                    

Warner Trust Income 49,229                    

Youth Leadership Training Event 1,483                      

963,288$                

Temporarily restricted funds with negative balances have pending funding which will restore the balances.

PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE 3

January 31, 2022

SCHEDULE OF NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
TEMPORARILY RESTRICTED FUNDS
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Paid with Total

Temp Released Paid with Paid with

Restricted Shared from Undesignated Designated Total

Funds Ministry Restrictions Funds Funds Expenses
General Administration

Contract Services -$                 -$                 -$                 34,800$           -$                 34,800$           
Depreciation -                   -                   -                   53,061             -                   53,061             
Equipment Lease -                   -                   -                   11,499             -                   11,499             
Hospitality -                   -                   -                   40                    -                   40                    
Insurance -                   -                   -                   9,661               -                   9,661               
Legal and Professional Services -                   -                   -                   19,926             2,820               22,746             
Occupancy and Utilities -                   16,000             16,000             63,979             -                   79,979             
Office Expense -                   -                   -                   2,722               500                  3,222               
Professional Expense -                   4,302               4,302               151                  -                   4,453               
Shipping and Postage -                   -                   -                   1,077               -                   1,077               
Supplies and Materials -                   -                   -                   1,349               -                   1,349               

-                   20,302             20,302             198,265           3,320               221,887           

Personnel
Salaries -                   340,959           340,959           508,035           -                   848,994           
Continuing Education -                   -                   -                   2,520               (981)                 1,539               
Payroll Taxes -                   1,224               1,224               12,785             -                   14,009             
Pension, Medical and Disability -                   83,732             83,732             107,771           -                   191,503           
Worker's Compensation -                   -                   -                   4,630               -                   4,630               

-                   425,915           425,915           635,741           (981)                 1,060,675        

Leadership, Support and Program
Ministry Teams -                   -                   -                   6,439               (3,000)              3,439               
Region II Support 1,500               -                   1,500               2,500               -                   4,000               
Travel 657                  2,584               3,241               16,911             -                   20,152             

2,157               2,584               4,741               25,850             (3,000)              27,591             

Other Program Expenses
Financial Support to ELCA -                   -                   -                   651,331           -                   651,331           
Financial Support to Institutions 5,704               -                   5,704               99,551             -                   105,255           
Designated Gifts from Disbanded -                   -                   -                   405,582           -                   405,582           

Churches
Assembly Expenses -                   -                   -                   -                   18,843             18,843             
Conferences and Workshops 56,190             -                   56,190             -                   1,100               57,290             
DEM Expenses 360                  -                   360                  -                   -                   360                  
Grants 71,548             162,997           234,545           -                   951,600           1,186,145        
Shared Ministry Expenses 7,360               -                   7,360               -                   356,788           364,148           
Other Congregation Expenses -                   25,063             25,063             -                   5,817               30,880             
ELCA DMU Grant for Staff - DEM 116,348           (116,348)          -                   -                   

141,162           188,060           445,570           1,040,116        1,334,148        2,819,834        

Total Expenses 143,319$         636,861$         896,528$         1,899,972$       1,333,487$       4,129,987$       

PACIFICA SYNOD OF THE EVANGELICAL
LUTHERAN CHURCH IN AMERICA

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE 4
SCHEDULE OF EXPENSES BY FUNDING SOURCE

Year Ended January 31, 2022

Without Donor RestrictionsWith Donor Restrictions
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NOMINATIONS 
For Pacifica Synod Council and Mission Funds Committee 

 
Nominees on pages 4-2 through 4-3 will be voted on by every voting member of the assembly. 
 
Nominees on pages 4-4 through 4-6 for the Mission Funds Committee will be voted on by every 
voting member of the assembly.  There are 8 nominees and 5 open positions.  The 5 nominees 
with the most votes will be elected. 
 
Nominee on page 4-7 will be voted on by Orange County voting members only. 
Nominee on page 4-8 will be voted on by Hawaii voting members only. 
Nominees on pages 4-9 through 4-10 will be voted on by San Diego voting members only. 
Nominees on page 4-11 will be voted on by Inland Empire voting members only. 
(Incumbent marked with asterix*) 
 
 
 
Nominations for any position can be made from the floor by obtaining a form from the 
Secretary. Ten voting members’ signatures are required for an individual to be nominated. If 
you are making a nomination for an “Area Representative” position, the 10 signatures must be 
from that “area.”  Nominations are valid only if prior to the nominations being closed, the 
nominee has, either directly or indirectly, indicated her/his willingness to serve if elected.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Voting for all positions will be done electronically using voting machines 
provided by Quick Tally.  Instructions on voting and practice sessions will be 

provided during the assembly. 
 

While a sample ballot is provided at the end of this section, on pages 4-12, 
voting will be done electronically. 

 



 4 - 2 

NOMINEES FOR SYNOD COUNCIL, SECRETARY 
4 YEAR TERM 

 
 

Kathy Hartl  **incumbent** 

Christ Lutheran Church, San Clemente, CA  
Saddleback Conference  
Occupation: Writer, Self-Employed 
Having spent many years in relationship with God outside of 
organized religion, I found myself, as a queer person, needing 
to be safely in community with others. I found a home at 
Christ Lutheran Church in San Clemente. 
Here are three of the gifts I bring:  
1. Congregational experience at CLC beginning as a person 

afraid to step foot in the church through that of a Congregational President who led through 
the call process in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
2. The perspective of one new to the Pacifica Synod and the ELCA who believes that church is 
not a building, and the future of our work lies in engaging those in need - spiritually, 
emotionally and physically - where they are. 
3. Commitment to further educating myself about racism and continuing anti-racism work 
within Pacifica Synod.   
 

 
 
 
 

NOMINEES FOR SYNOD COUNCIL, TREASURER 
No nominees were received for the position of Treasure. According to the Pacifica Synod 
Constitution, the current treasurer will continue to serve until a successor is appointed.  
(S8.51.c) 
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NOMINEES FOR SYNOD COUNCIL, PERSON OF 
COLOR/PRIMARY LANGUAGE OTHER THAN ENGLISH 

1 YEAR TERM 
 
 

Rev. Maria Santa Cruz **incumbent** 

Our Savior’s Lutheran Church, San Diego 
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Pastor, Our Savior’s, San Diego 
 
The three gifts I will bring to this position are: 
My ability to translate from one language to another.  
My ability to understand two cultures. 
My ability to share my experience of working in one 
congregation with two expressions.  
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NOMINEES FOR MISSION FUNDS COMMITTEE 
Vote for 5 

 

 

John Bunge  
Faith Lutheran Church, Yucaipa  
Raincross Conference 
Occupation: Pastor at Faith, Yucaipa   
Experience: I have been the second pastor of two different mission starts 
and so I am aware of the challenges of starting a new mission. 
Fundraising: As Pastor of Cross and Crown in Rancho Cucamonga, 

significant funds were raised to assist us and other churches with property debts. 
Location: I am contracted currently with Faith Lutheran in Yucaipa and live in the Beaumont 
area where a new mission start is under consideration. 
 
 

Paul Coulter **incumbent** 
Lutheran Church of the Resurrection, Huntington Beach 
Son & Surf Conference 
Occupation: Retired 
I previously served on church councils, Pacifica Synod Council and 
Executive Committee and am currently chairperson of my church’s Mission 
Endowment Fund. I enjoy serving and working cooperatively in a variety of 

capacities with other like-minded servants of Christ. I have been blessed with my family, friends 
and church family and can share God’s bounty by using my spiritual gifts in many different 
ways.  

 
 

Jonathan Doolittle **incumbent** 
Clairemont Lutheran Church, San Diego 
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Pastor, Clairemont, San Diego   
1. Experience as Chair of Mission Fund Committee for 3 years and 
pastor in Pacifica for over 25 years. 

2. Christ centered and mission minded for the use of synod funds. 
3. Excited to find new ways to share the Gospel, and ready to explore how to best renew our 
congregations. 
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James Grutkowski **incumbent** 
St. Peter’s by the Sea, San Diego 
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Retired 
Experience and knowledge in the mission and workings of Mission 
Funds Committee – Secretary for the prior three years. 
Work well with other people – church council member numerous times 
and president twice. 
Commitment to helping others exclusive of Mission Funds 

 

 
 

John Lundblad 
Incarnation Lutheran Church, Poway  
Harvest Conference 
Occupation: Retired   
1. Pastoral experience in a variety of congregational settings, 
including seven years in overseas work and four years in a dual-
parish call. 
2. Ten years experience in municipal government evaluating 

applications for federal community development funds and managing grant awards to non-
profit organizations. 
3. Ten years as a board member for a non-profit organization operating five child development 
centers for children of low- and very low-income families. 
 
 

 

Curt Spiller **incumbent** 
King of Kings Lutheran Church, Oceanside 
Harvest Conference 
Occupation: Covid-19 Case Investigator, County of SD 
1. I bring the gift of knowing that I am a SERVANT leader. Each position 
that I’ve held in my congregation (from being Congregation President 
several times to being Youth Ministry Coordinator, to pinch-hitting for 
our janitor when she had surgery), I know that in that job I am there to 
serve Christ and to serve the people of the congregation. 

2. I bring the gift of empathy. I have the ability to understand and share the feelings of others. 
This allows me to get along with people who are not like me.  
3. I bring the gift of humility. I am a follower of Christ and trust in the wisdom and salvation of 
God. 
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Kent Tuohino 
Trinity Lutheran Church, Riverside  
Raincross Conference 
Occupation: Pastor, Trinity, Riverside   
I am a native Californian who has served as a pastor for more than 30 
years. I have a passion for supporting the mission and ministries of 
the church, especially to strengthen the work of our congregations 

and reach out with the love of Christ. I enjoy working with others to make decisions that will 
promote good stewardship of the funds available for ministry. 
 
 
 

Sheila Wenzel **incumbent** 
Lutheran Church of the Resurrection, Huntington 
Beach 
Son & Surf Conference 
Occupation: Retired 
Leadership: Former Pacifica Synod Council Vice-President and Synod 
Council Secretary; former chair of the Mission Fund Committee; 

served on my local Church Council including as Vice-President and Council President; Lutheran 
Social Services of Southern California Board Member/Executive Committee; past president of 
WELCA at the local level; served on the ELCA Board for Social Ministries. 
Vision: To assist in discernment and decisions regarding good stewardship of funds provided for 
mission support and outreach, as well as transformation and re-development of our current 
congregations. 
Personal: It is a gift to serve. 
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ORANGE COUNTY AREA VOTING MEMBERS ONLY 
  

SYNOD COUNCIL, ORANGE COUNTY AREA: LAY, ANY GENDER (3 YEAR TERM) 
 

Sarah Tees 
St. Paul Lutheran Church, Fullerton  
Rejoice Conference 
 

As a Lay Leader I bring significant experience having served on Church 
Council as Lay Minister for two years, currently as Stephen Leader for 
five years. Serving also on the NOC Stephen Leader Network, 
Stewardship, Evangelism, Confirmation and Health Ministry Teams. As a 
Coach for Pacifica Synod, I have helped lead the online monthly 
gathering, Coaching for all Seasons. I have also partnered with Jim Tyler 
to host the month gathering; The People’s Roundtable, facilitating 

sensitive conversations around white supremacy and racism. I had the privilege of attending the 
Undoing Racism Workshop in the fall and have since joined the Synod’s Anti-Racism Team. 
Through my professional training as a Coach for the ELCA, and as a Stephen Leader of St. Paul 
and the North Orange County Stephen Leader Network; I have gained experience collaborating 
with other faith communities and cultivating partnerships while deepening my commitment to 
Christ-centered care. Thank you for your consideration. 
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HAWAII VOTING MEMBERS ONLY 
 

 
SYNOD COUNCIL, HAWAII AREA, CLERGY MALE (3 YEAR TERM) 
 

Rev. Jeffrey Lilley **incumbent** 
Lutheran Church of Honolulu 
Hukilau Conference 
Occupation: Pastor, Lutheran Church of Honolulu  
 

Three gifts I bring to the position are: 
Organization 
Ability to listen, analyze, and make decisions 
Compassion 
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SAN DIEGO AREA VOTING MEMBERS ONLY 
 
SYNOD COUNCIL, SAN DIEGO AREA, LAY MALE (3 YEAR TERM) 

 

Jeff Cours **incumbent**  
St. Peter’s by the Sea, San Diego  
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Chief Technology Officer at Stored Value Cards 
 

 Jeff is an engineer and an attorney. He brings experience to this Synod 
Council position, having served on the Council, from 2012 through 2018 
and from 2019 to present. He has also served on the Constitution and 

Resolutions committees and was heavily involved in the ELCA Malaria Campaign and the 
synod’s Walking Into the Future Together Initiative.  
 

Frank DeLouise 
First Lutheran Church, San Diego 
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Retired Nurse 
 

Three gifts I bring to this position: 
Faithfulness 
Commitment 
Organization 

 
 

Curt Spiller 
King of Kings Lutheran Church, Oceanside 
Harvest Conference 
Occupation: Covid-19 Case Investigator, County of SD 
 

1. I bring the gift of knowing that I am a SERVANT leader. Each position 
that I’ve held in my congregation (from being Congregation President 
several times to being Youth Ministry Coordinator, to pinch-hitting for 
our janitor when she had surgery), I know that in that job I am there to 

serve Christ and to serve the people of the congregation. 
2. I bring the gift of empathy. I have the ability to understand and share the feelings of others. 
This allows me to get along with people who are not like me.  
3. I bring the gift of humility. I am a follower of Christ and trust in the wisdom and salvation of 
God. 
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SAN DIEGO AREA VOTING MEMBERS ONLY 
 
SYNOD COUNCIL, SAN DIEGO AREA, LAY FEMALE (3 YEAR TERM) 
 

 

Stephanie Jordan 
Shepherd of the Valley, La Mesa  
East San Diego Conference 
Occupation:  
 

 Three gifts I bring to the position are a positive attitude, a love of service, 
and a willingness to listen and learn. 
 

 
 

 

Maria Guadalupe Adame Manriquez 
Our Savior’s Lutheran Church, San Diego  
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Cashier at El Pollo Loco 
 

 The three gifts I bring to the position are: My ability to speak two 
languages. I’m well organized. I work with groups very good. 
 
 

 
 

Marissa Valentán 
Clairemont Lutheran Church, San Diego  
West San Diego Conference 
Occupation: Teacher at Sherman Elementary 
 

 Three gifts I bring to the position are my honesty, my faith and love for 
others and my good and fair judgment. 
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INLAND EMPIRE VOTING MEMBERS ONLY 
 
SYNOD COUNCIL, INLAND EMPIRE, LAY MALE (3 YEAR TERM) 
 

Larry Dodson  
Trinity Lutheran Church, Riverside   
Raincross Conference  
Occupation: Retired  
Three gifts that I would bring are my strong faith, desire to love and 
serve others, and experience working with diverse populations in my 
career with the Los Angeles County Probation Department and in the 
church. I served on the church council at Redeemer Lutheran Church in 
Rowland Heights where I initiated the sponsorship of a Vietnamese 
refuge family in 1979. I have served on church council at Hope in 
Riverside. For more than thirty years I have been part of social concerns 

ministries including the establishment of a food pantry. For several years I have been on the 
policy council of the Lutheran Office of Public Policy, California. 

 
 

Larry Anderson 
First Lutheran Church, Redlands 
Big Bear Conference 
Occupation: Retired  
I would bring a number of years of experience on church councils 
that have served on since 1983 both in the Inland Empire and when 
I resided for a number of years on the Central Coast of California. 
Organizing activities on Worship & Music Teams, as well as in 
Education/Learning including two church anniversaries, one for a 
100th Anniversary and one for a 35th Anniversary. Bringing 
knowledge of how churches are run from having been a member of 

a number of congregations where there are some differences but a lot the same. Now bringing 
these experiences to a higher Synodical Level. 

 
SYNOD COUNCIL, INLAND EMPIRE, LAY FEMALE (3 YEAR TERM) 
 

Brenda Lussier 
Trinity Lutheran Church, Riverside 
Raincross Conference  
Three gifts I bring to the position are: Strong organizational 
knowledge including risk management, human resources and 
financial; Leadership skills; and Focus on community and growth in 
the church and a willingness to step up and lead or step back and 
follow. 
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SYNOD WIDE BALLOT 2022 
ALL VOTING MEMBERS VOTE ON THESE POSITIONS 

 
SYNOD COUNCIL 
 
SECRETARY 
4 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Kathy Hartl **incumbent** 
 
 
 
PERSON OF COLOR/PRIMARY 
LANGUAGE OTHER THAN ENGLISH 
2 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Maria Santa Cruz **incumbent** 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MISSION FUNDS COMMITTEE 
Vote for 5 
 
 

¨ John Bunge  
 

¨ Paul Coulter **incumbent** 
 

¨ Jonathan Doolittle **incumbent** 
 

¨ James Grutkowski **incumbent** 
 

¨ John Lundblad 
 

¨ Curt Spiller **incumbent** 
 

¨ Kent Tuohino 
 

¨ Sheila Wenzel **incumbent** 
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ORANGE COUNTY 
AREA BALLOT 
VOTED ON BY: Saddleback, Son & Surf, 
Rejoice Conferences 

 
 

SYNOD COUNCIL 
 
LAY FEMALE 
3 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Sarah Tees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

HAWAII BALLOT 
VOTED ON BY: Hukilau Conference 
 
 
 
 
SYNOD COUNCIL 
 
CLERGY MALE 
3 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Jeffrey Lilley 
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SAN DIEGO AREA 
BALLOT 
VOTED ON BY: East San Diego, West San 
Diego, Harvest Conferences 

 
 

SYNOD COUNCIL 
 
LAY MALE 
3 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Jeff Cours **incumbent** 
 

¨ Frank DeLouise 
 

¨ Curt Spiller 
 
 
 
 
LAY FEMALE 
3 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Stephanie Jordan 
 

¨ Maria Guadalupe Adame Manriquez 
 

¨ Marissa Valentán 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

INLAND EMPIRE 
BALLOT 
VOTED ON BY: Raincross, Big Bear 
Conferences 
 
 
SYNOD COUNCIL 
 
LAY MALE 
3 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Larry Dodson 
 

¨ Larry Anderson 
 
 
LAY FEMALE 
3 YEAR TERM, Vote for 1 
 

¨ Brenda Lussier 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
“And [Jesus] said to them, “Go into all the world and proclaim the good news to all creation” 
(Mark 16:15). 
 
 
Dear siblings in Christ, 
When I talk about our goal of engaging a million new, young, diverse people I get asked a lot, 
“I’m not new, young, or diverse. Am I not important to the church anymore?” My answer is 
always the same, “You’ve never been more important.”  
 
When we committed to our new goal, we identified our purpose as “Activate each of us so 
more people know the way of Jesus and discover community, justice and love.” This goal does 
not happen without the people who are already part of this church. Theresa of Avila talked 
about the church as the hands and feet of Christ in the world, the very way God will work to 
engage new people. 
 
Those aren’t easy things to do and certainly not ones that only a few of us can do alone. God 
has blessed us with so many resources to do this work: nearly 3.6 million people, 65 synods, 
and 350 CWO staff, plus colleges, universities, seminaries, social ministry organizations, and 
other affiliated organizations, and our separately incorporated ministries. We truly are a church 
of abundance.  
 
So, what can you do right now? 

• Pray. For our church. For one another. For those whom we have yet to meet.   
• Find time to listen to people who are new to the ELCA, young, and/or diverse. Share the 

story of Jesus with them.  
 
Along the way, don’t forget: You are important.   
 
Grace and peace, 
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Bishop’s Report 

2022 Synod Assembly 

 

For the Son of God, Jesus Christ, whom we proclaimed among you, Silvanus and Timothy and I, was not 

"Yes and No"; but in him it is always "Yes." For in him every one of God's promises is a "Yes." 

          2 Corinthians 1:19-20a 

Dear voting members of the 2022 Pacifica Synod Assembly, 

 

In these words from 2 Corinthians, Paul reminds the congregation in Corinth that our God is a God who 

says “yes” to us, “yes” to making us God’s children, “yes” to giving us life and salvation, “yes” to 

empowering us to stand for justice and peace in the world. Six years ago, I responded to the “yes” Christ 

Jesus said to me in my baptism by saying “yes” to allowing my name to go forward as a candidate for 

Bishop. Throughout these past six years, I have found myself hearing Christ’s “yes” through the people 

of the Pacifica Synod, through your faithfulness, your prayers, and your support. It has been an honor to 

serve as your bishop. Thank you for the opportunity to serve in this call. 

 

Those of you who were in attendance when I was elected may remember that, in the speech I made 

before the final vote for bishop, I said “Let’s do church together.” For the past six years, Synod Council, 

the staff of the Office of the Bishop, the Strategic Planning Team, and I have strived to partner with you 

in our work of sharing the gospel. We put together a mission statement: Together in Christ, we equip, 

accompany, and serve boldly, so all may experience God’s boundless grace. We adopted a strategic plan 

with four major missional result areas: Strengthen support for congregational ministry, Support resilient 

and faithful leaders, Deepen diversity and inclusion, and Reshape the Pacifica Synod for sustainable 

ministry. Since we last met as an online Assembly in 2021, your Synod Council, the staff of the Office of 

the Bishop, and I have been working the plan. 

 

In the past two years, it has been particularly challenging to do church together, mainly because the 

pandemic did not allow us to be together in person. I asked that each congregation follow local public 

health protocols, and I continue to make that request as we seek to protect our neighbors and ourselves 

from COVID19. But despite the pandemic, both the Office of the Bishop and Pacifica congregations 

found ways to do church together. I have met regularly with Deans, Congregation Presidents, Synod 

Council, Executive Committee, and Office of the Bishop staff by Zoom and other electronic means 

throughout the past two years. Our congregations have worshipped together, studied the word 

together, conducted annual and Church Council meetings together, joined in fellowship and support 

together, using technology. And now that we are beginning to emerge from the pandemic, the Office of 

the Bishop is continuing to do much of our business electronically. This enables us to save money on 

travel expenses while still providing services to our congregations, institutions, and agencies. 

 

We have used electronic means to move forward the strategic plan. The Synod has strengthened 

support for congregational ministry by offering technology grants, supplying training for a curriculum 

written by Pastor Jennifer Garcia (First, Fullerton) to help our people learn to share their personal 

experiences of God’s presence and grace, and providing Growing Young workshops led by Terri 

Robertson and Deacon Mindy Bugaj (Incarnation, Poway) to help congregations strengthen their 

outreach to youth and young adults. We’ve supported resilient and faithful leaders by working with the 

Deans, equipping congregational presidents, providing both Theoasis (our annual conference for 

rostered and other professional leaders) and our annual Day of Theological Reflection, and guiding lay 
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leaders in understanding their congregation’s constitution. We’ve sought to deepen diversity and 

inclusion by providing anti-racism training, study and discussion groups, and through the work of our 

Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion team. We continue to work on reshaping the Pacifica Synod for 

sustainable ministry by providing stewardship resources, particularly through the Ask, Thank, Tell 

workshop. We have striven to follow the plan, so that our congregations and leaders might have all that 

is needed to help us proclaim the gospel in the 21st century. 

 

We were able to add a staff member to the Office of the Bishop who does not live in California. Pastor JP 

Sabbithi, who lives on Oahu, accepted a ¼ time position as Assistant to the Bishop for Leadership 

Development last summer. He joins our weekly staff meetings the same way those of us in California 

join them—via Zoom. He represents the Office of the Bishop, in coordination with the Dean of the 

Hukilau Conference, with the congregations in Hawai’i. He also shepherds our First Call Theological 

Education and Candidacy ministries. Pastor Terry Tuvey Allen’s job title changed to Assistant to the 

Bishop for Mobility and Congregational Transition. She works not only with congregations looking for a 

new pastor, but also with congregations undergoing other sorts of transition. I am thankful Pastor JP and 

Pastor Terry said “yes” to this new staffing configuration, so that our congregations might hear God’s 

“yes” through our work.  

 

I told last year’s Assembly that I was in a discernment process to determine if I should allow my name to 

go forward for a second term as Bishop. After much prayer and conversation with colleagues, family, 

and friends, I felt God saying a different “yes” this time, a “yes” to the decision not to allow my name to 

go forward, a “yes” to leave this office and be open to what God has in store for me next. I informed the 

Synod of this in September, and since that time I have been working with staff and the Synod Council to 

provide for a smooth transition to a new bishop. As part of that process, Synod Council in March of this 

year adopted a new sexual misconduct policy that conforms with current ELCA standards. A 

subcommittee of Synod Council worked to update our constitution and will give to my successor a 

document with recommended changes. Should my successor and the Synod Council elected at this 

Assembly agree with these constitutional changes, they could be adopted at next year’s Assembly. The 

personnel handbook is being updated to allow the new bishop more flexibility in making staffing 

decisions during their first six months in office. Former Pacifica Bishop Murray Finck and I are putting 

together a document with background information about our congregations that we both believe will be 

helpful to a newly elected bishop. I have been praying daily for God to guide the synod in electing the 

right person to serve as bishop for the next six years. If you are reading this report prior to the Assembly, 

I would ask that you join with me in this prayer. 

 

As I look back on my tenure, I would encourage you to continue doing the following: preach the gospel, 

love one another, and serve your neighbor. At the height of the pandemic, I spent a lot of time 

worshipping with many of our congregations online. At Theoasis this last fall, I told the rostered leaders 

that if I could change one thing, it would be that Pacifica congregations would hear a more robust 

preaching of the gospel as part of our worship services. For the proclamation of the gospel, God has to 

be the subject of each sentence of gospel that is spoken. The gospel tells us that God loves us, Jesus died 

for us, the Holy Spirit lives in and through us. The gospel reminds us that God saves us by grace through 

faith apart from works of the law. The gospel frees us for service, because only when we know we are 

loved and cared for can we lift our eyes to love and care for others. I share this insight with you, good lay 

voting members of the Pacifica synod, because you also are called to proclaim the gospel. Your pastors 

and deacons, as well as your fellow church members, need to hear regularly that God is with us and will 
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never let us go. Let us be diligent in proclaiming the gospel to one another so that we are reminded of 

God’s presence and love. 

 

One outcome of the gospel is we find ourselves called to love one another. Nothing tears down a church 

more quickly than when there are warring factions within a congregation and neither side will listen to 

the other. In our increasingly divided world, one way we can show love for one another is by listening 

respectfully to people with whom we may disagree politically or philosophically. Strengthening diversity 

includes allowing people with different opinions to share their thoughts, engaging in reasonable 

discussions, and avoiding rancorous arguments. But loving one another is about more than listening to 

each other. It is also about being open to new people. I hear a lot of congregations these days mourning 

the folks who were faithful prior to the pandemic but who have not yet returned to church. I encourage 

you all to keep your eyes open for those who are brand new, whom you have not seen before. You may 

learn more about your future mission by paying attention to the new people God brings your way than 

by looking for those who are slow to return. 

 

We are also called to serve our neighbor. The church does not proclaim the gospel of God’s 

unconditional love without also doing what it can to make the world a better place. And many neighbors 

need our help these days. Our assembly offering is being split between two organizations that are 

devoted right now to helping refugees and asylum seekers. Lutheran Disaster Response in Eastern 

Europe is helping refugees from Ukraine find hope and help in their present need. Lutheran Immigration 

and Refugee Services is helping to resettle refugees from Afghanistan, Ukraine, and other parts of the 

world, as they make a new life in the United States. We partner with these ministries as a way to serve 

our neighbors. I hope and trust that each congregation is looking actively for ways to make a positive 

difference in their own neighborhood. Pray that God will use you and then keep your eyes open, or try a 

ministry that may fill a need. You’ll be amazed at how God takes what seems like a little and makes it 

enough to serve others in this world. 

 

Finally, thank you for the trust you put in me for the last six years. I am grateful to our staff: Pastor Terry 

Tuvey Allen, Pastor Tom Goellrich, Pastor JP Sabbithi, Terri Robertson, Carol Youngman, and Rachel Line 

serve tirelessly and eagerly, and it has been a joy working with them. Our Synod Council, led by Vice 

President Nicolette Rohr, has done vital and important work this year. Our Deans (Revs. Richard Vevia, 

David Nagler, Laura Ziehl, Linda Brown, Matt Anderson, David Mattson, Jennifer Schultz, Anne-Grethe 

Krogh-Nielsen, and Kathryn Zurcher) meet monthly, doing great work by gathering our conference 

pastors and deacons and making sure I am informed of what is happening in the conferences. I am 

grateful to all. And I am grateful to you, to your congregations, institutions and agencies. Thank you for 

saying “yes” to me when I asked for help or encouraged you in ministry. Thank you for saying “yes” to 

Christ Jesus over and over again as God calls you to worship and service. And thanks be to God for 

saying “yes” to all of us in Jesus Christ, and for filling us with the Holy Spirit that we might continue to 

embody God’s “yes” to the world. 

 

In Christ, 

Rev. Dr. Andrew A. Taylor 

Bishop, Pacifica Synod 
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Pacifica Synod ELCA  
Ministers of Word and Sacrament 
  and Roster Date 
Adachi, Hitoshi 06/26/2010 
Aden, Charles       06/29/1997 
Ajer, Richard      06/07/1985 
Allen, Terry           02/21/1993 
Allen, Nathaniel    02/08/2015 
Allert, Beverly       12/01/1974 
Anderson, Milo 03/27/1977 
Anderson, Mark 08/01/1977 
Anderson, Matthew 03/23/2013 
Anderson, Stephen 03/12/2022 
Awbrey, Steven 08/03/1986 
Baesler , Ronald 04/04/1976 
Barber, David  06/20/1971 
Barrios, Moses 02/02/2019 
Barton, John  04/13/2019 
Bell, Jake  06/16/2001 
Bengtson, William 04/02/1967 
Bentz, Sandra  06/01/2000 
Bieber, Paul  09/23/1990 
Bieghler, Steven 06/07/1987 
Black, Paul  06/08/1975 
Bockelman, Sharon 07/10/2004 
Boye, Karin  12/14/1986 
Brown, Linda  10/22/2011 
Bullock, James  08/11/1963 
Buma, Christine 03/17/1985 
Bunge, John  06/26/1978 
Burke, Dale  08/13/1972 
Cansino, Mark  01/05/1985 
Caudill, Kenneth 06/02/1963 
Chen, Betty  11/22/2009 
Chen, David  12/30/1964 
Chen, Thomas  03/25/1984 
Christenson, Kurt 08/13/1989 
Cole, Daniel  12/03/2000 
Corneliussen, Cheryl 06/16/1991 
Craft, Bruce  05/21/1961 
Crawford, Jerry 06/17/1972 
Dale, Kenneth  06/17/1951 
De La Cruz, Christina 09/04/2021 
Doolittle, Jonathan 07/16/1994 

Duttera, Margaret 06/27/1982 
Edmondson, Timothy 06/10/1990 
Egenes, Jay  02/15/2009 
Egertson, Glen  07/28/2001 
Eichler, Timothy 09/16/1990 
Elliott, Richard  11/25/1962 
Elmer, Lynda  08/03/1997 
Embree, John  08/25/1974 
Erlenbusch, W. Daniel 06/26/1977 
Espeseth, Gloria 09/20/1984 
Fajardo-Perez, Misael 02/16/2014 
Falk, George  06/14/1970 
Finck, Murray  06/29/1975 
Flohr, Anke  05/15/1988 
Fossey, Derek  08/16/2008 
Foxworth, Brian 03/21/2010 
Freiberg, Shane 07/26/2008 
Freistedt, Robert 05/15/1960 
Friedrich, James 08/14/1977 
Fry, Richard  09/14/2012 
Garcia, Jennifer 12/18/2021 
Geikow, Ronald 04/28/1979 
Goellrich, Thomas 06/24/1990 
Gray, M. Laurel 05/28/1956 
Grindberg, Kathryn 02/23/2008 
Hailu, Solomon 10/20/1997 
Hale, James  06/03/1973 
Hall, Elwood  06/22/1977 
Halvorson, Karla 12/15/2007 
Hamada, Yukio 09/16/1979 
Hand, Lawrence 06/13/1982 
Harman, William 01/04/1967 
Hegele, Paul  09/19/1976 
Hendrickson, David 07/16/2016 
Hodgson, David 06/03/1973 
Holtz, Eugene  09/30/1962 
Hong, Hyunho  12/13/2010 
Hormann, Phyllis 07/29/1995 
Jensen, Steven 06/23/1973 
Jiang, Franklin  08/28/1994 
Johnson, Darin 11/22/1997 
Johnson, Donald 05/02/1963 
Jones, Cynthia  07/27/2019 
Jorstad , David  01/05/1986 
Kieffer, David  08/04/1984 
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Kim, Jae-Bum  02/11/2001 
Kings, Marina  09/15/1996 
Knudson, John  07/27/1958 
Kozak, Darryl  07/23/2006 
Kraft, H. Ivor  06/11/1972 
Krogstad, Kim  08/12/1984 
Kumissa, Samuel 11/16/2014 
Kuo, Ying-Chhi  10/13/1963 
Kupka, David  06/01/1966 
Laherty, Dennis 06/05/1975 
Lape, Stephanie 04/12/2015 
Larson, Paul  05/21/1958 
Lee, Simon  03/08/1981 
Licht, Kenneth  06/18/1967 
Lilley, Jeffrey  02/17/1990 
Listug, Cliff  06/19/1966 
Lloyd, Brianna  02/20/2022 
Lloyd, Scottie  08/07/1983 
Lohrmann, Marcus 10/14/2017 
Lohrmann, Rebekkah 02/22/2015 
Lopez, Charles  09/28/1975 
Lubs, Frederick 06/20/1976 
Luehr, Catherine 06/06/2009 
Lund, Kinndlee 02/29/2012 
Lundblad, John 07/27/1969 
Lunn, John  06/07/1990 
Marohn, Karen 04/27/2003 
Martin Lara,   10/19/2008 
Martinson, Diane 08/23/1992 
Martyn, Joel  08/31/2003 
Martyn, Richard 06/13/1976 
Matoush, Joseph 06/06/1974 
Mattson, David 06/26/1987 
McGlynn, Amanda 11/21/2021 
McGlynn, Cole  11/21/2021 
Meeks, Tomas  07/08/1973 
Mehl, Raymond 06/09/1957 
Menke, Wesley 11/30/2014 
Miller, Keith  06/23/1996 
Miller, David  06/07/1970 
Miller, Gary  05/05/1968 
Moffat, Douglas 06/01/1974     
Moody , John  04/15/1972 
Mooney, Robert 10/22/1983 

Moore, Gilbert 08/16/1953 
Myers, Donovan 05/21/1952 
Nagler, David  01/30/1993 
Nelson, Samuel 02/25/2018 
Nelson, Jeffrey 08/25/1985 
Nguyen, Minh-Hanh 08/08/1999 
Nielsen, Anne-Grethe 11/06/1991 
Nordstrand, Patrice 07/28/1978 
Norman, William 08/29/1965 
Olivar, Deogracias 01/23/2011 
Olson, Linda  08/09/1997 
Oltman, Brian  09/30/1990 
Orris, Glenn  06/14/1997 
Parker, Karen  09/10/1978 
Parmeter Dyer, Carole 05/26/2013 
Patten, Julie  05/22/2021 
Patterson, Roger 07/09/1983 
Paxton, Joseph 02/08/2020 
Perry, Steven  06/03/1979 
Peterson, Ruth 10/06/1991 
Pike, James  06/25/2005 
Puccio, Ken  11/13/1977 
Raaen, Daniel  06/26/1994 
Radatz,William 06/06/1971 
Refera, Berhanu 06/12/2016 
Rennegarbe, Ronald 09/09/1979 
Retamoza, Manuel 09/17/2004 
Reynolds, David 05/16/1962 
Rierson, Richard 06/04/1972 
Riggs, Charles  07/28/1974 
Roberts, Marda-Ruth 08/23/1992 
Roessler, James 01/13/1974 
Rollefson, Richard 08/01/1980 
Ronning, Greg  10/29/1988 
Rozen, Lee  11/13/1971 
Rufsvold, Victoria 05/23/1999 
Sabbithi, Jayaprakash 02/08/1988 
Santa Cruz, Maria 01/23/2000 
Scheitlin, Paul  07/22/1979 
Schneider, Michael 03/24/1996 
Schoenrock, James 10/10/1973 
Schowalter, Richard 06/04/1978 
Schultz , Jennifer 08/04/1996 
Severa, Kenneth 06/01/1987 
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Seyb-Stockton, Karla 09/04/1988 
Sharon , Gerald 10/28/2019 
Shaw, Jennifer  01/31/2016 
Sheets, Benjamin 01/20/2008 
Shonk, Ronald  03/20/1967 
Snyder, William 07/10/1977 
Stienstra, Bradley 08/31/1975 
Sumner-Eisenbraun, Sarah 07/01/2007 
Sundry, Charles 05/31/1965 
Sweetman, Sherry 03/18/1979 
Symons, Luther 01/11/1998 
Taylor, Brian  10/29/1978 
Taylor, Andrew 08/10/1986 
Tsui, May  06/20/2006 
Tuohino, Kent  03/06/1988 
Vadis, Bohdan  06/22/2003 
Vevia, Richard  06/26/1981 
Vogelgesang, Linda 05/19/2002 
Volkmann, Edward 06/17/1956 
Wade, Raymond 07/12/1981 
Walker-Thode, Andreas 01/26/1996 
Waltz, Kathy  07/21/1996 
Watland, A. Joris 01/05/1968 
Waworuntu, Robert 12/29/1985 
Wenger, David 08/11/1963 
Wildberger, Karla 10/18/1993 
Winick, Mark  03/12/1978 
Witt, Carl  06/26/1977 
Wolter, Keith  10/21/1984 
Worthing, Carol 07/25/1982 
Zahnow, Jennifer 02/04/2006 
Zarate, J. Ramon 05/18/2013 
Ziehl, Laura  08/30/1997 
Zurcher, Kathryn 07/12/2006 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pacifica Synod ELCA  
Ministers of Word and Service 
  and Roster Date 
Bugaj, Mindy  07/09/2017 
Darrow, Betty  02/13/1966 
Decker, Georgia 06/08/1986 
Deming, Phillip 06/29/1996 
Fisher, Taflin  02/23/2003 
James, Melissa 11/07/2004 
Kieschnick, Melvin 09/09/1950 
Lee, Shirley  02/17/2002 
Lind, Leah  11/30/2008 
Martyn, Barbara 12/09/2001 
Prechel, Lynne  10/28/2007 
Rennegarbe, Paula 05/01/1974 
Schmitt Ajer, Margy 06/15/1996 
Sensmeier, Randall 08/01/1971 
Stohlman, Mary 09/27/1987 
Sumner-Eisenbraun, Kevin 06/21/2009 
Wall, Roberta  08/23/2015 
 
FULL COMMUNION PARTNERS 
INVITATION TO SERVE 
 
Jasmine “Jazzy” Bostock, Episcopal  

Maluhia, Waianae, HI 
 

Maggie Goodwin, Presbyterian  
Salem, Whittier 

 

Gloria Imamura, UCC 
 Prince of Peace, Honolulu 
 

Dave Madsen, Episcopal 
The Welcome Ministry, El Cajon 

 
Lisa Rotchford, Episcopal 

Redeemer, Seal Beach 
 

Diana Simanjuntak, Batak 
 ELCA Batak, Redlands 
 

Mary Tororeiy, Episcopal 
Shepherd of the Desert, Barstow 
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PACIFICA SYNOD CANDIDATES 
 
PACIFICA CANDIDATES ORDAINED SINCE SYNOD ASSEMBLY 2021 
Stephen Anderson   Pastor, LCOS-SOH, San Bernardino 
Anne Knighten    Called to Rocky Mountain Synod  
Amanda McGlynn   Pastor, King of Kings, Oceanside 
Jennifer Garcia    Associate Pastor, First, Fullerton 
 
APPROVED for CALL STATUS/CALLED if known 
Jasmine Waring  WSAC-MDivX/Luther Awaiting Graduation 
 
In Candidacy Process ROSTER/SEMINARY Home Congregation  Internship Site 
ENDORSED 
Jerome Bell  WSAC/Southern LC of Honolulu 
Emily Erisman  WSAC/Wartburg Bethlehem, Encinitas  Redeemer, Hinsdale, IL 
 
ENTRANCED 
Jennifer Barker  WSVC/Wartburg Incarnation, Poway  Shepherd of Life, Lake Elsinore 
Bea Chambers  WSAC-TEEM/PLTS LC of the Desert, Joshua Tree LC of the Desert, Joshua Tree 
Elena Enriquez  WSAC-TEEM/PLTS Clairemont, San Diego  Clairemont, San Diego  
Kendall Jeske  WSAC/Luther  Messiah, Yorba Linda  Peace, Puyallup, WA 
Michelle Kuan-Yang WSAC-TEEM/PLTS Grace Taiwanese Anaheim  Lamb of God Anaheim 
Tim Perlick  WSAC/United  St. Peter, Santa Ana  Crossroads, San Tan Valley, AZ 
Rachel Reeder  WSAC-MDivX/Luther Trinity, Hemet   Trinity, Hemet 
Alicia Saenz  WSAC-TEEM/PLTS St. Mark, Chula Vista  St. Mark, Chula Vista 
Keegan Cheleden* WSAC/PLTS  St. Paul, Fullerton 
Dennis Chernekoff* WSAC/Fuller  Gloria Dei, Dana Point 
Brian Keiser*  WSAC/PLTS  LC of the Holy Trinity, Kailua-Kona 
Jenifer Overy-Brown* WSAC/PLTS  Good Shepherd, Claremont 
Jamie Beaudry  WSVC/Fuller  Mission, Laguna Niguel 
Perla Flores  WSAC/PLTS  Our Savior’s, San Diego 
Brenda Lussier  WSVC/PLTS  Trinity, Riverside 
Daneen Pysz  WSVC/PLTS  Gloria Dei, Dana Point 
Jeffrey Roberts  WSAC/LSTC  Bethlehem, Encinitas 
Jose Sanchez  WSAC-TEEM  First, Ontario 
Ulalei Tausaga  WSAC-TEEM/PLTS Lemon Grove Lutheran 
 
APPLIED/DISCERNING 
Andy Lin  WSVC-TEEM/PLTS Glory, Chula Vista 
Richard Spurlock WSAC/Fuller  St. Paul, Fullerton 
Josiah Canto  WSVC/PLTS  Community, Rancho Santa Margarita 
Josefina Villalpando WSVC/PLTS  Grace, Upland 
Bruce Tuomimen    Cross & Crown, Rancho Cucamonga 
Kevin Foley     Hope, Palm Desert 
Ron Jones 
 
*TRP – Theological Review Panel 
 

Rosters = Word and Sacrament (WSAC); Word and Service (WSVC) 
TEEM = Theological Education for Emerging Ministries 
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Reverend Terry Tuvey Allen 
Assistant to the Bishop Mobility and Transitions 

Grace and peace, 
 Thank you, thank you for my Sabbatical time. I spent time with family and friends, as well as 
some time on my own. It was a wonderful opportunity for renewal and study. Early in my career, serving 
as a chaplain in major trauma centers taught me that from a physical sense we are always in 
“transition.” The cells in our bodies are always changing, our blood is constantly circulating. In fact, if 
transition stops – so do we! I believe that this is also true of institutions, especially our congregations. 
 To that end, I used a portion of my sabbatical time to embrace transition from a variety of 
viewpoints and perspectives. This included consultants and CEOs of major corporations, secular 
leadership gurus, faith partners and church leaders. These resources reiterated that we are living in 
times of accelerated change.  The secular world talks about being responsive amid the changes around 
us. Lifting up leadership that builds and trusts teams that are committed to their mission, aware of their 
assets and challenges, nimble enough to embrace new ideas, putting them into practice, able to listen to 
a variety of voices, and healthy enough to learn from failures.  

In church speak you often hear talk of knowing our mission and ministry … and then we get 
stuck, we become unsure. We know our mission is to share the “good news” but often are lost on how 
to do that authentically in a world of change. In 50 years, we’ve moved from the church being at the 
center of many communities to being a spoke on the wheel. Our congregations have experienced 
change in a variety of ways; people have moved, we’ve aged, younger families are inundated with 
activities, including Sunday mornings. People have a plethora of ways to be involved in their community. 
Rostered leaders, pastors, and deacons, come and go. We both miss them personally and their 
leadership gifts and abilities. I learned from my grandmother that she and my grandfather (a Lutheran 
pastor) at one time made pastoral visits to the congregants in a horse and buggy, then there was a 
horseless buggy, etc. She marveled that she lived to see men walk on the moon. That reaffirms for me 
that the world is always in transition, that change can be healthy and wonderful. We have a choice to 
bemoan it and/or embrace it. These challenges may wear us down and tire us out or open us up to be 
more nimble, willing to try new things, tell God’s story in new mediums, developing relationships that 
will sustain us and our congregations.  

So, there it is, I believe that relationship is one of the keys to fulfilling our mission to share the 
good news of Christ Jesus. That because transition is inevitable and desirable, it is time to be built up as 
the body of Christ strengthening us to do the work of ministry together. And I believe we can rely on the 
Holy Spirit while learning from some CEOs and consultants to encourage, equip, and empower one 
another to embrace new ideas, put them into practice, listen to a variety of voices, and be healthy 
enough to learn from failure. That we can build trusting relationships throughout our congregations, our 
conferences, our synod, and communities. That we have been infused with the Spirit and called to be 
nimble, agile, and confident in our call to share the good news of “God with us.” 

And I won’t leave it there, I have ideas, we have plans and are open to your thoughts about how 
to help one another be rooted in Christ while developing the attitude and the muscle to be strong and 
agile so that together we fulfill our mission and ministry I don’t think I could pray for us any better than 
the Apostle Paul. Ephesians chapter 3: 

 

14 For this reason I kneel before the Father, 15 from whom every family in heaven and on earth derives its name. 16 I 
pray that out of his glorious riches he may strengthen you with power through his Spirit in your inner being, 17 so 
that Christ may dwell in your hearts through faith. And I pray that you, being rooted and established in love, 18 may 
have power, together with all the Lord’s holy people, to grasp how wide and long and high and deep is the love of 
Christ, 19 and to know this love that surpasses knowledge—that you may be filled to the measure of all the fullness 
of God. 20 Now to him who is able to do immeasurably more than all we ask or imagine, according to his power that 
is at work within us, 21 to him be glory in the church and in Christ Jesus throughout all generations, for ever and 
ever! Amen. 
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Annual Report to the Pacifica Synod Assembly 
From 

Rev. Tom Goellrich, DEM/ATTB 
May 2022 

 
++ Worship God ++ Be Transformed ++ Love People ++ Change the World ++ 

 
While we continue to face various headwinds, the resiliency and perseverance of our ministries throughout 
the Pacifica Synod is incredible. As I travel throughout our synod, I am struck by the strength of our rostered 
and lay leaders alongside the people of our congregations and organizations. Each of you are good and faithful 
servants of the Gospel as you share the love of Jesus! 
 
A few highlights of items that I have had the privilege to lead and walk with others in various include: 
 
Ask, Thank, tell – A conversation around stewardship that saw 25+ of our congregation participate in over 2 
sessions.  A shout out to Pastor Kurt Christenson (First, San Diego) who was along my side in the planning of 
the event. 
 
Growing Young – A series of events and conversations that have taken place throughout the past year on how 
our ministries can not only engage young people in our communities and ministries, but also invite young 
people to participate and share in leadership.  A shout out to Deacon Mindy Bugaj (Incarnation, Poway) and 
Terri Robertson in your partnership to help lead these conversations. 
 
Technology Grants – Sixty-Six of our ministries applied and received matching technology grants totaling of 
over $520,000 (Ministry/Synod – 50/50).  Many congregations spent more than their shared piece.  The grant 
intention was to help ministries to bolster their worship and online presence.  A shout out to the Mission 
Funds Team and Synod Council for your implementation and support of this first time ever type of grant. 
 
Coaching for All Seasons – Pacifica Synod Coaching Ministry is an amazing collection of people who have 
provided and facilitated monthly events for our synod. In addition, they are available to work with 
professional and lay leaders alike in their respective ministries. A shout out to all the coaches and Coaching 
Coordinator Deenna Eley for fabulous work. Want to work with a coach?  Check in with Deenna or me and we 
will get you set up! 
 
Anti-Racism Team – A team of people committed to keeping this important topic at the forefront of our synod 
conversations and training. A shout out to Pastor Lara Martin and Pastor Darin Johnson for your leadership! 
 
New Ministries – I begin with one that started in late 2018 in partnership with Hope, Palm Desert, and now 
was received by our Synod Council as the newest congregation in our synod at its March ’22 meeting.  River of 
Hope in Palm Springs is in the final steps (as of this writing) in becoming the newest ELCA Congregation in our 
synod.  A shout out to Hope Lutheran, Palm Desert for their partnership in this journey as well as St. John, 
Palm Desert for their support.  A LOUD shout out to the people of River of Hope and Pastor Tim Edmondson! 
 
Welcome to California Indonesian Ministry, a new Synod Authorized Worship Community, nesting at Cross and 
Crown Lutheran Church in Rancho Cucamonga (Pastor Stephanie Lape).  A shout out to the ministry’s leader, 
Pastor Robert Waworuntu, who also leads Imanuel Indonesian SAWC nested at Bethlehem Lutheran, Los 
Alamitos (Pastor Jennifer Schultz).   
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A new SAWC has been approved at all levels (synod and churchwide) in San Diego on some space leased at the 
Islamic Center (who purchased the former Atonement Lutheran Church – the two properties adjoined each 
other). Our search continues to identify a developer at what is envisioned to be a unique ministry opportunity. 
 
Explorations – Two ministry explorations are in different variations of wrapping up as we look at two new 
locations to develop worshipping communities.  One would be in the Beaumont-Cherry Valley corridor in 
Riverside County.  Beaumont is the fastest growing city (2020/21) in California. A shout out to Pastor Steve 
Anderson who led this exploration. 
 
A second exploration has been studying ministry potential in Hilo, HI.  There are several ELCA Lutherans 
located in the area interested in formalizing a ministry in the area.  A shout out to Pastor Brianna Lloyd who 
has been leading the exploration in Hilo.  
 
Holy Closures – We have had the closure of two ministries in the last twelve months. The first was Lutheran 
Church of the Master in La Habra.  Closure was in August 2021.  The second closure was Hope Lutheran Church 
in Riverside.  Closure was in March 2022. 
 
Both ministries took steps to close while there were still enough people to make decisions prior to any level of 
synod administration/preservation.  I, along with colleagues in our office, walked the journey with the people 
to make sure decisions and choices matched legal requirements along with legacy planning.  The Pacifica 
Synod Council affirmed the asset distribution choices made by both congregations. 
 
Your DEM and the staff of the Pacifica Synod are here to assist and walk with congregations as you discern 
your ministry future.  Call on us sooner than later while your ministry is at a level of capacity to participate in 
ministry decisions. 
 
I have been engaged in many other things from several Vitality Surveys to working with congregational 
finances, and more. There are some things waiting for more attention from me, and that will come.  I enjoy 
the work of the DEM (Director for Evangelical Mission). Like so many ministry positions, the hours and days 
are long, but the work in ministry is very fulfilling. If I am fortunate to continue this work, I welcome the 
privilege to do it. 
 
I do want to say one more thing …. With the synod office transition upon us, I want to give a shout out to my 
colleagues in the office!  First to our incredible admins who do so much work behind the scenes: Carol 
Youngman, Terri Robertson, and Rachel Line …. You are all incredible people, and you are a joy in my life and 
for our synod.  To my rostered colleagues: Bishop Andy, Pastor Terry, and Pastor JP…. You are good and 
faithful servants in Christ’s holy catholic church! Like so many vocations in the world, there are moments in 
the valley and on the mountaintop.  However, most time is spent in the ordinary. It is in that ordinary time 
that most things go unnoticed. The work is just as important if not even more important. Thank you for the 
honor and privilege to work with each of you! 
 
One last shout out to my spouse, Susan (and my entire continuously growing family), you are my rock. The 
wacky schedules of ministry are real, and you are always there, even as you, Sue, manage your work demands.  
I love you and thank you!  
 
Respectively Submitted, 
 
Pastor Tom Goellrich, DEM/ATTB 
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Annual Report 2021-2022 

JP Sabbithi, ATTB for Leadership Development  – Pacifica Synod  

 

My work as the Assistant to the Bishop, Leadership Development involves: Candidacy, First 

Call Theological Education,  Planning team for Theaosis, Synod Assembly and liaison for 

Hawaii for the Synod Office. 

 

Candidacy: The Cooperative Candidacy Committee (Pacifica Synod and Southwest California 

Synod) meets on the first Thursdays of every other month.  Entrances, Theological Reviews, 

Competency Assessments, Candidacy Approvals take place during these meetings.  I also follow 

up with the candidates in process and interview the candidates interested in becoming either a 

minister of Word and Sacrament or Word and Service. During the year (2021-2022) six 

candidates passed their entrance interview. I want to thank the committee members for their 

ministry with these candidates.  

 

FCTE:  The First Call Theological Education (FCTE) is organized twice a year.  During the 

Spring, it will be held at the synod level and during the Fall it will be held at the regional level. 

The five ATTBs in the region meet periodically to revise the curriculum for the FCTE and find 

other ways to keep in touch with the First Call pastors and also keep them in touch with each 

other.  We had 9 First Call pastors participate in this event held at the synod level. Each 

participant shared their joy, surprise and a challenge from their ministry setting.  Bishop Andy 

presented on “Things I wish I had Known” which generated lively discussion among the 

participants.  The other presentation he presented was on the role of a pastor on the church 

council. These sessions included case studies from the First Call pastors which provided an 

opportunity to learn from each other.   

 

Hawaii:  I was able to connect and reconnect with some of the pastors and function as a liaison 

for the Office of the Bishop. I provided needed resources for needed pastors at their request for 

their parish ministry. I was able to help with their call process for a congregation in Hawaii while 

Pastor Terry was on sabbatical leave.  It was great to have Bishop Andy visiting us in February 

conducting an ordination and four installations and preaching and visiting the congregations and 

pastors on the islands. I was able to coordinate his visit.   

 

Planning Teams: I was able to participate in planning the Theoasis in October of 2021.  By the 

grace of God we were able to meet in-person for that event.  I was able to coordinate the 

workshops for the Synod Assembly this year.  

 

I am grateful for the opportunity to serve in the synod office.  

Joy, peace and blessings, 

JP Sabbithi,  

ATTB for Leadership Development 
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Dear People of the Pacifica Synod, 
 
Greetings!  On behalf of the Synod Council, it is my pleasure to welcome you, at long 
last, to the Pacifica Synod Assembly.  Thank you for giving of your time and serving in 
this way.  
 
What a time it has been since we last gathered in person in Palm Desert in 2019.  As we 
gather now, I know we bring different experiences of these past years and carry a range 
of feelings of anxiety, grief, and gratitude too.  So often in this pandemic, I have prayed 
with sighs too deep for words, and given thanks that the Spirit intercedes.  In all of it – the 
uncertainty, disappointment, grief, and gratitude – I give thanks that we are together in 
Christ, even on Zoom, especially in a pandemic, and here for this Assembly. 
 
In 2020, the Synod Council adopted a strategic plan to guide the work and mission of 
Pacifica Synod and adopted a new mission statement: Together in Christ, we equip, 
accompany, and serve boldly, so that all may experience God’s boundless grace.  Together in 
Christ, we are Pacifica Synod.  We seek to live into this mission through our strategic plan 
and our goals and objectives to strengthen support for congregational ministry, support 
resilient and faithful leaders, deepen diversity and inclusion, and reshape the synod for 
sustainable ministry.  We seek to equip congregations with support such as the 
technology grants many ministries received in the pandemic and learning resources like 
the Ask, Thank, Tell and Growing Young series.  We seek to accompany one another along 
the way, create opportunities for community and connection, and offer time and space 
to learn together and pray together.  We seek to foster collaborations for local and 
global justice and support congregations and ministries in serving our neighbors and 
communities.  We do all of this together in Christ.  We ask for your prayers as well as 
your ideas and involvement in this work.  As we prepare to elect a new bishop, our 
strategic plan will continue to guide the work of the synod. 
 
The 2021-22 Synod Council met via Zoom for three regular meetings, one special 
strategic planning session, and two additional business meetings.  This year, Synod 
Council members also formed task forces to review our constitution and policies 
around personnel and sexual misconduct.  Our work and our tasks vary but are all 
done together in Christ.  I give thanks for all who serve and their love for God’s church.   
 
It’s been my pleasure to connect with many of you online over the past couple years, 
and I look forward to being with you in person at the Synod Assembly and to visiting 
your congregations in the future.  Thank you for being church together and for serving 
together in Christ. 
 
Peace, 
 
Nicolette Rohr 
Vice President, Pacifica Synod 
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ACTIONS OF THE SYNOD COUNCIL 

May 2021-March 2022 

 

ROSTER MATTERS  

 

SC21.06.02 VOTED to approve the job description and the contract with Pastor JP 

Sabbithi for the new position as ATTB for Leadership Development with one abstention. 

 

SC21.06.05 VOTED to approve the Synod Call and addition to roster as written below. 

• Synod call to Deacon Margy Schmitt-Ajer Hope, Riverside 07.12.2020 Interim 

Deacon. 

• Add to Pacifica Roster The Rev. Katy Grindberg PLTS (transferred to Pacifica 

Synod) 06.17.2021 Director of Contextual Education – moved from Sierra Pacific 

to Pacifica roster. 

 

SC.21.08.13 VOTED to approve the roster changes as listed below. 

 

  Start Date End Date 

SYNOD CALLS    

    

Rev. Sandra Bentz Interim Pastor, Emanuel, La 

Habra 

06.15.2021  

Rev. Sharon Bockelman Pastor, Church of St. John the 

Divine. Inv to Serve from 

Episcopal Church Tamuning, 

Guam and its mission on  

Saipan, St. Paul’s Church. 

*Reinstatement                   

                     

07.15.2021  

Rev. Ben Sheets Lanai Union Church (UCC) None given   

    

ON LEAVE FROM 

CALL 

   

    

Rev. Dr. Timothy Eichler Year 1 Approval 09.04.2021 09.04.2024 

Rev. Carole Parmeter 

Dyer 

Year 7 Approval 

Family leave + 2 year COB 

extension 

08.01.2015 08.01.2023 

Rev. Samuel Kumissa Year 5 Approval 

2 year COB extension 

08.14.2017 08.14.2022 

Dn. Lynne Prechel Year 3 Approval 10.07.2019 10.07.2022 

    

RETIREMENT  10.01.2021  

    

Rev. Phyllis Hormann    
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Motion: Executive Committee recommends to Synod Council to approve the sabbatical 

request, and authorize the Executive Committee to work with Rev. Terry regarding the 

financial matters. 

 

SC21.08.14 VOTED to approve the sabbatical time for Rev. Terry Tuvey Allen as stated 

above. 

 

 

SC21.12.2 VOTED to approve roster changes as presented. 
 
 

  Start Date  

CONGREGATION CALL    

    

Rev. Jennifer Garcia Associate Pastor, First, 

Fullerton 

10.03.2021 Ordination 

12.18.2021 

Dn. Margy Schmitt Ajer Deacon, San Marcos 11.01.2021  

Rev. Carole Parmeter Dyer Pastor Mt. Calvary, 

Cypress 

11.01.2021  

Rev. Cole McGlynn Pastor, Our Savior’s, San 

Clemente 

11.15.2021 

 

Ordination 

11.21.2021 

Rev. Brianna Lloyd Associate Pastor, LC of 

Honolulu 

12.01.2021 Ordination Date 

– not set 
    

CONTRACT NOT CALL    

    

    

SYNOD CALLS    

Rev. Stuart Swann Pastor, Spirit of Peace, Big 

Bear City 

 Invitation to 

Serve 

    

ON LEAVE FROM CALL    

Rev. Pongtep Chutimapongrat Need approval for Year 3 02.01.2020  

Dn. Melissa James Need approval for Year 3 01.01.2020  

Rev. Samuel Kumissa Need to send to COB for 2nd 
Extension 

08.14.2017  

RETIREMENT    

Rev. Richard Ajer  11.01.2021  

Dn. Lynne Prechel  11.01.2021  

Rev. Steven Bieghler  01.01.2022  

Rev. Yukio Hamada  01.01.2022  

Rev. Mark Winick  01.01.2022  

Rev. Brian Taylor  01.01.2022  
    

REMOVE FROM ROSTER   
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ADD TO PACIFICA ROSTER   

   

TRANSFER FROM PACIFICA   

Rev. Timothy Mason To Southwest Minnesota 

Synod 

09.07.2021  

Rev. Dianne Elle To Oregon Synod 09.29.2021  

DEATHS    

Rev. Theodore Johns  09.19.2021  

    

 

SC22.03.21 VOTED to approve roster changes as presented. 
 

  Start Date  

CONGREGATION CALL    

    

Rev. Stephen Anderson Pastor, LCOS-SOH, San 

Bernardino 

01.24.2022 

 

Ordination 

Date 

3.12.2022 

 

    

CONTRACT NOT CALL   

 

 

Rev Dan Cole Interim, Hope, Temecula 12.27.2021  

    

SYNOD CALLS    

Rev. Misael Fajardo-Perez Interim Pastor, Our 

Redeemer, GG 

01.30.2022  

Rev. Gloria Imamura Pastor, Prince of Peace, 

Honolulu 

02.01.2022 Invitation to 

Serve 

 

Rev. Robert Bork Teacher and Pastor, Kapaa 

UCC, Kauai 

03.01.2022  

    

ON LEAVE FROM CALL    

The Rev. Karla Wildberger Request continuation – 

Year 2 

03.01.2021  

   \ 

    

RETIREMENT    

Rev. Doug Moffat  12.01.2021  

Rev. Brian Oltman  03.15.2022  

    

REMOVE FROM ROSTER   

   

ADD TO PACIFICA ROSTER   

   

TRANSFER FROM PACIFICA   
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Rev. Dianne Wendt Transferred to Sierra 

Pacific Synod 

10.01.2021  

Rev. Pongtep Chutimapongrat 

 

Transferred to Metro 

Chicago Synod 

 

11.28.2021  

DEATHS    

Rev. Yutaka Kishino  01.28.2022  

Rev. John Spann  02.07.2022  

 

 

CONGREGATIONAL MATTERS  

 

SC21.08.06 VOTED to approve Lutheran Church of Our Savior-Spirit of Hope 

constitution. 

 

SC21.12.4 VOTED to approve the St. Paul, Fullerton Constitution at the 

recommendation of Constitution Committee. 

 

SC22.01.1 VOTED to approve the list of SAWC (Synodically Authorized Worshipping 

Community) as presented.   

 

SC22.03.4 VOTED to list the property known as Hope Lutheran Church, Riverside for 

sale.  

 

SC22.03.5 VOTED to proceed with asset distribution as requested by Hope Lutheran 

Church, Riverside. 

 

SC22.03.6 VOTED to receive Hope Lutheran Church, Riverside into Synodical 

Administration.  

 

SC22.03.7 VOTED to appoint Rev. Tom Goellrich, Shawn Lowell, Nicolette Rohr and 

Rev. Kent Tuohino as the Trustee Team to manage Synodical Administration of Hope 

Lutheran Church, Riverside. 

 

SC22.03.8 VOTED to receive the ministry known as River of Hope, Palm Springs, as a 

congregation located in the Pacifica Synod, ELCA. 

 

SC22.03.9 VOTED to close Spirit Harbor as a Synod Authorized Worshiping 

Community in Pacifica Synod. 

 

SC22.03.14 VOTED to approve the constitution of Hope Lutheran in Temecula.  

 

FINANCIAL MATTERS  

 

SC21.04.04 VOTED to accept the auditors report. 
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Motion to forward the auditor’s letter to the Audit Committee for review a and to make a 

recommendation for a corrective action within 90 days. 
 

SC21.04.05 VOTED to approve the recommendation as stated above. 

 

SC21.06.06 Voted to approve three months’ vacation pay be paid out of the proceeds of 

the sale of Hope, San Diego to Pastor Deogracias Oliver. 

 

SC21.17.07 Voted to approve the use of Wright funds to pay for scholarships for 

laypersons to attend the Undoing Racism Workshop. 

 

SC21.08.03 VOTED to approve the combining of inactive designated funds in order to 

put the money to better use. 

 

SC21.08.04 VOTED to approve the distribution of Hope Lutheran, San Diego sale 

proceeds as directed. 

 

SC21.08.05 VOTED to approve the use of Portico Wellness funds for hotel and meals 

for 2 staff members to attend Theoasis in October.  

 

SC21.08.07 VOTED to approve the donor wishes, scholarship amounts and recipients 

for the Laurie Line Memorial Scholarship Fund. 

 

SC21.12.5 VOTED to notify members of the synod that we would like them to consider 

a higher cost of living increase for their rostered ministers in light of current inflation.  

 

SC21.12.6 VOTED to approve the budget and spend plan. 

 

SC21.12.8 VOTED to add Carol Youngman as an additional signer for the Synod 

Checking Account.  

SC22.01.4 VOTED to approve the Executive Committee recommendation of a 4% 

increase effective 2/1 for the Office of the Bishop rostered and lay staff. 

 

SC22.01.5 VOTED to update the (revised) spend plan with one abstention. 

SC22.03.15 VOTED to approve the investment policy as presented. 

 

SC22.03.17 VOTED to recommend the Synod Assembly raise the base salary on the 

Synod Compensation guidelines by 5.6%, based on the current CPI. 

 

 

SYNOD ASSEMBLY MATTERS 

 

SC21.04.03 VOTED to approve the Assembly rules as written. 

 

SC21.12.6 VOTED to approve the following fees for Synod Assembly: congregation 

$550 early bird $525, individual $180 and early bird $170.  

Page 5 - 19 



 

 

SC22.01.2 VOTED to approve that congregations with more than 3 voting members 

would pay $120 for each additional voting member, the same rate as for retired clergy 

and deacons. 

 

SC22.03.18 VOTED to designate half of assembly offerings for Lutheran Immigration 

and Refuge Services and half for Lutheran Disaster Response – Eastern Europe. 

SC22.03.19 VOTED to approve Assembly Table requests as presented with the addition 

of Pacifica WELCA. 

 

APPOINTMENTS AND ELECTIONS  

 

SC21.06.03 Voted to approve Jeff Cours and Pastor Jeff Lilley to the executive 

committee with one abstention. 

 

SC21.06.04 Voted to approve Curt Spiller to fill a one-year term on the Mission Funds 

Committee. 

 

SC21.08.01 VOTED to approve the appointment of Freya Hendrickson to replace 

Nicolette Rohr, and Pastor Maria Santa Cruz to replace Pastor JP Sabitthi.  

 

SC21.08.08 VOTED to approve the appointments of John Hefner and Jennifer Zahnow 

to serve on the finance committee.  

 

SC21.08.11 VOTED to approve the election of Pastor Maria Santa Cruz to fill the 

vacancy left by Pastor Jennifer Shaw at the conclusion of her 2 year term.  

 

SC21.08.12 VOTED to approve the following people to the Bishop Nominating Task 

force:  

 

Deacon Melissa James 

Esmerelda Vences 

Bob Michelet 

Pr Wes Menke 

Becky Anderson 

Pr David Hendrickson 

Helga Bergthold 

Gitte Olsen 

Pr. Juli Patten 

 

SC21.12.3 VOTED to approve Pastor Nate Allen and Pastor Darryl Kozak to the 

Nominating Committee. 

 

SC22.01.3 VOTED to appoint Pastor Jennifer Zahnow to replace Pastor Brian Taylor as 

Calvary Trustee.  
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SC22.03.20 VOTED to approve that the Bishop’s Transition Team will consist of 

Nicolette Rohr, Tom Pankow, Kathy Hartl, Jeff Cours, Pastor Jeff Lilley, and Pastor 

Maria Santa Cruz, and any other people they deem appropriate to serve. 

SC22.03.21 VOTED to note that Synod Council is aware of and affirms the Background 

Checks process as presented.  

   

 

 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 

SC21.08.09 VOTED to approve the Child Protection Policy / Abuse Prevention Policy as 

attached. 

 

SC21.08.10 VOTED to approve Silver +, Level A for health care benefits, giving 

employees and those serving in Synod calls where health care is provided through the 

Office of the Bishop the option to buy-up to Gold + at the synod’s expense with one 

abstention. 

 

SC21.12.7 VOTED to approve the following COVID-19 policy:  For public synod 

events attendees are required to provide either proof of full COVID-19 vaccination or 

proof of a negative test within 72 hours of their arrival at the event. This policy is subject 

to updated public health guidance.  

SC22.03.13 VOTED to approve the two document Sexual Misconduct Policy as 

presented.   

SC22.03.16 VOTED to approve the continuing education policy as presented. 
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PACIFICA SYNOD COUNCIL, 2021 - 2022 
 

   

Officers 
Term of Office – 4 Years 
 
NAME      POSITION    EXPIRES 
Bishop Andrew Taylor   Bishop, First Term   2022 
1801 C Parkcourt Place        (6 year term) 
Santa Ana CA 92701 
 (714) 692-2791 
andytaylor@pacificasynod.org 
Bishop 
 
Ms Nicolette Rohr    Vice President, First Term  2024 
4725 Brockton Avenue 
Riverside CA 92506 
(951) 204-9206  
nicolette.rohr@gmail.com 
Vice President 
 
Ms Kathy Hartl    Secretary, Appointed    
35522 Camino Capistrano 
San Clemente, CA 92672 
(802) 393-7083 
kathy@hartlwrites.com 
Secretary 
 
Mr Tom Pankow    Treasurer, Appointed  2021 
837 Rodeo Road     (end of term was 2021) 
Fullerton CA 92835 
714-447-0369  H 
TomPankow@SBCGLOBAL.net 
Treasurer 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

Bishop Andrew Taylor 
Ms. Nicolette Rohr 

Ms. Kathy Hartl 
Mr. Tom Pankow 

2–yr Terms: 
The Rev. Jeff Lilley, 2023 
The Rev. Maria Santa Cruz, 2023 
Mr. Jeff Cours, 2023
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PACIFICA SYNOD COUNCIL, 2021 - 2022 
 

   

The Rev. Maria Santa Cruz 
4011 Ohio Street 
San Diego, CA 92104  
619-283-5936 
prmaria@sbcglobal.net 
Ethnic Lay at Large,  2023 
(Remainder of term) 
 
Mr Jim Lovell 
1420 3rd Avenue 
San Diego, CA 92101 
(619) 980-5222 C 
jimlovellmsw@gmail.com 
San Diego Area Rep, First Term, 2024 
 
The Rev. Marcus Lohrmann 
10842 Fury Lane 
La Mesa, CA 91941  
(619) 670-7656 W 
(509) 520-7242 C 
pastormarcus@svlc.org 
San Diego Area Rep, First Term, 2024 
 
The Rev. Glen Egertson 
39136 Harris Road  
Yucaipa, CA 92399  
661-742-6261 
glen@lrcchome.com 
Inland Empire Rep, First Term, 2024 
 
Mr Jeff Cours 
417 Santa Dominga 
Solana Beach CA 92075 
(858) 245-7727 C 
jtcours@gmail.com 
San Diego Area Rep, First Term, 2022 
 
The Rev Jay Egenes 
4861 Liverpool Street  
Yorba Linda, CA 92886  
(951) 850-9604 
pastor.jay@messiahyl.com 
Orange County Area Rep, First Term, 2024 
 
 
 

Ms Becky Draper 
20845 Viento Valle 
Escondido, CA 92025 
(858) 382-8719 C 
beckdraper@yahoo.com 
San Diego Area Rep, Second Term, 2022 
 
Mr Anthony Eder 
39136 Harris Road 
Yucaipa, CA 92399 
(262) 812-7711 C  
anthony@lrcchome.com 
Inland Empire Area Rep, First Term, 2022 
 
Ms Dana Westphalen 
98-1099B Komo Mai Drive 
Aiea, HI 96701 
(808) 330-7178 
dwestphalen@hawaii.rr.com 
Hawaii Area Rep, First Term, 2023 
 
Ms Greta Hobson 
111 W Las Palmas Drive 
Fullerton CA 92835 
(714) 390-5762 C 
greta.goellrich@gmail.com 
Orange County Rep, Second Term, 2022 
 
Ms. Analiese Christenson 
1420 Third Avenue 
San Diego CA 92101 
analiese.christenson@gmail.com 
Youth Rep, First Term, 2023 
 
The Rev Jeff Lilley 
1730 Punahou Street 
Honolulu, HI 96822 
(808) 941-2566 W 
(808) 271-9926 C 
pr.jeff@lchwelcome.org 
Hawaii Area Rep, First Term, 2022 
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Mr Christian Bakken 
15821 Lashburn Street 
Whittier, CA 90603 
(714) 853-5234 
cbakken17@gmail.com 
Orange County Area Rep, First Term, 2024 
 
Ms Daneen Pysz 
33172 Desoto Way 
Dana Point CA 92629 
(949) 290-0381 H 
daneen.pysz@gmail.com 
Orange County Area Rep, 2nd Term, 2023  
 
Ms. Freya Hendrickson 
428 S Center Street 
Redlands, CA 92373 
(909) 747-2261 C 
faye.raye22@gmail.com 
Inland Empire Area Rep, First Term, 2022 
(remained of term) 
 

The Rev. Karla Halvorson 
580 Hilltop Drive 
Chula Vista, CA 91910  
(619) 427-5515 (office) 
(858) 442-6761 (cell) 
pastor.stmarkscv@gmail.com 
San Diego Area Rep, First Term, 2024 
 
The Rev Jennifer Shaw 
42695 Washington Street 
Palm Desert CA 92211 
(760) 345-2122 W 
pastor@stjohnslutheran.church 
Inland Empire Area Rep, First Term, 2023 
 
The Rev Kinndlee Lund 
10280 Slater Avenue 
Fountain Valley, CA 92708  
773-633-8833 
pastor@kogchurch.org 
Orange County Area Rep, First Term, 2024 
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East and West San Diego Conferences Report 

The rostered leaders of the East and West San Diego Conferences continued to meet weekly via Zoom. Average 

attendance was 12 with the occasional synod staff member dropping by. 

Dean Dave Nagler and I asked each of our 21 congregations to submit a brief report of 2-3 lines. 

14 responded: some briefly answered the three basic questions we asked; others answered at length; and a submitted 

their reports in a more creative way. All show that the Holy Spirit is active in San Diego County. 

 

In Christ,  

Pastor Richard W. Vevia, Jr.  Dean - East San Diego Conference 

Pastor David Nagler   Dean - West San Diego Conference 

 

Agape House - Pastor Darin Johnson has submitted a separate report for the Assembly Notebook 

Ascension Lutheran Church, San Diego - submitted by Pastor Rick Fry 

• Ascension continues to be a strong presence in our community with our biweekly food distribution 

ministry. Our Children's Center ministry continues to grow as we've converted our conference room 

into an extra classroom. We've also continued our commitment to racial justice ministry through 

leadership development and financial support to ministries of African descent. We are also working on 

greater disability access in our church.  

• We have struggled to feel connected through pandemic. 

• We look forward to a 65 year anniversary celebration with outreach to our community in May.     

Calvary Lutheran Church, El Cajon - submitted by Pastor Richard Vevia, Jr. 

• Both our food pantry, The Cupboard on 54th, and our clothing ministry, The Closet on 54th were open 

providing food & clothing for the community. We are grateful to St. Andrew’s, La Mesa for their 

continued and generous support. 

And thanks to the Technology Grant from the Synod our on-line presence has been upgraded. 

• Staffing The Cupboard & The Closet  is still a challenge since many volunteers have not returned even 

though quarantine restrictions have been lifted.. 

• We look forward in the coming year to fellowship and service opportunities with the other two 

congregations that share our campus: Addis Kidan Ethiopian Evangelical Church and Remnant Church 

- San Diego.  

Carlton Hills Lutheran Church, Santee - submitted by Pastor Andreas Walker-Thode 

• We are proud to host the Santee Food Bank and partner with them, as well as provide home-cooked 

community meals to those in need.  

• Carlton Hills is still working out the kinks of our new technology, with thanks to the Synod and many 

volunteers and even donations on top of purchases.  

• We are biking, lunching, hoping for a new post-COVID normal, and excited about starting a new 

community garden with new partnerships in Santee. 

COVID.  Streaming. Growth. 

Tech… not always working right. 

New garden brings HOPE! 
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Christ Lutheran Church, Pacific Beach - submitted by Pastor David Nagler 

• In 2021 we accomplished two major projects. We completed a large infrastructure renovation that 

started in 2020 on our campus. This included a new drainage system to prevent flooding, new roofs on 

our buildings, solar power and electric car stations, new drought tolerant landscaping, and a new 

HVAC system.  

We also took a deeper dive into our digital ministry program. We hired a part time digital ministry 

coordinator who renovated our website and produced our online worship opportunities. We continued 

our work with a social media promoter who helps us get out daily messages on Instagram and 

Facebook. This has greatly expanded our online community involvement.  

We welcomed a new pastoral intern, Jenna Olson-Popp and a new music coordinator, Kate Moody to 

our congregation. Jenna is part of the MDivX program at Luther Seminary and will be with us for 

another year. Kate joins us from Bandon, Oregon. 

• In 2022 we are working on a comprehensive campus plan that will include input from congregation 

members, community leaders and partner organizations. The goal is a collaboration that will serve the 

needs of our community in a way that is both tangible and sustainable.  

We will also be launching a podcast to bolster our online ministry efforts. This is all new to us so the 

learning curve is pretty steep.  

We are also part of a joint project with St. Andrew’s Episcopal Church and Shoreline Community 

Services. Together we will be launching a drop-in center for people who are unhoused to obtain basic 

services and connect them with mental health, job placement, housing, and addiction prevention 

personnel. It will be called the Compass Station and will be housed on our campus. 

First Lutheran Church, San Diego - submitted by Pastor Kurt Christenson 

On Palm Sunday First ventured outside for in-person worship. It took time but we figured out how to enjoy 

the great outdoors. Who knew birds were chirping out there? Advent brought us back into the sanctuary. 

Most gatherings and worship offer a virtual hybrid option. To meet needs TACO now serves food every 

weekday. Opportunity and challenge coexist this post COVID year as First discerns and defines our next 

great ministry adventure.  

Gethsemane Lutheran Church, San Diego - submitted by Pastor Karla Seyb-Stockton  

Worship in person 

Is precious. Worship online 

Is precious too. 

Council phone tree spreads 

Good will and connection too. 

A web of love. Life. 

Prayer; our place, purpose. 

Prayer; our life, hope, joy, peace, love. 

God’s love in action. 

Our hope is in Christ. 

Living the Resurrection 

We live our best life. 
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Lemon Grove Lutheran Church, Lemon Grove - submitted by Pastor Chuck Sundry 

• The good is that we did resume in person worship. The challenge was that attendance is far less than 

half of the pre-COVID year. 

• A challenge is that our heating/AC units have died or are too dangerous to run. The roof needs repair 

before the new ones can be installed. Therefore, the temperature in the church the past few weeks has 

often been in the 50’s.  

• Forward-keep faith. 

St. John’s Lutheran Church, El Cajon -  

• Thanks to the Technology Grant from the Synod our on-line presence has been upgraded. 

• Finances continue to be a problem. But God is good and through continued faithful giving and several 

grants diligently sought by lay leaders and staff, the challenge was met. 

• In 2022 we will be looking for a new pastor. 

St. Mark's Lutheran Church, Chula Vista - submitted by Pastor Karla Halvorson  

“Celebrating God’s Love and Forgiveness, We Serve Others.” 

St. Mark’s made it through times of grim desperation, 

Turning the corner with faith and sheer determination. 

Now its time to give praise with shouts of celebration! 

Living our tagline “Two languages, One Congregation”! 

Seeking to invite and welcome those from every nation, 

Serving this place with grace and a sense of obligation, 

“Love one another as I have loved you”, regardless of their station 

Building something new, goodbye stagnation. 

(Hello from the four (main) languages and cultures that worship here (Spanish, English, Chinese, Korean), 

Lutheran Social Services Upward Bound and Talent Search, Project Hand Food pantry, re-emerging youth 

ministries and well-established quilting and prayer ministries, ended in the black after nearly declaring 

bankruptcy four years ago. God is Good!  God has got this!  Just keep swimming!) 

St. Peter’s By the Sea, Ocean Beach - submitted by Pastor Bekki Lohrmann 

• St Peter’s by the Sea has experienced a great deal of goodness this year. We completed a mini-

campaign securing $40K to transition completely to solar energy which will go into effect in April 

or May. We installed the technology to live-stream our worship thanks to the Synod Technology 

Grant. We re-opened, hired a new minister of music, called a new pastor, increased enrollment to 

pre-pandemic numbers at our preschool, hosted Bible Studies, book studies, several memorial 

services and receptions, and are currently in discernment about how we can take action to support 

refugees. We have a very active hiking group that started during the pandemic and continues to 

grow. This year also marks 75 years of ministry on Sunset Cliffs! 

• Our challenge is to discern where to go from here. The pandemic left us scattered and coming 

back together to renew our sense of mission for the world is no small feat!  

• Our congregational goals for 2022 are 

o 1. To pursue connection after this time of separation. 

o 2. To take refuge in the Word. 

o 3. To continue to discern our purpose through experimentation and intentionally trying 

new things.  

We’re looking forward to the fruits of these endeavors! 
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Shepherd of the Valley, La Mesa - submitted by Pastor Marcus C. Lohrmann 

God is faithful, and it has been a great year at SVLC! 

• Our preschool ministry enrollment now exceeds pre-pandemic levels, and worship attendance has 

seen growth with the help of matching funds from the synod to expand our live-stream worship 

capacities. SVLC’s Social Justice Committee continues to minister in our community through 

trainings, educational events, volunteer work, and service opportunities. The group also 

thoughtfully composed a Land Recognition Statement which was unanimously adopted by our 

council and implemented in the life of our weekly worship. 

• We look forward to the installation of new solar panels on our sanctuary this spring following a 

successful reroofing project earlier this year. 

Tierrasanta Lutheran, San Diego - submitted by Pastor Bohdan Vadis 

• something good:  Tierrasanta Lutheran Church hosted the Tierrasanta Community 50th 

Anniversary Celebration on our church campus. 

• challenge:  Several military families with young children have been moved out of San Diego by 

the Navy and this has changed our children’s ministry. 

• looking forward:  We are about to start a “Kid’s Worship” on Saturday nights for Children and 

their parents. 

Welcome Ministry of El Cajon (Synodically Authorized Worshipping Community)- submitted by Father 

David Madsen 

1. Welcome Church Holy Eucharist Services, On the Streets of El Cajon. We began 2021 like 2020. 

We did not do services in person for a few months, but we continued to hand out lunches and visit WC 

people and new people we met on the streets in person, wearing masks and keeping our distance. We 

continued to hand out lunches on Sunday afternoons. When we began services again in March, and 

continued throughout 2021, we held them near the El Cajon Library and then moved across the street 

to Promenade Park in El Cajon.  At WC, the service of handing out protein packs and sharing 

hospitality, listening ears and the love of Christ continues during what most inside churches would call 

coffee hour.  

• One-on-one Evangelism Because of the diaspora of unhoused folks all over in the city, usually in 

smaller or bigger pockets of community, we also decided to visit folks in other areas. We began 

breaking up into teams of two and no more than three, handing out protein pack lunches, talking, 

praying, listening to people’s stories.  

• Loads of Love This ministry of providing a place for people to do their laundry for free continued 

throughout, without a break in schedule. Our Loads of Love Leadership team continued to invite 

people during the week, especially on Monday. Numbers are beginning to pick up again, like what 

they were before Covid hit.  

• Welcome Church Dreams and Plans 

Things we have talked and dreamed about in 2021. We have talked and visioned a home for Welcome 

Church, a place that all of us can feel comfortable with, and our people on the streets that we work 

with, not minister to or work for, but with. It will be a place that the unsheltered can pick up their mail, 

check out computers for emails, and other personal self-care needs. It can be a place to bring in linked 

services for counseling and assist others with needs that our group cannot supply. It will also be a place 

to share refreshments, big hugs and pray together. It will be a safe place, a place to come in out of the 

storms of life, and a place to feel comfortable, like home. 
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2. Joy Force (Refugee Ministry) 2021 

• Bilingual English/Arabic Holy Eucharist Service. Attendance has started to pick up again…not 

as great as before the pandemic, but anywhere from 8-15, and hopefully more will come soon. We 

still have communion together, we pray with each person for healing, encouragement or whatever 

they ask us to pray with them for. I do not think they get this anywhere else except in our Tuesday 

WM ecumenical services 

• Refugee Food Pantry. We never shut down the Refugee Food Pantry during the Covid epidemic. 

Our Food Pantry started the year slowly with people still afraid to come out, but it began to grow 

again by March. We no longer take names of people coming , and hopefully this will not change. 

We hand our food until we run out, and we try to adjust our ordering plans accordingly. 

• Circle Community Garden. Our community garden stayed open as essential agricultural, and all 

plots stayed full. In fact, we were able to find enough room to expand our plots from 61 to 70. But 

I think we are really tapped out for room right now. Most of our gardeners are farmed by 

immigrant families from other countries. We see cool running’s on the horizon. 

• Table-Talk This group of women that used to meet twice a week, continued to meet online all 

through 2020 and the first few months of 2021. They are meeting again every Wednesday in-

person from 10 AM to 11:30 AM. It is a safe place to learn better conversational English, talk 

about community, pray, and fellowship together. Most of the women except for three American 

born leaders are from the Middle East, Iraq, Syria, Lebanon, Turkey, and Palestine. Most are 

Christian and some are Muslim. They are a hospitable and accepting group, and they are always 

looking for more women to join them who desire to improve conversational English skills. 
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Harvest Conference Report 

It has been a year of hope and healing, of ministry and grace in the Harvest Conference.  We are 

pleased to welcome 2 first call pastors to the conference: Pastor Amanda McGlynn and Pastor 

Christina De La Cruz.  We are pleased to welcome back Deacon Margy Schmitt Ajer.  We honor 

and give thanks for the faithful ministry of Pastor David Jorstad.  Together, we have worked 

closely to support and care for one another and the congregations we serve with creativity and 

hope in these ever changing times.  We are blessed to be called for such a time as this.      

House of Prayer, Escondido 

The last couple years have been challenging for House of Prayer. The congregation is grateful to 

Pastor Karin Boye and Pastor Dan Cole for their faithful interim work, leading the church amidst 

the pandemic, the retirement of the office administrator, and the resignation of the previous 

pastor. I was called to House of Prayer as pastor on October 1st, 2021. The transition has gone 

well so far. Shortly after my arrival, the church hosted small celebrations for Pastor Dan’s 

farewell and my Installation. The Spirit has been hard at work in the congregation since then. We 

have strengthened our relationship with local service agencies, regularly donating food items and 

offerings for those in need. Our small but mighty quilting guild made over 100 quilts in 2021 to 

donate through local organizations and Lutheran World Relief. We hosted a Christmas Festival 

of Song in December, featuring our talented musicians, and we also hosted a winter concert 

featuring a local choir of professional bell ringers. During Advent, we led a weekly book study in 

a hybrid format, allowing folks to attend in person and on Zoom at the same time. We continue 

to worship together on Sunday mornings and offer a recorded virtual service on our website. So 

far, 2022 has opened with renewed enthusiasm and hope in the congregation. We have also seen 

the arrival of a few new members and the return of older members that have not been seen in 

years. We are grateful for the ways that God continues to bless and guide us in our calling as a 

community of faith. 

King of Kings, Oceanside 

The people of King of Kings are full of hope and new life. We began this year under the 

leadership of Interim Pastor Karen Marohn. During the first half of the year, worship, meetings, 

confirmation class, music rehearsals, and other gatherings were primarily done via Zoom, or in 

small groups outdoors. Throughout this, the council and call committee worked diligently to 

discern what God had in store for them next, and with their leadership, the congregation voted to 

call Pastor Amanda McGlynn in August. As we have slowly and cautiously moved back towards 

in person or hybrid gatherings, our congregation has been filled with new life and excitement. 

Our worship life has been blessed by the work of our dedicated music ministry staff and 

volunteers, we have celebrated special occasions such as an animal blessing on the feast of St. 

Francis, and for the feast of St. Luke we blessed our healthcare workers and commissioned our 

medical lending library. We gathered for Advent midweek services featuring an original play by 

one of our members, and starring several of our other members and youth. We have begun in-

person Coffee hour, Sunday School and Adult Education once again, and brought back our 

Communion Ministry for homebound members. Overall, the last few years of transition, both 

with Covid and with leadership changes, have led us to be more open to new opportunities, new 

ways of doing old things, and new paths forward into the future God is preparing for us.  
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Spirit of Joy, Ramona 

 

This past year has been one of transition and change for Spirit of Joy. We moved from worship 

on our property to in person worship in our store front worship center. We are currently moving 

forward with the sale of the property and working on reimagining  our mission and vision for the 

future in this Ramona community. Throughout the year we have lifted up our ministries for 

children, youth, Bible Studies, and Home Groups. The Synodical grant has aided Spirit of Joy in 

establishing a permanent on line presence with live streaming. We are looking ahead and 

continue to be blessed with a dedicated and committed church family. 

 

Bethlehem, Encinitas 

 

This has been a year of gratitude, challenge, grace and hope at Bethlehem.  The pandemic has 

taught us to value the most important things.  As an RIC congregation, we cling to our desire to 

be a community of inclusive welcome and joy.  Our education this year has focused on anti 

racism, enneagram and challenging questions of faith.  We give thanks for the gathered 

community — online, in the sanctuary and on the grass outside.  We offer all three worship 

opportunities each week.  We have welcomed a number of new members who met us first online 

and that expansion and reach of our proclamation of the gospel has been a great joy.  We have 

found that flexibility has become our norm.  We are more honest with ourselves, and more open 

to both lament and thanksgiving.  Our day of service returned this year with 100 participants and 

our youth are planning a trip to the Navajo nation this summer.  We value every opportunity to 

reach beyond ourselves.  At Bethlehem, we are deeply excited for the work that lies ahead, as 

together we bear light to the world in new ways. 

 

San Marcos Lutheran, San Marcos 

 

Transition has been the word for San Marcos Lutheran Church this year! Along with most other 

congregations, we have been deep in the ever changing practices of dealing with the pandemic, 

including only online to outdoor to sanctuary worship. We’ve had online gatherings, then in 

person gatherings, then online gatherings as covid has ebbed and flowed.  In September, the 

congregation called Deacon Margy Schmitt Ajer, and later in the fall began a process of 

conversations as we look into the future, discerning where God is leading us in this new 

age.  How are we to be the church now?  We had a sudden, unplanned transition, when in 

December, Pr. David Jorstad, SMLC’s pastor of 16 years, suffered a stroke, which eventually led 

to his going on disability. But through all of this, there is faithful worship, deep community, 

concern and outreach to those in need, and a faithful commitment to following Jesus. As we 

move into a new year, we know that we aren’t done, but share an excitement about how God is at 

work. Thanks be to God! 

 

Incarnation, Poway 

 

As Incarnation emerges on the brighter side of the pandemic, there is much for which to be 

thankful. We recognize that God has blessed us in a myriad of ways, and we remain committed 

to be a congregation that serves God in the service of All of God’s people, in so many different 

ways. We celebrate the privilege to welcome a Muslim community to our campus as they 
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observe Ramadan. We look forward in this year to further investing in our online proclamation 

of the gospel, leveraging the technological confidence we inherited through (and because of) the 

pandemic. We look forward to a major mission trip in July and a youth trip to our own LRCC 

site. God is indeed good! 

 

Calvary, Solana Beach 

 

Calvary Lutheran Church is fully engaged in the intentional interim journey towards calling the 

next settled pastor. Leadership and congregation embraced a thorough process to revisit the past 

(how did we get here?), explore the congregation’s identity (who are we here and now and what 

is God calling us to do/be next?), revisiting the organizational structure and leadership 

requirements, exploring partnerships (with whom did/can we collaborate?), and preparing for 

God’s promising future. The work is rewarding and filled with renewed hope and excitement for 

Christ and the Gospel. Keep Calvary Lutheran in your prayers! 

 

 

Hope, Temecula 

 

In May, Hope began worshipping in-person again. Thanks to the Pacifica Synod Technology 

Grant we were able to livestream worship to those who were not comfortable or otherwise not 

able to worship in person.  On Pentecost Sunday, Hope’s youth assembled over 100 Birthday 

Bags for Central City Lutheran Mission with donations from the congregation and a gift from 

Thrivent Action Team.  LRCC in-person Day Camp came to Hope with most activities held 

outdoors so kids could be mask-free while outdoors.  We had two Camp Days visits from LRCC 

– including animals.  Hope had an in-person VBS with 50 children – arranging kids into pods of 

10 each.  Adults, Youth and Children began meeting in-person, outdoors only, although some 

Zoom sessions continued.  Puppeteers met during Advent to prepare a Christmas Eve message 

for our Family Christmas Eve Worship.  Bells of Hope resumed bringing handbell music back to 

worship.  Several food drives were held, donating the food to Community Mission of Hope in 

Temecula and Thanksgiving basked were prepared and donated to Project Touch.  Our preschool 

and kindergarten continued un-interrupted by the virus.  Our Annual Fall Festival and Trunk or 

Treat was back as well as our Shrove Tuesday/Mardi Gras dinner – but that was moved outside 

for safety.  At the end of November, Pastor Doug ended his work at Hope as interim pastor.  Our 

thanks to Pastor Shane Frieberg and Pastor Scottie Lloyd who led worship until Pastor Dan Cole 

began as our next interim Pastor in January 2022.  In December, Hope had our first two baptism 

since January 2020.  Hope Lutheran, Hope Children’s Center & Kindergarten collected and 

delivered over 100 gifts for children of the CCLM community.  Hope sent 10 youth and 5 

children (along with 5 adults) to Winter Camp at Luther Glen.  Now that Pastor Dan has had 

some time of getting to know us, we are gathering our congregation together to dive into 

transitional work. We are excited about our renewed hope and new possibilities for the ministry 

to which God is calling us. 
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Raincross Conference Report 

 
Eden Riverside 
 
This year we came back to in person worship which was a great step in and of itself.  Our 
worship attendance has steadily grown both in person as well as on zoom. Throughout Covid 
we continued to give away Stater Bros food cards and hygiene packs to the needy.  Our sack 
lunch program which benefits those in need at LSS resumed.  Our preschool moved forward to 
near capacity, in fact, there was even a time where there was a waiting list.  The fabulous work 
of our director and staff kept our school open during the whole of the pandemic.  We have 
added to our membership this year through transfers in as well as baptisms.  Also, we’ve 
expanded our footprint within the community by opening our doors to some new groups in 
addition to expanding the time of the groups who currently use our campus.  We are working 
on adding to our youth programs by utilizing the creative ideas of our congregation.  Our 
outreach to LSS and Luther Glen has continued to grow.  Our quilters have been distributing 
quilts to those in need in the community.  We have completed a number of projects on the 
property which were necessary for the good of the order.  We also have a very busy and 
productive ELCW women’s group who support many local organizations as well as our own 
congregation.  Eden is a vital member of the churches who make up the downtown Riverside 
core of churches.  There are many opportunities to partner with these churches and grow 
through outreach.  These are just a few things that God has blessed the good people of Eden to 
achieve during this past year.    
 
 
Spirit of Joy: Hemet 
 
The past year has brought the welcome return of sacred traditions and friends reuniting in 
church. The major highlight of the year is the resilience and joy the congregation has embodied. 
During outdoor worship we welcomed a hawk who spent every Sunday morning watching us 
with wise eyes and curiosity. Another day the winds came whipping through launching the 
Communion supper and my laptop into the air like graceful Olympic athletes. Our mortification 
quickly turning to laughter as we basked at nature and the Holy Spirit spicing things up. Phase 
one of our outdoor prayer garden was completed, creating a space of peace for members and 
the community. Lastly we as a congregation discovered a greater sense of gratitude. We were 
flat broke so many months and still kept the doors open and served the community the best we 
could. We experienced another year teaching us how priceless health, fellowship and grace are! 
We are entering the new year with hopefulness, renewed spirit and look forward to practicing 
hospitality together.  
 
Blessings,  
 
Pastor Brian  
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Good Shepherd Lutheran Church, Claremont  
 
The people of Good Shepherd Lutheran church continue to embody God’s purpose for us “To 
Love God, Family and Neighbor through Prayer, Teaching and Action.”  
Highlights of our ministry this year include:  
* On June 13 Good Shepherd held a congregational meeting in which we voted to adopt a new 
welcome statement and officially become a Reconciling in Christ (RIC) congregation.  This vote 
came after years of prayerful conversation, deliberation and discernment about our 
commitment to diversity and inclusion.   
* Our music ministry has experienced significant transition this year.  Perhaps the most 
significant transition has been the fact that we have not been able to sing together fully as a 
congregation since before the pandemic began in March of 2020.  In May, our Music director 
Renee Gehlbach-Martinez and our praise band leader Miguel Martinez gave notice of their 
resignation.  In July, we welcomed Vonetta Mixon as our interim music director. Vonetta was 
instrumental in helping us discern what music ministry could be in this unusual time, when 
congregational singing still was not safe because of the pandemic.  She skillfully worked with 
soloists and vocalists from within our congregation and brought in musicians from outside to 
provide inspirational music for our worship services.  By the end of December we were able to 
hire Edward Zelliff as our new music director.   
*Upgrading our A/V system to support hybrid worship.  We held our first hybrid worship 
services Palm Sunday in the courtyard.  Indoor hybrid worship services began in the sanctuary 
in June.   
*Weekly Sunday school for pre-k thru elementary age children that met online until summer 
and then in person beginning in the fall.  Numerous GSLC families attend summer family camp 
at Luther Glen.   
*In September we welcomed Elliott Abel as our Nursery Attendant and Sunday school teacher.   
*One day Intergenerational Vacation Bible School for families that included crafts, games, Bible 
study and music.   
* Good Shepherd’s generosity is revealed in their support to the community throughout the 
year.  This support included hosting monthly food drives for a local food pantry, bi-monthly 
meals for CCLM, hosting regular American Red Cross Blood Drives, providing backpacks and 
school supplies for 63 local children, participating in the local Walk for Hunger and 
Homelessness, adopting two families for Christmas gifts and providing 1000 Christmas gift bags 
to the women at California Institute for Women. 

 
Trinity Lutheran Church, Riverside CA 

Let us hold fast to the confession of our hope without wavering,  
for he who has promised is faithful. – Hebrews 10:23 

This past year was another challenging one for everyone, due to the COVID pandemic, but we 
are happy to report that many good things happened in our congregation during the past year! 
Here are some of the highlights. 

Worshiping Together 

At the beginning of the year, we continued the pattern of worship we had begun in 2020, with 
pre-recorded worship services posted on our YouTube channel each week. In addition to those 
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online services at 9:30 am, we held a fellowship time after the service via Zoom. We offered 
drive-through communion on the first Sunday of the month, and a short at-home communion 
service on the third Sunday of the month via Zoom. 

We experimented with some outdoor communion services, and finally, on Pentecost Sunday 
we resumed holding in-person worship services in the sanctuary while live streaming our 
services on YouTube. In October, we resumed our traditional service at 11:00 am in addition to 
the 9:30 service. We are grateful to be able to gather in person for worship again, although our 
in-person attendance is lower than it was before the pandemic. 

Serving Together 

During the past year, our congregation continued to support its various ministries of service in 
spite of the pandemic. Trinity’s Social Concerns Committee organized monthly projects to help 
people in need in our community. Our “Banquets at Trinity” (BAT) meal program served a free 
community breakfast on Saturdays and dinner on Mondays, we prepared monthly dinners for 
the men at the CCLM shelter, the Quilting Bee made 161 quilts for Lutheran World Relief, and 
we added the Shower of Hope program on Thursdays in our parking lot, near the Lutheran 
Social Services office located on our church campus. 

Learning Together 

After canceling Sunday School and Day Camp in 2020, we were happy to be able to bring these 
programs back in 2021! We also continued to make use of Zoom for a weekly Bible study and a 
monthly book club, along with various committee meetings. Some of our members also 
participated in a study of racism that included members from several Inland Area ELCA 
congregations.  

Reaching Out 

One of the things we have learned from putting our worship services online is that it allows us 
to renew connections with members of our church family who have moved away. It also allows 
visitors to check out our worship services online before deciding to attend in person. So, 
streaming our worship services online has become an important tool for outreach. 

This past year we were also able to reach out to families with our October Trunk-n-Treat event 
and summer Day Camp. We continued to help the children’s home in Tijuana that we have 
supported for several years, and we support the work of 3 ELCA missionaries working in Asia. At 
the end of 2021, our council decided to participate in the Living the Resurrection program 
offered through the synod with support from California Lutheran Homes. We look forward to 
discovering new ways to strengthen our congregation and reach out to our community through 
this program. 

In all of these ways, Trinity Lutheran Church reached out in 2021 with a message of hope and 
love, founded upon the grace of God. We are grateful for the many and surprising ways God 
has blessed our congregation during the COVID pandemic. 
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Big Bear Conference Report 

 
St. John’s, Palm Desert 
St. John's continued to share the gospel of Jesus Christ through the challenges of 2021. We’re 
grateful for a dedicated team who continued to adapt to provide weekly Worship Services, 
Christian education, service to the community, pastoral care, and fellowship opportunities – we 
participated in the Faith Growth Digital Ministry mentoring program and started a podcast, “Grace 
Abounds,” of weekly sermons; continued our FIND food distribution, and our support of the 
Coachella Valley Rescue Mission, the Salvation Army, and other local organizations; added a 30’ by 
60’ Pavilion to our on-campus Park to facilitate congregational and community events; participated 
in Love Local Coachella Valley, receiving over $8,000 to spend in support of local businesses; 
offered Youth and Adult Bible studies in-person and via Zoom; and provided pastoral care through 
our various Caring Ministries.    
 
Spirit of Peace, Big Bear 
The beginning of 2021 found us doing church via Zoom.  Pastor Glen Egertson was our supply 
pastor in January and February and Pastor Ray Wade covered March through Easter.  The first 
Sunday after Easter we started worshiping with St. Columba's Episcopal Church in their new 
sanctuary.  Our intention was to come together in a partnership.  We have worshiped together 
ever since and now have a Memo of Understanding being reviewed by the synod and diocese.  The 
partnership committee met every other Saturday working out the details of the partnership.  Being 
a Federated Congregation is our ultimate goal.  St. Columba's Spirit of Peace Church is our working 
name.  We have continued to do Simple Suppers, Gift bags for the ladies at DOVES, monthly 
Birthday lunches and God's Work Our Hands Sunday.  God is doing wonderful things in and 
amongst the members of this partnership.  We are especially thankful for the leadership and 
guidance of Father Stuart Swan our joint pastor. 
 
Trinity, Victorville 
Trinity in Victorville began worshiping in person again in June, and things started a little slow, as 
they often do in the summer with vacations and many escaping the heat. But as Fall came, so did 
the people, including quite a number of newcomers! We are looking forward to welcoming a group 
of new members at the Easter Vigil. This includes some who began worshiping with us online and 
have now become active in-person in our community. We have been blessed by a couple very 
dedicated volunteers who put in countless hours toward ensuring we have a high-quality 
livestream, both for our members worshiping from home and others who join us from around the 
country. Other activities included a Fall Weekend Arts Camp for children and families in place of a 
summer VBS, culminating in a church picnic; as well as a Christian caregiving class to kickstart our 
visitation & care ministries. We were also blessed to participate in the Dialogues on Race 
opportunity through the Synod’s Anti-Racism Working Group. For Lent this year we took a 40 Day 
Bible Challenge to gain perspective on the whole story of scripture. Now we are looking toward a 
process of evaluating our ministry and mission in our community as we enter the next chapter of 
our life together.  
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First Lutheran Church, Redlands 
God provides! This past year First has embraced new ways of worship and fellowship. The words of 
Isaiah come to mind “Remember not the former things, nor consider the things of old. I am about 
to do a new thing; now it springs forth, do you not perceive it?”  We have adapted how we sing, 
share the peace, and administer the sacraments during the ongoing pandemic. While worship is 
different, it is still joyous and glorifies God. The technology skills developed during the pandemic 
allowed us to transition from prerecorded worship services to live streaming after returning to the 
sanctuary. We are proclaiming the gospel far beyond the doors of our sanctuary. With heavy hearts 
but with a great sense of hope for the future, we received Pastor Kim Krogstad’s retirement notice 
effective June 2022. God still has new things in mind for First. We are grateful that God continues 
to work in and through our congregation. 
 
Lutheran Church of the Desert, Joshua Tree 
Like every congregation within the Synod, we have had our share of surprises during the past year.  
Once again our geographical isolation proved very effective in keeping us healthy and infection 
free.  We have established a video program that allows us to provide live worship over Zoom and 
then post a video to our Facebook page.  God is working in great and wonderful ways for us, and 
we have seen an increase in our weekly worship as tourists return to our desert paradise.  We are 
excited that our pastor will be soon graduating from the TEEM program and hopefully will be 
ordained before the end of 2022.  She has carried us through these last few years with love and 
grace and we praise God for her leadership and ability to teach us new ways to proclaim the Gospel 
during these challenging times. 
 
Our Savior’s, Banning 
For Our Savior’s Lutheran in Banning, CA, 2021 has been another unusual year! There have been 
gatherings and shutdowns, joys and deep sorrows. But with God’s continued blessings, the love of 
our Lord Jesus and the strength of the Holy Spirit, Our Savior’s has made it to 2022. Praise be to 
God!  Here are a few of praises:  

• What a blessing to have had Pastor Dave Kieffer and family with us for a year now! He 
guided us through difficult times, always with a joyful heart and encouragement. He nudges us to 
move outside our church family to meet our neighbors and friends with loving and inviting hearts.  

• We have been busy maintaining the church, watching our fiscal health, planning new ways 
to worship and fellowship while focusing on bringing Christ’s love to those who do not know Him. 
We revived Endowment fund, planned Fun Fellowship activities, upgraded the sound system and 
visual support during service and online, repaired windows, doors, roofs and heating and air 
conditioning systems, a revision of the Stewardship program with a focus on “Generosity,” and 
increased in our outreach to such as the “houseless” in our community as well as our neighbors. 

For all of the members of Our Saviors Lutheran Church, we give thanks and praise to God 
our Creator for the continued blessings, to our Lord, Jesus Christ, for His love and sacrifice and to 
the Holy Spirit for the strength provided for each and every one of us. We are honored to be a part 
of this loving family and look forward to what great things we can do in 2022! 
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God’s Mission Lutheran Parish: A two-point parish of  
Lutheran Church of the Cross, Rialto, CA  
and Gloria Dei Lutheran Church, Fontana, CA 
These two faith communities continued to receive the gifts of God’s grace together, bidding 
farewell to Pastor Elwood (Woody) Hall, who had provided pastoral services under contract for the 
past few years, and welcoming Pastor Mark Winick after his retirement from hospital chaplaincy in 
San Bernardino.  
 
Shepherd of the Desert, Barstow 
Like every faith community in the country, we entered 2021 dealing with the realities of the 
pandemic but we had become smarter in how to be church in the midst of a pandemic. We had 
also gained wisdom of how to be church in the absence of the church buildings. Guided by the 
Spirit, we were able to invent ways of being together in the spirit even though we were away from 
one another in body. 
 
Mid 2021 we resumed in-person worship albeit gradually.  We resumed Laundry Love and Free 
Lunch for the community, and we reconnected with services at the Pregnancy Centre, and the 
Barstow Humane Society. Our weekly bible studies, catechism classes, and business meetings 
moved gradually from Zoom gatherings to in-person.  
 
We also continued our phone call ministry to those who preferred to stay home rather than gather 
in-person, as well as for the homebound. For these vulnerable siblings in Christ and for those who 
joined our online community from out of state, we decided to make livestreaming services 
permanent. We invested in technology that would enable us to do so. 
  
It has been such a thrill getting back together and we are so full of God’s spirit that helps us to 
imagine ministry now and in the future. We continue to seek to be the representation of Christ in 
the city and community of Barstow and to live out our mission of being faithful witnesses of the 
enduring love of God. 
 
Cross and Crown, Rancho Cucamonga  
Cross and Crown continues to meet in person one year after reopening. We are a small 
congregation, seeing 30-40 in worship on Sundays, but we are excited to have grown our YouTube 
channel to almost 500 subscribers. We have added members to our praise band, which alternates 
with our traditional cantor every other Sunday.  We offer Bible studies, book studies, and classes, 
including Financial Peace University. We continue our outreach to the community with our 
partners, Rancho Cucamonga Family Resource Center, Central City Lutheran Mission, and Etiwanda 
School District. We have welcomed a Korean Presbyterian congregation, an Indonesian ELCA 
congregation, and an AA group into the building. Our council has begun working with Pastor Marj 
Funk-Pihl and other congregations through Living the Resurrection missional development. We are 
exploring enhanced technology including search engine optimization and Google grants. We are 
currently welcoming two new families and three members in baptism. The Spirit continues to 
sustain and amaze us, and our minds are set on God's abundance and eagerness to see the new life 
that is just around the corner. With all we do, we strive to love God with all we've got, love our 
neighbors, and love ourselves. 
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Lutheran Church of Our Savior – Spirit of Hope, San Bernardino 
2021 through the first quarter of 2022 was simultaneously a challenging and exciting time for our 
congregation. It saw the resumption of indoor worship on Palm Sunday 2021 as the coronavirus 
pandemic began to ease; the two formerly separate ELCA congregations in San Bernardino, Lutheran 
Church of Our Savior and Spirit of Hope completed their consolidation process – forming a single, 
larger, better equipped for ministry congregation; interim pastor Rev. Milo Ken Anderson completed 
his time serving the consolidated congregation, and the call of our new pastor, Rev. Steve Anderson, 
was affirmed in January 2022. The congregation is using the season of Lent 2022 as a time of dying 
to self, returning to God, and selecting a new name/unified identity which will be revealed as a “new 
creation” on Easter morning. 
 
Central City Lutheran Mission, San Bernardino 
There are exciting things happening at CCLM as we continually renew our service to the city and 
the Inland Empire, including through renewing our facilities. CCLM is a ministry of Lutheran Social 
Services, so see the report from LSS elsewhere in this notebook or at Assembly to read or hear all 
about them!  
 
Hope, Palm Desert 
While the year 2021 has been a challenge worldwide, the Holy Spirit was hard at work through the 
people of Hope Lutheran Church in Palm Desert, California. We were finally able to open our Hope 
Children's Center to in person care. This has been a blessing unlike any other. The children are 
learning about Jesus and demanding that their families attend church on Sundays! With the 
transition to both in person and online worship, we are finding that we are reaching new people 
around the globe. Our new members consist of not only people here in the Coachella Valley, but 
people in Thailand, Norway, and other countries around the world. One very successful ministry 
has been our online daily devotionals on Facebook. It has been remarkable to see families connect 
across the country each and every morning. We give thanks that Jesus remains to be faithful to the 
people of Hope Lutheran Church. 
 
River of Hope, Palm Springs 
River of Hope, our Lutheran Faith Community in the Desert, continues to shape and reshape the 
vision originally laid out not only by the Pacifica Synod, but other congregations who affirmed the 
need for an ELCA presence on the West end of the Coachella Valley. Now only three years old, the 
mission/ministry of this work kicks into high gear with post-pandemic creativity, all while on its way 
to becoming an official congregation of the ELCA. 
 
God’s Spirit has called us to a deeper understanding of diversity and inclusivity, constantly 
challenging us to be the church for those who have been marginalized, even rejected by the church 
in previous days. Now the grace of God’s love flows freely and welcomes back those who were 
disenfranchised. As a recent ad we placed in a local PS magazine says, “Have an aversion to 
organized religion? Maybe you were even told there was something about you God couldn’t love. 
What you were told was a lie. Come meet the God who thinks you’re fabulous!” 
 
We still meet at a Jewish temple (Jesus worshipped at one, and so do we!) and value our 
ecumenical and interfaith partnerships. Worship continues to be traditional in nature, but hardly 
conventional. Rich Cook, new Director of Music, has brought an exciting new dimension to worship. 
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Additional equipment, thanks to synod grants, has allowed us to become technically available to do 
ministry to an increasing online community. Engaging with the community through outreach, 
serving a growing homeless population in our village, and standing up with minorities undergoing 
oppression are main streams of the work God has called us to be about. 
 
Finally, we acknowledge with grateful hearts the support of the pastors and people of Hope, Palm 
Desert, under whose umbrella, this work has been made possible. We also thank many other 
congregations for their prayers and needful financial support that has also contributed to the 
success of this new mission start. Finally, we are most appreciative to Rev. Tom Goellrich, DEM, 
who has guided this work, to Terri Robertson who has assisted us greatly in finances, and to Bishop 
Andy Taylor who has been a constant encouragement.  
 
The vision has become reality! Praise God! 
 
Faith, Yucaipa 
Faith in Yucaipa is experiencing a renewal of in person worship as the threat of COVID recedes. 
Over the past year we have offered worship via YouTube. We continue to offer today but our in 
person worship has rebounded with our younger families back. We also restarted our confirmation 
classes. During Covid we not only worked to offer worship in digital format but also to improve our 
property. We constructed four gazebos on our patio area. We completed our work on the front 
yard to make it drought resistant and full of biblical imagery. In September of 2021 we were able to 
reopen our preschool under the outstanding leadership of Heather Uribe. Most of our preschool 
staff members have returned and the preschool is now serving 30 infants to preschoolers. Our 
pantry continues to be open twice monthly serving 30 to 40 families. 70 quilts and 70 lap quilts 
were sewn by our quilting volunteers. At the same time we continue to offer our space to NA, OA, 
AA, and Al-Anon groups. We are proud to be able to be of service in making the Kingdom of God 
more real in Yucaipa. 
Pastor John Bunge 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
The Rev. Matthew A. Anderson, Dean 
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SADDLEBACK CONFERENCE REPORT

CHRIST LUTHERAN CHURCH (San Clemente, CA)

Life is a beach in San Clemente at Christ Lutheran. We are worshipping weekly at 8:00am at North Beach and at
10:30 in our Sanctuary on Camino Capistrano. Both of our services are streamed via Facebook Live and are
uploaded to YouTube weekly. We have three bible studies we are doing one on the book Imagine Heaven, one on
1 Corinthians, and a WELCA bible study using the Gather magazine. We are currently completing new member
classes and will welcome new members on Palm Sunday. We have started a confirmation class on Zoom. We
are an RIC congregation deeply involved in social ministry. We work to change our community’s politics,
brainstorm solutions, and support those living in poverty. Our outreach to the community includes a Laundry
Love ministry and a monthly bonfire/potluck. We also support San Clemente Military Family Outreach and the
Family Assistance Ministries. We have a thriving preschool on-site and have just completed a
drought-resistant landscaping project. Come join us for fun in the sun and sand on your toes as we share
ministry with the world.

Submitted by Reverend Juli Patten

GLORIA DEI LUTHERAN CHURCH (Dana Point, CA)

In response to God’s grace, Gloria Dei was active in ministry in a variety of ways this past year.

● Pastor David Mattson led a gifted sta� including both full-time and part-time people and a large
number of gifted volunteers.

● We made a commitment to increase our overall giving in terms of stewardship to support the ELCA, the
Pacifica Synod, and many ministries. We also continue to support a missionary in China.

● Our preschool turned a tough 2020 into a strong year with a few new sta� members and the school
now has a long waiting list. Director Shelli Parajeckas has been nimble in facing all the changes.

● Church Family/Fellowship Life: 2021 saw not only some of our oldest members die and without funerals,
and people lost loved ones to Covid. But it was also full of baptisms, weddings, Confirmations, First
Communions, fellowship events, and more. We learned a lot and continue to learn how to do ministry in
unusual times. When it was safe to do so, our Eucharistic Ministry team (led by Daneen Pysz and Intern
Veronica Gould) had a training for new ministers and they have been busy visiting shut-ins.

● Worship: Our goal is to respond to God’s grace with an energetic, liturgical style, while also being
relevant with a warm welcome, practical messages, and emphasizing the cross of Jesus.

● We welcomed Veronica Gould as our seminary intern for the year. We also had a summer college (CLU)
intern helping with youth ministry and other activities.

● Hopefully, we will reconnect more with Los Angelitos Orphanage (Tijuana) and bring them a new van for
school and other activities.

● This year saw the return of many 12 Step and other community groups and the addition of an important
new ministry at Gloria Dei - South County Literacy Council. They teach English to very grateful people.

● On Ash Wednesday, March 2, the Concordia College Choir (MN) will be in concert. This was a sign that
music and worship groups were coming back.
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At Gloria Dei, we often shout responsively: “Grace changes - everything!” God’s grace shown fully and finally
through the cross and resurrection has powered everything we do in this past year and we’re looking forward
to all the opportunities in the future to proclaim God’s grace.

NEWPORT HARBOR LUTHERAN CHURCH (Newport Beach, CA)

Moses once faced utter exhaustion. Leading his people in battle he told them, “I will stand on the top of the hill
with the rod of God in my hand.” The Bible adds, “Whenever Moses held up his hand, Israel prevailed; and
whenever he lowered his hand [the enemy] prevailed. But Moses’ hands grew weary; so he took a stone and
sat upon it, and Aaron and Hur held up his hands, one on the side and the other on the other side; so his hands
were steady until the going down of the sun”.  And the people of Israel won the battle. (Exodus 17:9-13)

For two years we have been in the Covid pandemic battle. In our exhaustion, we have been frightened and
frustrated as were the Exodus people, wondering why they were wandering in the wilderness without enough
resources. But at Newport Harbor Lutheran people have rallied. We have lifted up each other’s weary arms
and spirits and hopes. On Sundays we only waved the passing of the peace and not hugged, only ate
communion wafers and not rich bread, only saw eyes above masks and not smiles. But we were still together in
our journey.  By God’s help we have been Aaron and Hur for each other.

An added blessing – we embarked on a $600,000 remodeling campaign. This is the first of several remodels
we will do over several years on our 52-year-old campus as we prepare to expand our preschool in 2022. Our
campus looks fresh.  We also became adept at zoom Bible studies and welcomed a fine new music director.

2020 was horrible.    2021 was hopeful.   May 2022 be healthy.

OUR SAVIOR’S LUTHERAN CHURCH (San Clemente, CA)

Throughout the year, Our Savior's Lutheran Church has o�ered worship online and in person, Bible studies,
youth groups, events for youth and opportunities for our members to serve their neighbors. The Preschool and
Infant Care Center of Our Savior's was able to remain open and provide a much needed, much appreciated and
well-respected ministry to young ones in San Clemente.

In 2021 Our Savior's called a new pastor. Pastor Rich Ajer served faithfully as interim until November when the
church voted to call Pastor Cole McGlynn. Pastor Cole started in mid-November just before the start of Advent.

With a new pastor and with new energy having (hopefully) made it through the worst of the COVID pandemic,
Our Savior's is excited to see how God will use us and lead us in our community. We are not sure what the
future holds but we know who holds the future and who has continued to be with us and urge us onwards.

Other congregations in our conference:
Lutheran Church of the Master in Corona Del Mar
Mission Lutheran in Laguna Niguel served by Pastor Bill Synder

Respectfully submitted, and serving as Dean of the Saddleback Conference,
Pastor David R. Mattson
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Son & Surf Conference Report 

 
 
The Son & Surf Conference comprises of 11 congregations and ministry groups from 
Cypress, Fountain Valley, Garden Grove, Huntington Beach, Los Alamitos, Orange, 
Santa Ana, and Seal Beach.  Pastor Jennifer Schultz serves as the dean of the 
conference.  We have not met for in-person events or meetings officially as a 
conference since early 2020 due to Covid.  Over this past year, there continues to be 
adjustments made for worship and activities at the various ministry sites.  There have 
also been some rostered leader transitions within the conference.  The following 
individual reports are shared in alphabetical order according to the name of the 
congregation/ministry group. 
 
 
Bethlehem Lutheran Church, Los Alamitos:  We were able to return to in-person 
worship on Palm Sunday of 2021 and have continued to do so since then.  We also 
continue to record all of our worship services and make them available to view on our 
website, Facebook page, and YouTube page.  We celebrated our 60th Anniversary in 
November of 2021 (actual anniversary date was April 4), we wanted to wait to celebrate 
until we felt comfortable having a fellowship event.  Pastor Tom Goellrich preached at 
the worship service and we enjoyed a catered luncheon and beer/hymnsing after the 
luncheon.  It was wonderful to be able to celebrate and mark this important anniversary 
together.  We applied for and received funds from the Synod Technology Grant and 
used the matching funds to upgrade and add new audio/visual equipment to further 
enhance our capabilities for outdoor/mobile worship/events.  We’ve been intentional in 
returning to familiar happenings at the church, following recommendations and 
guidelines given from health authorities.    
 
 
Imanuel Indonesian Fellowship (Los Alamitos) 
Highlights:  - The technology equipment for live streaming services, from Synod 

Technology Development Grant. 
- We, joined with Bethlehem Lutheran Church of Los Alamitos, did some 

ministries together. 

- We, joined with Indonesian Lutheran Ministry of Rancho Cucamonga, 

served the needy in San Bernardino. 

- All are well and healthy. 

Special Celebration: - Received 1 member. 
Challenge: - to go through the Covid-19 influence. 
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King of Glory, Fountain Valley continued to praise God, grow in our faith and serve 
our brothers and sisters in Christ throughout the pandemic with combinations of in-
person and livestreamed worship services both in and outdoors. Our King's Kitchen 
ministry, which offers food and fellowship to the hungry and unhoused in our 
community, didn't miss a beat as it maintained its pandemic options for take out meals 
and outdoor fellowship. Our preschool and youth ministry learned to adapt to the 
changing regulations and varying needs of our families, kids and youth. And most 
proudly, we adopted a new community health ministry in partnership with Hoag Hospital 
which included holding our first flu shot clinic where many church members and 
preschool families were vaccinated and hosting our first blood drive at the start of 2022. 
Along with the many worshipping communities of Pacifica Synod, we are working 
together to navigate how to be Christ's Body by loving all of God's people and meeting 
the needs we can in this ever-changing world. 
 
 
 
Lutheran Church of the Resurrection in Huntington Beach has expanded our 
exchange program with the Lutheran church in Japan (JELC)—in addition to youth and 
adult exchange programs we’ve added a preschool peace exchange.  The church also 
created a partnership with a local Catholic congregation and a Presbyterian 
congregation to address social needs in the city, especially around issues of at-risk 
youth.  Our congregation remains active in Cursillo and has expanded adult faith 
maturity experiences, especially the Spiritual Exercises (of St. Ignatius). 
 
 
 
Mount Calvary Lutheran Church called me as their settled pastor and I began on 
November 1st, 2021.  We are in the process of updating our constitution, and a group of 
us are attending the Living The Resurrection 18 month training/workshops with the 
synod so that we can discover how God is leading us to serve our community in 
Cypress.  We are worshipping in-person and on Zoom and have a rich music life 
together.  We are having Lenten Suppers and Worship with Holden Evening Prayer and 
are planning a dramatic reading of the Passion on Palm Sunday and festive worship on 
Easter.  Throughout the pandemic our Social Ministry has remained active in support of 
different groups, (local, national and international) working to bring peace and justice to 
our world.   
 
In Christ, 
Carole Parmeter Dyer, Pastor 
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Our Saviour’s Lutheran Church, Orange– submitted by Pastor Jennifer Zahnow: 
 
As with the rest of the world we began looking at new ways of sharing the gospel. We 
worshiped online using a cell phone through Facebook for the first half of the year. We 
were one of the recipients of the Pacifica Synod Technology Grant, which allowed us to 
purchase cameras, computer, and microphones to improve our livestreaming abilities. 
We switched platforms for livestreaming from Facebook to YouTube. This has made a 
difference in our streaming capabilities as we grow into the digital world. On May 23, 
2021, we began worshiping in person, with COVID-19 protocols in place. We continue 
to livestream our service each week. With our new technology in place, we are able to 
help those who can’t attend funerals in person as we are now able to livestream the 
service. 

We have started installing cameras externally around our campus. This will help 
us with the security of our Children’s Center as well as the church.  

We were able to apply for the first and second round of the Paycheck Protection 
Program (PPP) to help both the church and the preschool financially. Both rounds of the 
PPP were forgiven by the end of the year. The congregation voted to increase Pastor 
Jennifer’s hours. The congregation is moving forward toward having a full-time pastor. 
We had several food donation drives throughout the year and a toy drive at Christmas 
to support the Friendly Center in Orange. We were able to continue to support ELCA 
World Hunger and the ministries of the Pacifica Synod. We were able to host our annual 
Living Nativity at Christmas once again. In December, we received a gift for the painting 
of our buildings which will take place sometime next year. We continue to shine the light 
of Christ in all we do. 
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Rejoice Conference Report 

By Pastor Anne-Grethe Krogh Nielsen, Dean of Rejoice Conference.  

2021 was continually marked by Covid19, and thus with the ongoing precautions, care and creativity.  As the 

Global Pandemic continued to mark our days and ways as local congregations, churches, and communities, the 

pastors of Rejoice Conference met via Zoom or in safe in-person settings. We have met for much needed time 

to check-in, share, update and be in prayerful conversation.   

The Congregations of Rejoice have also continued to be diligent, precautious, compassionate, and creative in 

how we have been able to be church and do ministry; and especially committed to how we might explore new 

and different ways. The digital church has been embraced as a necessity but even more as a blessed ministry 

and unexpected tool. While we are all adapting as best as we can, we are also looking forward to become a 

hybrid church of worship, faith, community, engagement and mission both in person as well as maintaining and 

broadening our digital presence and outreach.  

I, Pastor Anne-Grethe Krogh Nielsen, from the Danish Lutheran Church was elected to be the new dean of 

Rejoice Conference in May 2021 as former dean Pastor Cate Luehr stepped down.  

We are 12 congregations in our conference, 

 

St. Paul Lutheran Church, Fullerton. (Pastor Nate Allen) 

St Paul Lutheran Church went completely online like many churches during the pandemic, until the week after 

Easter last April 2021.  Many things have changed, and yet much has stayed the same as well.  Numbers of in-

person churchgoers declined significantly, yet our online presence has helped maintain connections even after 

we returned to in-person worship.  We added another service on Sunday mornings so that people could attend 

worship with less numbers and still feel comfortable.  Our choir came back briefly in the Fall but then took 

another break after Christmas due to the recent surge.  We continue to work closely with community partners 

in our area, making donations of food and money, and working on local projects that need help.  We hosted a 

number of concerts during the pandemic, mostly online but some in-person as well, including a fundraiser for 

the Lutheran Church of Haiti last September.  We hired a new Youth and Family Coordinator part-time to help 

strengthen that aspect of our ministry.  We were looking forward to attending the National Youth Gathering but 

now are planning to join Luther Glen for their retreat! Our Stewardship Team worked on a campaign to help 

people think about stewardship more as a holistic part of their faith journey, and our Evangelism Team has been 

working on a plan to reach out to new neighbors through events, as well as reconnecting with inactive members 

and others who we lost touch with during the online-only phase.  Last year our Church Council updated our 

Constitution and fixed a number of large issues with our church campus that had been put on hold for a while.  

As we go forward, we look to continue building off of our Stewardship and Evangelism efforts, along with growing 

our Youth and Children ministries (bringing back our Easter children's activities and VBS), and our Adult 

Education through Bible Studies and other faith-building courses.   

 

Emanuel Lutheran Church, La Habra (Pastor Sandra Bentz)  

Despite Covid challenges, in 2021 Emanuel continued to be generous in support of our Pacifica Synod as well 

as our LRCC camp ministry, ELCA Hunger and Disaster Ministries and countless local organizations serving 

community needs. 2021 also began a year of transition for Emanuel as we prepare to call a new pastor in 2022. 
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After a prayerful farewell to Pastor Cate Luehr after 13 years of her leadership, we are prayerfully discerning 

“Who are we?” and “What does God want us to do and to be?” Focused on making Emanuel more visible and 

accessible to our neighbors, we are getting ready for a Neighborhood Easter Outreach event and want to help 

our members re-engage and reconnect with God, our neighbors and each other. 

 

First Lutheran Church, Fullerton. (Pastor Greg Ronning and Pastor Jenifer Garcia)  

First Lutheran Church began 2021 with exciting plans for a grand new post covid beginning!  But as we all now 

know, that was not to happen.  So, we adapted, made some new adjustments, and were still able to move forward 

in a number of areas.  Thanks to the matching technology grant from the synod, we were able to enhance our 

audio and video equipment and begin providing Live Stream worship services on our YouTube channel.  In 

partnership with the Pacifica Synod, First Lutheran received a Transitional Leadership Grant, that allowed us to 

call an Associate Pastor.  In October we welcomed Rev. Jenifer Garcia to our staff. Our ministry partners The 

Table, Epic Church, Lutheran Social Services, and St. Thomas remain committed to working together – sharing 

space and ministry.  Our Pantry, “Caring Hands,” continued its ministry without skipping a beat despite the ever-

changing demands of the pandemic, serving meals on Tuesday evenings and handing out groceries on 

Wednesday mornings.  The faithful members of First Lutheran continued to graciously share of their gifts, talents, 

and resources enabling us to finish the year in good financial and spiritual shape.  

 

The Table. (Pastor Greg Ronning).  

In 2020, despite the Pandemic, The Table did very well, meeting on Zoom.  In 2021, we experienced a bit with 

Zoom fatigue, and we struggled trying to figure out how to gather in person safely and effectively.  The Table’s 

unique format, doing church around tables sharing a meal, was particularly problematic.  But through it all, a 

core group finished the year, dedicated to continuing the work of the mission start.  Highlights of the year included 

supporting the “Queerfully and Wonderfully Made” – week of Camp at Luther Glen and working with a local agency 

that helps transition immigrant children into life in the United States.  Our Intern, Jasmine Waring, will be taking 

a greater role in the leadership of The Table in 2022, as we continue to seek new ways to be church in our 

community, and discern the future of The Table.  

 

Dream Builders. (Pastor Hyunho Hong)  

Church of Dream Builders are a Korean speaking Lutheran Worship community. We worship on Sunday 

Morning 11:45 am in person at Lamb of God Lutheran Church in Anaheim, CA. We have Saturday ministry 

programs such as Free Spanish classes for kids, Basketball class by a professional coach, Fine Arts class, and 

Kids Book clubs. There were 40-50 kids on Saturday from 2 – 5:30 pm until the pandemic stopped everything. 

Now we get ready to reopen expecting that Summer of 2022 will be the right time. We also have partnership 

with Lamb of God and St. Luke Lutheran Church in ministries of each other. 

 

St. Luke Lutheran Church. (Pastor Hyunho Hong)  

We are a Multi-cultural worship community with plenty of love and hug reaching out to our neighbors in many 

different ways. We have partnership with Lamb of God and Church of Dream Builders. Three churches get 

together at least twice a year for worship and fellowship. We are also mission partners with each other. St. Luke 
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helps Lamp of God’s homeless ministry and food pantry ministry. We also love being partner with Dream 

Builders for Free Spanish classes for Kids Ministry and many other ministries. We support Kids4Hope 

International adopting three children. We nest one of Orange County Head start campuses for 20 years so far.  

 

St. Andrew Lutheran Church, Whittier. (Pastor Jeffrey Nelson) 

Though the pandemic has restricted or limited some areas of ministry for St. Andrew Lutheran, it has also created 

greater awareness of those who previously might have fallen through the cracks.  We now live-stream our 

services, reaching people who previously could not physically come to worship in person, even in other states 

and countries.  The blending of our worship services for a time has created greater appreciation for the diversity 

of God's gifts offered in worship.  We have transformed our communication with the congregation from monthly 

to weekly and have found ways to share this information with those who do not have access to electronic 

communication.  We continue to house the Little Learners Exploration Academy and have supported them to 

allow them to expand to include infants in their program.  Monthly we host the senior food distribution provided 

by the Orange County food bank, ministered to those who have been limited in meeting their own needs because 

of the pandemic, assembled health kits for Lutheran World Relief, and supported several other social ministry 

programs locally, nationally, and internationally.  Following the example of our LORD, we strive to be GOD'S 

voice and hands in the world in whatever ways we are able. 

 

Faith Lutheran Church, Anaheim. (Pastor James Proper)  

Faith Lutheran in Anaheim continues to be in transition between pastors.  As we deliberate about our future, we 

are grateful for the way a variety of folks among our members have stepped up to fulfill the needs of the 

congregation.  Throughout the last year of pandemic, we have continued to worship in person, mostly outdoors.  

More recently, and with proper protocols in place, we have ventured indoors.  Our music ministry is strong, and 

lay leadership plan worship each Sunday, with a variety of people taking part.  Throughout the previous year, we 

have relied on supply pastors as we prepare for a more intentional interim and look forward to the call process 

of a new pastor.    With this transition in mind, we are carefully considering what ministry may look like for us in 

the future, realizing we may never 'get back to normal' or even what some have fondly called 'the good old days'.  

Rather, a new normal will help shape our ministry and future together. 

 

Messiah Lutheran Church, Yorba Linda. (Pastor Bob Mooney and Pastor Jay Egenes)  
The highlights for Messiah over the last year have been the continued partnerships with Caring Hands Food 
Pantry at First Lutheran Church in Fullerton, with PATH Navigation Center for the Homeless in Placentia, and 
HIS House OC a transitional living ministry in Placentia. We have also continued our partnerships with Hope 4 
Kids International and funded our 152nd fresh water well in Uganda. Our VBS last summer brought 300 kids 
onto our campus, and we look forward to another joy packed week this summer too. The pandemic created the 
opportunity for us to increase our online presence. Our online worship continues to be an open door for people 
to join the Messiah community. Like many other congregations we also experienced painful losses and grief with 
close to 40 funerals over the past year. These losses included many long-time partners in our ministry. Messiah 
continues to emphasize that God has a really big table. We want to make sure that people know that they are 
not only invited to the party, but that each person is welcomed and asked to dance. 
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Danish Lutheran Church, Yorba Linda. (Pastor Anne-Grethe Krogh Nielsen)  

The Danish Lutheran Church continues to worship in English and Danish and promote Danish Culture, 

Traditions and Language through many events throughout the year. We are a strong community of congregants 

and commuters, who try to be a friendly, welcoming, and happy faith community.  With committed volunteers, 

generous donations and a digital grant from the Synod we have been able to start, maintain and expand our 

digital ministry. We have experienced a digital presence and outreach, that truly has been a blessing and a hopeful 

vision for the future. These past years have shown us new ways to be a living Danish Lutheran Church, with vital 

global and cultural presence and yet locally rooted.  Besides our Weekly Worship Services and Events, we offer 

Danish Language classes, confirmation classes, Danish Summer Camp, Hygge fest, and Scandinavian Christmas 

Fair.  The Danish Church actively supports HIS House OC (transitional living ministry in Placentia), regularly 

hosts Lifeline Screenings for the Community, and hosts Voting Centers. Furthermore, a small Spanish New Life 

Ministry Congregation worships every Saturday in the church. - The Danish Church continues to invite everyone 

to come worship with us, dine with us, laugh with us, and together be nourished, fed, strengthened, comforted, 

educated and enlightened.  

 

Lamb of God Lutheran Church, Anaheim.  

The Congregation is in transition after the retirement of pastor Steve Bieghler in December 2021. Sunday Supply 

Preaching.  

 

Shepherd of Life Lutheran Church, Whittier.  

Sunday supply preaching by Pastor Bill Norman. No other meetings, ministries or activities.  

 

Other congregations in Rejoice Conference are:  

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church, Buena Park. Pastor Michael Schneider 

Salem Lutheran Church, Whittier . Pastor Maggie Goodwin.  
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Hukilau Conference Report 

The Hukilau Conference of the Pacifica Synod consists of 10 congregations on the islands of 
Hawai’i, Maui, O’ahu and Kaua’i, as well as several congregations lead by ELCA Pastors (one 
each on Kaua’i, O’ahu, Moloka’i and Lana’i and Guam), the work of Pacific Health Ministry as 
well as the work that Retired Chaplain Steve Jensen does with Wounded Warriors through the 
Kaneohe Marine Corps Base on the Windward side of O’ahu.  
 
Throughout the last two years, we have been able to continue to gather each month over 
Zoom, which has been a great way to check in with one another without the need for travel.   
 
Pastor Kathryn Zurcher has served as Dean of the Hukilau Conference for the last 6 years, so we 
will be electing a new Dean during the 2022 Pacifica Synod. 
 
Below are a few reports from some of our pastors/ministries in the Hukilau Conference: 
 
Lihue Lutheran, led by Pastor JP Paxton, has supported several ministries throughout this past 
year. The Martha’s Circle began its last and final year of service, providing cleaning of the 
fellowship halls, church, worship, and administrative spaces. The Dorcas Society, our quilters 
group, has continued to meet and has recently received an increase in membership and 
participation due to the impending lift on mask mandates. Mobile Munchies, a food 
distribution-outreach group, serves numerous groups and non-profits around the island to 
provide bagged lunches to groups and individuals facing food scarcity. Lihue Lutheran has 
continued to develop a gardening ministry called “Garden of Grace” in which we have planted 
over 5 box planters on church property to support congregational wellness and collaborative 
activities. Over the past year, Lihue Lutheran has offered one worship service each Sunday 
morning and provides a livestream of all of our services via Facebook Live. Lihue Lutheran 
continues to support affiliate ministry groups such as Al-Anon, CODA, AA, a weaving group, a 
halau group, and an additional quilting group on campus. 
 Youth ministry continues with a modest group and meets every other week for a time of 
food, fellowship, and a short lesson. The College Young Adults Group, named the Ghetto Sweet 
Tarts, has grown from 2-3 to about 13 in the past year. They meet each week for a time of 
devotion-discussion, faith formation, food, and fellowship activities. Our Bible Study – BOBS – 
meets once a week and we have studied through the book, The Forgotten Luther, 1 Corinthians, 
Ephesians, and the Book of the Twelve (minor prophets) this past year. We have recently 
launched two new groups that include: RAW (really am worship), a group that meets once a 
week for early morning prayer and worship and a men’s group, which meets once a week for a 
men’s bible study and campus clean-up. 
 Lihue Lutheran has been the recipient of the Matthew 25 grant and a technology grant 
from the Pacifica Synod. This has supported our Mobile Munchies ministry as well as 
collaborative efforts with other churches to host food distributions during the pandemic. The 
technology grant blessed our weekly worship activities by helping us develop technologies to 
support virtual and online ministries. Lihue Lutheran also received generous donations to 
replace 25-year old ovens in our kitchen and will receive two brand new gas stove-top ovens to 
launch intergenerational ministries centered on baking, cooking, and community. 
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Maluhia Lutheran Church on O’ahu led by Rev Jasmine Bostock (who also serves an Episcopal 
Congregation on the Waianae Coast) took a break these past years, because of COVID, from 
their two main outreach ministries - One Pot One Hope and Kids Klub.  Both those ministries 
have started up again in 2022. 
 
Pastor Keith Wolter serves Christ Lutheran in Mililani on O’ahu and shares this report: As we 
moved into January 2021, Christ Lutheran Church continued to hold hybrid worship services 
with Holy Communion.  In-person worship at 8am featured a Facebook Livestream via a small 
MEVO camera.  Worship at 11am used a more sophisticated audio-visual setup for Zoom and 
later upload to our YouTube channel. 
 We also continued to upgrade our AV system, with new cords, microphones, and AV 
processors.  The mobile MEVO allowed us to change scenarios quickly, too, so that we could be 
in the sanctuary, in an office, up close, far off, and even outside.  We are thinking these 
upgrades are going to be a continuous part of our congregation’s life and worship. 
Because of the mobility of the MEVO in particular, we were able to add – sometimes at the last 
minute – various litanies of prayer, song, and word on weekdays throughout the year.  Litanies 
included Prayer in a Times of War and/or National Distress, MLK Day, Epiphany, New Year’s Eve, 
Blue Christmas, World AIDS Day, the Commemoration of the Emmanuel 9, the 41st Anniversary 
of CLC, daily Holy Week reflections, and a nicely pre-recorded and edited Thanksgiving service. 
We also posted various public health updates as they pertained to our worship life. 
 Pastor and several local chaplains in the congregation began to record and upload a 
daily Morning Prayer to YouTube, with which people could start their day.  Each recording 
consists of scripture, a prayer, and a blessing.  The entire recording last two to five minutes and 
is scheduled for release on the appointed morning via FB, IG, YT, and Twitter.  It has been well 
received. 
In-person worship increased as vaccination numbers went up, then, evaporated as delta 
surged.  Again, in-person worship grew around Advent and Christmas, and then, again, faded as 
omicron surged.  Christmas Eve 2021 service with carols and electric candles was the largest 
service of the year, with fifty-five worshipers in-person. 
 Holy Communion and preaching the Word have remained at the center of our worship 
along with prayer, music and singing behind masks becoming more and more part of that 
center. Keiki Bible stories are told every Sunday except when the Liturgy of Healing is observed 
on the second Sunday of every month.  Laying on of hands for healing remained at a distance 
throughout the year. 
 Interestingly, overall numbers of worshipers stayed steady throughout the year.  During 
the surges when in-person worship declined dramatically, people didn’t wander off – they just 
went back online.  Our combined numbers for both 2020 and 2021 were better than exclusively 
in-person worship in the Before Times. 
 Also of interest, we have had many non-tourist visitors coming through, seekers of all 
ages.  A good number of them were looking for an affirming LGBTQ+ church.  Some came and 
went, others lingered. 
Singing in church (behind masks) resumed in August, then, ceased as the delta variant 
arrived.  Now, it is back but still behind masks. 
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 We re-financed our MIF mortgage in order to upgrade the property.  New fencing, new 
plumbing, new lighting and wiring, and a repaved parking lot arrived.  Next up, are refurbished 
offices, sidewalks, painting, and tree-trimming. 
 One of our proudest accomplishments in 2021 was the creation of The Aloha-Agape 
Community Garden (AACG). An Eagle Scout project built the AACG with Federal CARES Act 
monies coming from the Hawaii Chamber of Commerce’s Business Pivot Grant.  We told them 
we were pivoting from a grass lawn to a garden and they loved it.  Now gardeners from Central 
Oahu grow lush produce.  Besides a modest water fee, we ask all of the gardeners to give a 
portion of their produce to Aloha Harvest, which takes the vegetables to area food pantries 
feeding the hungry.  We have been sending ten to thirty pounds of fresh produce weekly to the 
pantries. 
 For a turbulent year it has been a busy year for the communion of saints known as 
Christ Evangelical Lutheran Church of Mililani Town.  Mahalo nui loa for taking the time to hear 
what we have been up to. 
 
 
During the year, Joy of Christ Lutheran Church in Pearl City on the island of Oahu, led by 
Pastor JP Sabbithi, continued in-person and online worship services following the county and 
state guidelines.  The online worship was made possible with the grants received from the 
Synod Office and some memorial gifts from the members of the congregation, for which we are 
grateful. During the week, we had mid-week fellowship and prayer on zoom every Wednesday 
evenings.  The congregation is sustaining. 
  As COVID related restrictions eased, the community groups who used to use our facility 
for their gatherings started coming back during the year. 
  We continued our ministry to the homeless.  Instead of serving meals at the shelters, we 
prepared food at the church and taken to the shelters. We are grateful for the grants from the 
synod office and the generosity of the community to continue this ministry. 
  Joy of Christ continues to discern and discover her mission of “Joyfully Sharing God’s 
Love in Christ” to the neighborhood especially during this time of pandemic. 
 
 
Pacific Health Ministry (PHM), led by Director Rev Anke Flohr, continued to provide 24/7 
pastoral care in 11 health care facilities with a team of 30 chaplains on 3 islands. In 2021 COVID 
restrictions continued in the medical centers where we serve. Often the chaplains were the 
only visitors. Support of exhausted medical staff was also critical. 
 
 
Ordained and installed in February 2022, Pastor Brianna Lloyd serves Lutheran Church of 
Honolulu on O’ahu with Pastor Jeff Lilley.  Pastor Bree shares this: With the support of the 
Lutheran School of Theology at Chicago, I completed the pastoral internship at LCH.  During this 
internship, the LCH community supported an intern project of a small community garden.  We 
had a lovely Childrenʻs Day in the Garden for Earth Day.  In the fall, a call committee was 
formed to consider an associate minister of Word and Sacrament.  The LCH community called 
me as an associate pastor to a part-time, short-term call with the possibility of renewal.   
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Rev Kathryn Zurcher is pastor of St John Lutheran in Kailua, on the Windward side of 
O’ahu.  The congregation continues to remain active in the ecumenical Homeless Hub on the 
Windward side.  They also continue to support various ministries around the island, especially 
collecting money and food for their local food bank.  We resumed in person worship once the 
congregation was fully vaccinated in June of 2021 and are so grateful to be back in the space 
even as the COVID ups and downs of the last two years continued to mess with some of our 
best plans.  Christmas Eve worship involved a lot of changes, but in the end did happen in 
person and was an especially poignant worship both for those in the sanctuary and those who 
joined us around the world over Zoom.   
 
 
Rev. John Lunn serves at Grace Episcopal Church on the Island of Molokai.  It is one of few 
mainline churches there, so we have Lutherans, Methodists and others joining "cradle" 
Episcopalians.  Grace is active in a Thrift Shop ministry, as well as Food Pantry and garden 
growing fresh vegetables.  Through weekly Thank Offerings, Grace supports local programs like 
the Women's Shelter, Homestead Farmers' Association and local Cancer Support Fund.  At 
Christmas we support two farms through the ELCA Good Gifts program. 
 
 
Calvary by the Sea Lutheran Church in Honolulu is experiencing a fresh transformation from 
the inside out and our benevolent Trinitarian God is the center of it all. CBTS has created and 
established weekly mid-week youth and children's ministries along with the arrival of youth 
directors. Alongside of these terrific developments, is the noticeable new face of attenders, 
visitors, and members. Our food bank Angel Network Charities has grown exponentially, 
feeding thousands across the island each week. Our Montessori School is making rapid progress 
towards integration with our Sunday worship as teachers and students find belonging in the 
congregation. The LGBTQIA+ community has discovered community at CBTS, and young 
families are making their way back into the church after a global shift. A beautiful ecumenical 
spirit is forming and soon our choir will be returning after a long covid-break. Certainly, the 
image of the Triune God mirrors the ministry happening at CBTS. Our prayer is to be in 
inclusive, intentional, and involved with our community in the name of Who was and Is and Is 
to come. To respond to our changing world with God's unchanging love and grace. 
 

WOUNDED WARRIOR MINISTRY 2021 

2021 began with a tragedy in our ohana.  A 26-year-old medically retired Marine was killed by a 
careless driver in Florida.  Our Wounded Warriors came together to support the extended 
family and I flew to assist them with their grief and conduct the wake and funeral services.  We 
continue to be in touch with them and they have shown their appreciation by requesting 
donations to our fund in lieu of flowers.  I visited them again in early February with a couple of 
his fellow Marines. 

A survivor of the Osprey crash now lives and works in Hilo.  He had 2 deaths his family in a 
matter of months.  We provided some assistance and reached out to our friends at Pa’ani 
Ranch who provided wreaths made of ohia from their property. 
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A number of our families lost loved ones to the pandemic or suffered severe illnesses 
throughout their families because of it.  The severe stresses of illnesses, loss, job loss, family 
issues, PTSD, and more caused suicidal ideation and concomitant calls for assistance at all hours 
to dramatically rise. 

Local medically retired Wounded Warriors continue to find the transition to civilian life 
challenging, especially trying to find employment while teaching their children at home, dealing 
with illnesses in the family and their own medical issues.  Here, too, having a resource network 
available and churches willing to help where possible made a huge difference. 

St. John was particularly helpful this past year in assisting a homeless veteran with 3 children 
with food, fuel, and other necessities while other resource agencies like ours worked together 
to finally get them HUD/VASH housing and VA benefits. Lutheran Church of Honolulu has 
contributed funds to other families in need and programs we managed to maintain during the 
pandemic.   

Happily, seven families welcomed children into their families around the country and we sent 
some new baby items to help celebrate. 

Cancer and accidents continue to be the primary health challenges that draw family members 
to come from the mainland to tend to patients in the hospital.  While many are given financial 
support by the military for this purpose, not all do, and we assist with food and fuel gift cards 
and sometimes coordinate with hotels for lodging. 

While Friends of Windward Wounded Warriors has had to keep group activities and meals to 
smaller numbers or order take-out, we have been able to resume some familiar activities.  The 
isolation has had a noticeable, yet predictable adverse effect, so every event was greatly 
appreciated. 

Occasional bbqs in my backyard allowed them to get away from the barracks, play yard games, 
and fish in the canal.  Thanksgiving was also held at my home with the meal catered from 
Honolulu Country Club and underwritten in part by Prince of Peace. 

St. John’s Sherree McKellar hosted a pumpkin painting class and meal at her home and later 
encouraged artist friends to join her in donating works to an auction to benefit our fund.  

Once again a small Christmas party was held in the lounge with food a couple of us provided, 
but with stockings made and filled by St. John members under the leadership of Keala Simoes.  
Our annual multi-service 12th day of Christmas was a drive-through event for some 200 people 
from all branches of service and the VA; hosted by Honolulu Country Club, Wounded Warrior 
Ohana, Iolani’s Raiders for Wounded Warriors, Honolulu Navy League and Toys for Tots. 

The Wounded Warrior detachment has been able to better care for the Osprey memorial at 
Bellows on a regular basis, but members of St. John cleaned and decorated it at their own 
expense when the Marines could not.  Not only do the survivors and families of the 2 who were 
lost appreciate their efforts, so do some 1,000+ on Facebook and all who pass by and stop to 
pay their respects. 

Page 5 - 54 



Believing it was more dangerous to again cancel our fourth reunion at a Scout reservation in 
Michigan for some 50 warriors, we were able to work with various organizations to provide a 
week-long all-expenses-paid retreat last summer.   These reunions and the following closed 
chat pages make a huge difference and have once again been recognized as the most effective 
such retreat by one of our sponsors.  I have already begun planning and fund-raising for the 5th 
reunion this August. 

We have only recently begun to join Karen Radius Telios in her homeless veterans monthly 
support event, but applaud her and her team for doing such an amazing job.  Our Wounded 
Warriors just participated in the March program, making and distributing 50 bag lunches. 

St. John was able to obtain Synod funding and matching donations from the congregation to 
assist us in our ministry in 2022.  Our Lutheran community in Hawai’i has been an incredible 
source of strength, support, and assistance for me and our wounded, ill and injured and their 
families since we began in 2011. When many wonder if God has forgotten them or has become 
deaf to their prayers, they hear me talk of you or benefit from one of your many kindnesses.  
Thank you for your faithfulness.  You make a huge difference in many lives! 

 

Mahalo nui loa, 

Steven L Jensen 

Commander, Chaplain Corps,  US Navy (Retired) 

Program manager 
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 agape san diego Lutheran-Episcopal Campus Ministry 
 temporary office:  6556 Park Ridge Blvd., San Diego, CA 92120  
www.agapesandiego.org 619.583.3972 hello@agapesandiego.org    
 

Campus Reopened! 
 This year Agape 
celebrates 72 years of 
ecumenical campus 
ministry at San Diego State 
University, and 60 years in 
the cozy house that we 
have called home. It was 
wonderful to be back on 
campus for in-person Ash 

Wednesday with help from Episcopal Diocese of San 
Diego Bishop Susan Brown Snook at the Transit Center. 
Campus meets Outdoor Ministry 
 As campus finally 
reopened this 
February, our 
‘curbside ministry’ 
has sustained an 
engaging presence on 
our parking lot, right 
by the transit center, 
student union, and 
south campus plaza. 
Stretching beyond our 
cozy house into 
public space is 
engaging new students, staff, faculty and others as we 
prepare for demolition and construction. It is also moving 
us beyond our comfort zone to engage more people every 
day, rather than waiting for them to show up inside. 
Many new folks have expressed appreciation that we 
offer space to “Rest Here” in the shade, with refreshing 
drink and/or conversation. 
Growing Ecumenical Partnership 

Thank you, Pacifica Synod, for decades 
of sustaining campus ministry! 

This year we realize a major leap forward in 
support and leadership from the Episcopal 
Diocese of San Diego, who have committed a 
half-time campus minister with prior campus 
ministry experience to 
join the Agape staff, 
along with $5000 in new 
program funding!  

Heather Lawrence is 
finishing her seminary 
education to rejoin our 
staff this June as Campus 
Missioner as she moves 
toward ordination as an 
Episcopal priest. We are 
excited for Heather’s diverse gifts and experience 
to expand our capacity for ministry. 
Neighborhood Development Permit! 
 Three years of city reviews finally resulted in 
a green light for us to complete our design. The 
complexity of our multi-use, transit-based 
ministry center and communal housing concept 
meant securing several code deviations to 
maximize our use and minimize cost to student 
residents at the hub of the San Diego State 
University campus. Now we need the rest of 2022 
to complete the design, get a building permit, and 
contract the builder.  

And, we still need about $250,000 in pledges 
to reach our pre-raised goal of $2.8 million. We’re 
almost there! Please contact Pastor Darin Johnson 
at darin@agapesandiego.org to explore how you 
can help us build for new generations of college 
students rooted in faith to serve.
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SYNOD ASSEMBLY REPORT – 2022 

Pacifica Synod  
 

Founded in 1948, California Lutheran Homes and Community Services (CLH), provides funding and other assistance for 
those in need of housing and human services through partnerships with churches, community-based organizations, and 
local agencies. CLH demonstrates God’s grace and love through  
 

• Financial and Program Support of Lutheran Church bodies  
• Seed Capital for developing affordable housing projects  
• Sponsorship of subsidized housing projects  
• Direct Ownership of properties providing housing and services for current and former foster youth and 

their families 
• Charitable Care funds to support seniors who experience financial hardship   

  

LUTHERAN CHURCH SUPPORT.  CLH is a direct financial supporter of the Pacifica and Southwest California synods, and 
of Lutheran Services in America. Additionally, CLH has financially sponsored Living the Resurrection so that Pacifica and 
Southwest California Synod congregations can participate at little to no cost. The Rev. Marjorie Funk-Pihl has engaged 
eleven congregations in the eighteen-month Living the Resurrection congregational vitality process.  
 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING.  Affordable housing remains a primary emphasis for CLH. This year, we partnered with a Los 
Angeles based nonprofit to develop an affordable housing project in the heart of the city. We also purchased a property 
in Santa Barbara to eventually increase the number of affordable housing units at Grace Village.  CLH has developed 
expertise in helping Lutheran congregations and Synods/Districts in numerous geographies to utilize land resources for 
the provision of affordable housing as “Legacy Ministries.”   
  

FORMER FOSTER YOUTH SERVICES   Our partnerships with the Biddy Mason Charitable Foundation and OC United 
provide low-cost housing to young women and their families who have the foster care system in their history. The Biddy 
Mason Charitable Foundation, a ministry of First African Methodist Episcopal (FAME) Church, Los Angeles, provides 
resources for current and former foster youth as well as housing for emancipated young women enrolled in local 
colleges and universities.  OC United manages low-cost housing and wrap around services to young women and their 
families who have “aged-out” of the foster system. These sites were purchased by CLH and are rented to our partners 
for $10/month.  
  

RETIREMENT COMMUNITIES   CLH provides direct funding to support the physical, mental, and spiritual well-being of 
seniors at Front Porch communities.  
  

Because of the generous support of our donors and collaborations with non-profit partners and long-time partner Front 
Porch, CLH continues to serve those who are most vulnerable.  THANKS be to God!  
  

 
Robert J. Chillison, Board Chair      Deacon Nancy J. Ackerman, CEO and President  
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Our programs are designed to help students discover and build

their own sense of purpose, while building a support system 

of faculty, mentors and peers that lasts far beyond graduation. 

We  offer hands-on, high impact learning experiences that include: 

  

• Coursework focused on real-world scenarios

• Undergraduate research opportunities

• Study abroad and travel seminars

• Internships

• Creative projects, performances and exhibitions

With challenging academic programs, outstanding faculty, small 

classes, and an emphasis on hands-on learning, each program at 

Cal Lutheran positions our students to succeed.

 

LEARNING IN ACTION

GRADUATE IN

GUARANTEED

4 YEARS STUDENTS LANDED
INTERNSHIPS LAST YEAR

500+

AVERAGE  CLASS SIZE

17

U.S. STATES 
REPRESENTED

36
CLUBS AND ORGANIZATIONS

TO JOIN

100+
UNDERGRADUATE

STUDENTS

2,804

 

OF STUDENTS RECEIVE
FINANCIAL AID

97%
NCAA DIVISION III

TEAMS

22
CONGREGATIONAL

PARTNER IN EDUCATION
AND

ROSTERED LEADER
AWARDS

Take a virtual campus tour at

CalLutheran.edu/tour
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Synod Assembly Report 
 

Thank you for your faithful and very generous support! Because of your prayers, encouragement, 
and financial gifts, PLTS is growing and helping meet the ELCA’s leadership needs. 

 
Growth in Enrollment  
PLTS enrollment continues to grow. In 2021, the seminary had the largest enrollment in several 
years. Approximately fifty percent of the incoming students have been choosing the Distance 
Learning (DL) option, in which they view and participate in classes on their own schedule and gather 
together in Berkeley three or four times during the course of the program.   
 
The Center for Climate Justice & Faith has a new website! 
https://centerforclimatejusticeandfaith.org/ 
 

Certificate in Climate Justice and Faith 
This year, PLTS launched a one-year, online Certificate in Climate 
Justice and Faith. The inaugural certificate class includes 30 people 
from 12 countries ranging in age from 21 to 70. In addition to 
pastors and other church staff, there are teachers, a farmer, a 

therapist, a journalist and a range of other professionals. At the end of the program, each of them will 
develop a “sacred action project” to serve their communities. 
 
MA in Spirituality and Social Change 
PLTS will launch a new master’s degree program in Spirituality and Social Change in September. 
The MA was developed to address the need for theological education and spiritual formation for 
those called to serve as Deacons in the ELCA, and for anyone interested in spiritually grounded and 
theologically informed social change. Students can choose a residential program in Berkeley or one 
that is a mixture of online learning and occasional gatherings in Berkeley for orientation and 
intensive courses. 
 
Certificate in Racial Justice and Faith 
PLTS received a planning grant to develop a certificate program in Racial Justice and Faith. A 
faculty from around the country representing the African American, Latinx, Native American and 
Asian-Pacific Islander communities gathered in Berkeley in February to begin working on the 
curriculum. This will be an online program with modules that will be taught exclusively by 
instructors of color who can authentically represent their lived reality in ways that promote 
understanding, authenticity, and solidarity.  
 
 
 

Office of Seminary Relations 
P.O. Box 525, Berkeley, CA 94701 
PLTS.edu    Page 5 - 59 
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Prepared by Sarah Tees 1

PACIFICA COACHING 
 “There is a time for everything, and a season for every activity under the heavens.” Ecclesiastes 3:1 (NRSV) 

3 Lessons from a Bishop 
Whatever your role in the church is, your call 
has changed. 

“For example, you are now a televangelist. The things 
you say are now recorded, and in some cases, streamed 
in real time. You now have to really think before you 
speak as a Pastor or leader. Someone is always listening.”  

That’s how Bishop Erik Gronberg began his 
presentation for our Coaching for all 
Seasons gathering in February. As coaches, 
we support church leaders in various ways. Since 2020, one of those 
ways is Coaching for all Seasons, a monthly Zoom forum designed to 
address current issues. A key issue for Pacifica Synod in 2022 is electing 
a Bishop. We invited Bishop Erik Gronberg of the Northern Texas- 
Louisiana Synod to share his thoughts about the role of Bishop. He 
outlined three qualities he thinks are required. We share them here as 
we prepare to call our next Bishop. 

A Bishop is first called to be a Pastor - Not to speak for the 
Synod, but to speak to the Synod as their Pastor. Speaking to the 
law and the gospel. Speaking hard truths in love.

A Bishop needs to be collegial - A Bishop cannot be a lone 
ranger but must want to be connected to people and must want 
to develop leaders, both lay and ordained. A Bishop must keep in 
mind the vocation of the baptized.

A Bishop needs to love the gospel - A Bishop must love to 
proclaim the good news of the gospel enough to put up with the 
church, because the church is a human institution. Human 
institutions are broken, and often get it wrong. A Bishop must be 
willing to work with “not perfect”.

With these thoughts in mind, we in Pacifica Synod need to ask 
questions of bishop candidates that demonstrate how they’ve 
grown and what they have learned that has led them to this 
calling. 

Coaching for all 
Seasons 2022 

 Now on the first 
Thursday of the month 

at 11am Pacific.  

Upcoming Gatherings -
Look ahead at our  
schedule for Coaching for 
All Seasons.  

Our monthly online 
gathering for Rostered 
and Lay Leaders.   

• Spiritual Direction with 
Author, Beth Slevcove 

• Anti-racism and the 
Church 

• Mission Redevelopment  

• …and so much more! 

 

“ …in a world in which there are a 
lot of programs that promise they 
can help leaders grow, the only one 
I know that actually works is 
coaching. Coaching because it is 
centered on the leader and their 
outcomes.”  - Bishop Erik Gronberg
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Deenna Eley (Coach Coordinator) is an ACC, Level 2 Coach, pantry coordinator, church 
administrator at First Lutheran Church in Fullerton, and most importantly, a wife and mother. Deenna 
loves connecting and collaborating outcomes and exploring possibilities. She is motivated by 
achievement and is excited to walk alongside individual and church communities through coaching. 
You can reach her at mikedeenna@gmail.com.

M E E T  O U R  PAC I F I CA  C OAC H E S
We have a team of coaches available for members of Pacifica Synod. Whether you are a Pastor discerning 
a call, a Synod Staff member, a congregational council or ministry team,  a Deacon or a lay leader; Pacifica 

Coaching is available to you as a professionally trained resource. How might we help you? 
Our coaches have invested in a variety of specialties.  

Pastor Darryl Kozak  serves as the Pastor of Peace Lutheran Church in Corona. Since 2012, he 
has also had a private practice as a coach. He is Associate Certified Coach (ACC). He is also a 
Level 2 Coach and a Care for Creation LabCoach/trainer with the ELCA and an End of Life and 
Grief Coach through the ELCA’s newest speciality coach training. Pastor Darryl can be reached at 
darryl@darrylkozak.com and please visit  www.DarrylKozak.com.

Carol J. Schultz, J.D., Leadership Coach, is an International Coaching Federation credentialed 
coach, an ELCA Level 2 coach, and a Narrative Coaching Enhanced Practitioner. Carol applies her 
experience as an attorney, dispute mediator, and nonprofit executive to coaching nonprofit and 
church leaders and teams. If you are interested, please email her at cjschultz257@gmail.com to 
request a complimentary session.

Sarah Tees is a Level 2 Synod Coach, a Stephen Leader and Lay Leader at her home 
congregation at St Paul Lutheran Church in Fullerton, CA. She has trained as a Level 1 Synod 
Coach, a Level 2 Stewardship Coach, a Team Coach, and she is currently training to become a 
Level 2 Grief and Loss, End of Life Coach. If interested in coaching please email her at 
sarahtees@hotmail.com.

Joanne Larson is ACC certified.  A lifelong Lutheran, Joanne came to coaching through the 
ELCA’s coaching program with an emphasis on stewardship. She currently serves the ELCA as a 
Level 2 Coach, a trainer, and evaluator of coaches completing their training.  Joanne holds an M.S. 
in Organization Development from Pepperdine University. If interested please email her at 
jlarson714@outlook.com

Curious about Coaching? 

Contact: Deenna Eley  

Synod Coaching Coordinator 

pacificacoachinggroup@gmail.com 

Level 1 Coach Training applications are now 
being accepted. Email for more information.

Coaching Hours / Year

0

125

250

375

500

2019 2020 2021

10990

431

229
171

Individual Team
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2022 Assembly Report 
Children, Youth & Family Ministries 

 
Our synodical work in Children, Youth and Family Ministries continues to be led by volunteers who serve to support 
and provide resources for those leading these ministries in our congregations as well as to provide opportunities to 
develop leadership skills within our young people. We are constantly inspired by and grateful for the dedication, 
creativity, care, and tireless service of those serving in our congregations. We continue to host monthly Zoom 
gatherings to allow youth ministry leaders from across the synod to support one another and share ideas, questions, 
resources, joys, and concerns. 
 
ELCA Youth Leadership Summit 
The highlight of the past year was the return of an in-person ELCA Youth Leadership Summit. In November 2021, two 
high school youth and one adult representative from Pacifica joined other youth and adults from many of the 65 
synods for three days of leadership development and faith formation. The event was held in Minneapolis, 
Minnesota, the anticipated location of the 2022 ELCA Youth Gathering. The youth that represented Pacifica Synod 
were Analiese Christenson (First Lutheran, San Diego) and Maddie Dobbins (St. Andrew’s, San Diego). Pastor 
Manuel Retamoza from St. Andrew’s Lutheran, San Diego, accompanied them to the Summit. Analiese and Maddie 
share their experience below: 
 

After a long year and a half of COVID it was really moving to be surrounded by so much 
faith and community. The theme of the Summit was “Relentless”, relentless in faith, 
hope, trust, action and love. We learned about how God is relentless in all of those 
things, what it means to be relentless, to stick with, encourage and love. Over the 
weekend at the Summit we learned how we can play a part in all the awesome 
relentlessness God shows us in our lives. Reminding me of what it means to be 
Lutheran and to see the outreach that the ELCA does for communities around the 
globe and in cities like ours. Being able to meet so many people from different states 
and places around the US connected me with new friends and exposed me to new 
perspectives, and to say the least was inspiring. The whole experience was inspiring 
and shaping. When I got home late Sunday night that weekend, I remember feeling 
very tired but so full of hope, faith, inspiration, and trust in God.  
-Analiese Christenson (First Lutheran Church, San Diego) 
 

During a long weekend in November, you may have noticed some youth and pastors not in 
worship that was me, as well as Lutheran youth, pastors, and adult leaders from across 
the country. We were in Minneapolis Minnesota for what’s called the Youth Leadership 
Summit. Basically, we got to serve as guinea pigs for what was to come this summer at the 
ELCA Youth Gathering. These gatherings contain Lutheran youth (and pastors, speakers, 
adult leaders and more) all gathered together to share a week of fun and God’s love. The 
theme for that weekend Summit was “Relentless”, and the Gathering this summer was 
supposed to be themed “Boundless”. That weekend in Minnesota, I got to learn what it 
means to be relentless in faith, love, hope, creation, trust and more. It was a great 
experience! I got to see the beauty of Minnesota, as well as learning more about myself 
and the people around me.  
- Maddie Dobbins (St. Andrews Lutheran Church, San Diego) 
 
Growing Young 
Our synod’s work that began in 2020 about the book “Growing Young” continued in 2021 and 2022. This book, 
published in 2016, shares the results of research by Fuller Youth Institute into congregations that are involving and 
retaining young people, breathing life into the WHOLE congregation, and deepening the faith of their young people.  
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Our monthly online workshops focusing on each of the six Core Commitments exemplified by these congregations 
concluded in June 2021. Recordings of and resources from all the 
workshops may be found on the synod website. The 33 participants 
who participated in these conversations were invited to follow-up 
conversations in both September 2021 and January 2022, to discuss 
what progress they have made or challenges they are facing. The 
next follow-up conversations are scheduled for mid-May 2022. Our 
Growing Young Team includes Synod Director for Evangelical 
Mission, Pastor Tom Goellrich; Deacon Mindy Bugaj (Incarnation, 
Poway); and Terri Robertson (First Lutheran, Fullerton). 

 
Future Hopes 
As we look ahead, we focus on our Synod’s commitment to the faith formation of the young people in our 
congregations through the adoption of Pacifica’s Strategic Plan by our Synod Council in 2020. We see this 
commitment identified in Mission Result Area #1 – “Strengthen Support for Congregational Ministry” and 
specifically, Goal #1 – “Pacifica Synod members will share their ancient faith in a modern world and strengthen our 
meaning and purpose as disciples of Christ” and look forward to how our future work will be shaped by investment 
in this commitment and emphasis on children, youth, and families in our synod. 
 
In Christ’s service, 
Terri Robertson 
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Providing a full array of financial services  
to ELCA members, congregations and ministries 
 

The ELCA Federal Credit Union, founded in 2016, provides a full suite of financial products and services 

to members, congregations and ministries of the ELCA.  We are the first of the ELCA’s financial 

ministries to offer loans to individuals. The Credit Union offers a rich variety of products—from savings 

and checking accounts and CDs … to loans, lines of credit and credit cards.  We serve ministries with 

deposit accounts, a flexible credit card program, auto loans and unsecured ministry loans up to 

$100,000 for small projects such as building repair and purchases.  Our strong online presence allows 

members to access their funds anytime, anywhere—as consumers expect today. 

 

 
 
Why choose the ELCA Federal Credit Union? 
 
“To use and share what God has given for the sake of all.” 
 
The ELCA Federal Credit Union supports the ELCA’s mission of good stewardship.  We provide full 
services to all ELCA members, congregations and related ministries.  
 
Our mission is to offer the most competitively priced products and services. Because we exist solely to 
serve our members, we can offer better rates and lower fees than many traditional banks.  We have 
demonstrated success in providing significant savings to our borrowers. 
 
With the church as our sponsor, we operate in ways that are consistent with the church’s values. We 
offer a socially responsible way to do your banking. 
 
 
ELCA Federal Credit Union | 8765 West Higgins Road | Chicago, Illinois 60631 | Tel: 877-715-1111 | Web: elcafcu.org 
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Throughout the past year, we continued to serve the church and its members. 
 
The Paycheck Protection Program drew to a close in 2021.  With assistance from the Mission 

Investment Fund, we provided loans in 2020 and 2021 to ELCA congregations and ministries that 

required financial assistance during the pandemic. Covering payroll and operating expenses, these PPP 

loans proved to be a lifeline to a number of congregations and ministries in need. The loans were 

particularly meaningful to smaller congregations that didn’t qualify for loans from local or national 

banks. Over the course of the full PPP program, the ELCA FCU provided a total of 360 loans totaling 

$13.9 million.  These loans helped continue payroll for some 2,100 congregation and ministry 

employees and continued in-person and virtual worship and ministry services for more than 95,000 

church members throughout 2020 and 2021.   

 
In 2021, we ushered in the third cohort of participants in the ELCA’s Resourceful Servants program, 

designed to improve financial wellness and assist rostered leaders in building emergency savings funds. 

In this matching program, ELCA rostered leaders make ongoing deposits to their Credit Union 

emergency savings accounts, and our partner MIF matches those funds up to an established amount. 

Together, we already have served more than 645 rostered ministers who, collectively, have made 

emergency savings deposits of more than $1 million. 

 
 
Membership is open to every ELCA member, synod, congregation and ministry—and their employees. 
 
 
 

 
For more information about the products and services of the ELCA Federal Credit Union, 

please visit our website, elcafcu.org or call us at toll free at 877-715-1111. 
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8765 W. Higgins Road, Chicago, IL 60631 • 800-638-3522 • ELCA.org/foundation 

 

Updates from the ELCA Foundation  

Synod Assemblies 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The vision of the ELCA Foundation is to be a thriving ministry that develops a culture of intentional 
generosity and financial stewardship to expand the work of the ELCA. Our mission is to support and 
sustain ELCA ministries by enhancing gifting capacity and stewarding resources. 

As a ministry of the ELCA, we serve individuals, congregations and worship communities; synods; 
the Churchwide Organization; and institutions, agencies and other related ELCA organizations. 

The ELCA Foundation exists to: 

• provide gift planning, administration and processing; 
• manage endowment funds and offer investment management services as an acknowledged 

fiduciary; and 
• engage individuals and organizations in thoughtful planning to pass on philanthropic values 

and support ministry passions. 

In 2021, the ELCA Foundation and our network of regional gift planners walked alongside 169 
donors/families in developing their gift plans, resulting in $65.4 million in future planned gift 
commitments. Over $12 million in these commitments will go to provide direct support to 
individual ELCA congregations. The network generated $107.9 million in total gifts and investment 
assets. This includes new planned gift commitments, $14.9 million in current gifts, including funded 
trusts, gift annuities and individual endowments, and $57.2 million new assets invested in the 
Ministry Growth Fund (previously known as Fund A). Thank you for the opportunity to work in 
your synod, trusting your endowment dollars to the ELCA Foundation, and allowing us to work 
alongside your ministries. 

The ELCA Foundation, and your regional gift planner, are here to support your ministry through 
shared expertise with endowments, gift acceptance policies and practices, and planned giving. We 
also work with individual donors to ease the complexity of estate plans, planned gifts, charitable 
trusts, and non-cash gifts. Our services are free of charge to your congregation and its members. A 
local representative from our network of regional gift planners is available to work with you. Learn 
more about the ELCA Foundation by watching “ELCA Foundation: Make a plan. Change the world” 
and contact your regional gift planner to help your congregation grow its culture of giving today. 

Contact your regional gift planner:  

Lisa Higginbotham, CFRE 
lisa.higginbotham@elca.org 
805-901-5048 
ELCA.org/Foundation 
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LEGACY AND PLANNED GIVING TOOL BOX 

These resources are easily implemented with the help of your Regional Gift Planner (RGP) and designed to drive increased  

engagement and gifts written to your congregation.  Each activity builds on the next creating awareness and trust.  

Create Process and Policy 

Endowments help sustain the stability of ministry funding by creating stable distributions used to support important minis-

tries to your congregation. 

• Endowment Bylaw/Continuing Resolution Review or Creation 

• Endowment Campaign 

• Ministry Growth Fund Presentation or Annual Review for existing investors 

Gift Policies build trust and knowledge with members that their gift will be considered and implemented equitably, and     

create a pathway for committee members to follow, thereby decreasing conflict.   

• Gift Policy Review or Creation 

 

Educate and Engage 

• Facilitated Book Study to stimulate conversations about stewardship/giving/money. 

• Articles provided by RGP in newsletter/bulletin inserts/email blast 

• Schedule two Temple talks from Congregation Leaders prior to Legacy Presentation 

• Pastor shares a sermon connected to Legacy and/or Stewardship 

• Legacy Presentation by RGP (Donors may self-identify for continued conversation) 

 

Connect Donors to Resources 

• Confidential meeting with donor to facilitate their charitable plan 

• Stewardship of gifts by Regional Gift Planner 

• Legacy Society and Insights Newsletter Engagement 

 

Steward Resources 

• Holy Closure/Preserving Legacy facilitation 

• All are invited to these complimentary webinars offered by ELCA Foundation in 2022 

 Ministry Growth Fund Investor Webinar    Legacy Webinars 

  Q2  April 29th    May 27th  “Giving More Than You Have” 

  Q3  July 29th    August 26th  “Pay Yourself then Pay It Forward” 

  Q4  October 28th   December 2nd  “Giving Forever” 

 

Regional Gift Planner Lisa Higginbotham, CFRE   lisa.higginbotham@elca.org cell (805)910-5048 

Southwest California Synod   Pacifica Synod    Grand Canyon Synod 
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Siblings in Christ of the Pacifica Synod,   
 
2021 was many things — frustrating, surprising, heartbreaking, and heartening — to name a few. At Lutheran 
Immigration and Refugee Service, however, the word we find ourselves using the most is transformative.   
 
Like all of you, we found ourselves facing parallel crises: the continuing COVID-19 pandemic, an influx of 
vulnerable immigrant children at our border, and the devastating refugee crisis in Afghanistan. While it was 
an incredibly difficult year in many ways, it was also one of the most inspiring in our 83-year history.   
 
People of faith and communities like yours stepped up in ways that we never could have expected to meet 
this moment and fulfill our Biblical call to welcome the stranger.  In the last year alone:   
 

• 100,000 volunteers signed up to support our refugee and immigrant neighbors   
• Supporters provided more than $30,000 worth of essential items like cell phones and gift cards to our 

Afghan brothers and sisters  
• 14,000+ generous donors opened their hearts to the ministry of welcome   
• LIRS welcomed more than 10,500 Afghans through our nationwide resettlement network   
• Our team assisted in reunifying or placing nearly 33,000 children in loving homes  
• We sent nearly 20,000 holiday cards and 1,750+ gifts to families affected by immigration detention  
• LIRS launched several exciting new programs and offices, such as field offices in Northern Virginia and 

Fargo, ND; the New American Cities economic empowerment program; Mental Health services for 
refugee children and families, and more.  
  

Our resettlement and immigration services were complemented by our ever-growing slate of annual 
programs, which offer the public opportunities to ADAPT: Act, Donate, Advocate, Pray, and Teach. We 
invite you to engage with LIRS, as an individual or community, through one of our five key programs:  
 

• Stand Up Speak Up — Our interfaith advocacy program organized each spring  
• Gather - A cultural education program hosted in the fall  
• Hope for the Holidays™ - LIRS’ flagship winter program for supporting families impacted by immigration 

detention 
• EMMAUS Congregational Network – Our network of congregations who receive resources and support 

from LIRS   
• LIRS Ambassador Network – A community of change-makers from around the US  

 
In 2022, we are deepening our commitment  to the work of welcome and believe that together, we can 
realize Matthew 25:35 in communities across the United States. We are so grateful for your astounding 
support and look forward to welcoming our newest neighbors alongside you.   
 
In peace,   
 
 
 
 
Dr. Kristin Witte, Director for Outreach   
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How it began...

Founded in 1948, California Lutheran Homes and
Community Services provides funding and other
assistance for those in need of housing and human
services through partnerships with churches,
community-based organizations, and local agencies.
CLH partners with Living the Resurrection to provide
the 18-month vitality process to the congregations of
the SWCA and Pacifica Synods of the ELCA.  Because
of CLH, the cost to each congregation is only $350. 

 
 

www.livingtheresurrection.com

Last fall, everyone in Pacifica
and SWCA synods was invited
to consider participating in an
18-month vitality process called
Living the Resurrection.  Some
folks doubted that anyone
would have the energy to even
think about such a venture!  But
you proved them wrong!  32
people attended informational
Zoom conversations and 58
attended a three-hour
workshop to explore the
possibility further.   In February
of 2022, teams from 11
congregations began the
process! 

 God is up to something in our
synods – you feel it and you are
responding! 
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www.livingtheresurrection.com

Photos are from the second
workshop of the process. 

 Everyone is working together
to learn and practice the
Congregational Timeline

Activity. Each team will guide
their congregation through

this activity in the fall.

Ten congregations are
participating in the 18-month long

Living the Resurrection vitality
process.

From Pacifica: 
·Carlton Hills, Santee

·Cross and Crown, Rancho
Cucamonga

·Gethsemane, San Diego
·Mt Calvary, Cypress

·Trinity, Riverside
·Woven in Faith (Salem/Whittier)

 
From Southwest California:

·Resurrection, Long Beach
·Shepherd of the Valley, West Hills

·St. Andrew’s, Van Nuys
·St. Stephen’s of the Valley,

Palmdale

The goal of Living the Resurrection is to strengthen
our relationships with God, one another, and our 
 neighbors! 

If you want to know more about what your friends are
up to in this process follow Living the Resurrection on
Facebook or go to://www.livingtheresurrection.com/

How it's going...
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Lutheran Social Services of Southern California Ministry Report 

 

I bring you greetings again from Lutheran Social Services of Sothern California. Unfortunately, we 

remain in the midst of the world’s largest pandemic. On one hand we are inhibited by the characteristics 

of COVID-19 and on the other hand, the disease and its consequences have heightened the demand for 

our services even further. Despite this, we continue to do extraordinary things in less than an ordinary 

environment.  

 

Below is an annual update on last year’s LSSSC experience. While we have had to change some of our 

hours, some of operation delivery systems and develop myriad infection precautions, we remain 

steadfastly available to the marginalized and struggling women, men and children throughout our 

service areas in Southern California.  

 

We cannot do this without your prayers collaboration and support. We don’t yet know what 2023 will 

bring us, but we plan to continue to have a positive impact on the communities we serve and continue 

to fulfill our vision of sharing the love of Christ, and forming a community where the vulnerable are 

safer and stronger, the dependent are self-sustaining, the isolated dwell in the community and the weary 

are given hope.  

 

San Bernardino County 

 

Much is happening and progressing at our CCLM site in San Bernardino. We recently announced our 

intentions to expand and build a Community Wellness Campus on our existing site. Meanwhile our 

existing men’s shelter, which was and is significantly impacted by the pandemic, is existing at a reduced 

capacity. While the goal is to provide temporary shelter for homeless men seven days a week, the need 

is exceeding our temporarily reduced capacity. We have recorded at least fifty new clients.  

 

We have also provided sixteen new clients with permanent supportive housing and provided 250 new 

clients with transportation on 2118 trips to and from necessary medical and other appointments.  

 

Our Integrated Training Program, tasked with acclimating those with intellectual and developmentally 

disabilities into their communities helped twenty-three new clients in the program despite onerous 

COVID restriction.  

 

Education and counseling services to residents in San Bernardino saw 64 new clients and 339 

counseling sessions while logging more than 1800 minutes of counseling.  

 

Throughout Rural San Bernadino, we provided mental health services through telehealth therapeutic 

services. In 2020, our adult and children’s mental health and child abuse survivor therapy along with a 

new youth sexual perpetrator prevention and treatment program, assisted more than 17000 individuals 

and families.  
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Orange County 

 

Orange County continues to re-level to pre-COVID service volumes. The number of clients presenting 

for the food and emergency services like rent/mortgage/security deposits have grown. More than 50 

clients were aided and six placed in permanent housing. Expanding services and client convenience 

have necessitated a move from Garden Grove to Fullerton.  

 

Long Beach 

 

The LSSSC team in Long Beach continues with a myriad of services designed for those in crisis and 

need. Programs include those for Benefits Entitlement; Comprehensive Emergency Assistance 

Program; Intensive Case Management Services; Permanent Supportive Housing Program. In the 

Emergency Assistance Program alone, more than 1600 clients were served with 1187 new client 

encounters. 

 

Riverside County 

 

Riverside County continues to offer homeless prevention and rapid rehousing assistance to clients in 

the community. Also, continuing case management continues to be offered. Showers of Hope, 

introduced last year, allows women and men the chance to bathe. This place on the campus of Trinity 

Lutheran Church in Riverside.  

 

San Diego County 

 

San Diego County has continued the Talent Search/Upward Bound programs that mentors and supports 

over a hundred secondary and post-secondary students per month. The program has a remarkable high 

school graduation and college acceptance rate.  In fact, one of the outstanding students has just been 

accepted to Yale, demonstrating the value of this program to the young and motivated. Her story as an 

example of the excellent circumstances the program can produce.  

 

Meantime, our Senior Companion program in Clairemont Mesa continues to make home visits and 

phone calls regularly, checking up on our frail older adult clients to provide companionship and help 

them remain independent in their home.  

 

Housing Counseling 

 

Our new Housing Counseling Program assists individuals across all our sites in all aspects of home 

ownership. So far this year, the Housing Counseling program has assisted over 100 Homeowners save 

their homes from Default/Foreclosure. 
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Benefit Stability in Uncertain Times
As the pandemic ebbed and flowed in 2021, Portico’s benefits remained a 
reliable constant for ELCA congregations and organizations, affirming the 
importance of church together. 

• ELCA-Primary health benefits helped to lower stress levels and provided virtual 
 access to health care. 

• The ELCA Retirement Plan continued to deliver strong investment returns while 
 offering no- or low-cost access to financial planning and coaching services. 

In recent years, we’ve brought added stability to our program by extending quality, 
cost-effective benefits to more of those who serve. As we include more ELCA-affiliated 
social ministry organizations, colleges, and universities, as well as full communion 
partner denominations, we grow the size of our pool, which, in turn, allows us to 
secure lower administrative fees and innovative benefits not typically available to 
smaller groups. In this way, we continue our mission to serve those who serve. The Rev. Jeff  Thiemann

President & CEO

60-302 (3/2022)Data as of Dec. 31, 2021; sources available upon request. Availability of and eligibility for benefits will vary.

34%
Chose New 

Voluntary Benefit 
Through our 

cost-saving vision care 
services provider. 

2,880
Classes Completed 

in 2021 
On Burnalong, Portico’s new 

online fitness and 
wellness benefit.

2,564
Medical Visits 

via Text  
Through 98point6®, our 
virtual primary health 

care service.

76%
More Accessed 

Financial Coaching  
Through LSS of Minnesota 

in 2021 than during 
the same period 

in 2020.

643
Retired 

In Portico’s bundled benefits 
program — Well done, good 

and faithful servants!

7.3%
Annuity Payment 

Increase 
Approved for ELCA 
annuitants in 2022.

87.8%
Very Satisfied  

With our Customer Care 
Center service.

Meeting the Need in 2021

869
Plays of New 

Portico Podcast  
Hosted by an ELCA pastor 

on current issues impacting 
our faith community.

8
Large Organizations 

Joined  
In 2021 — 1 ELCA college, 

6 ELCA-affiliated social 
ministries, and 1 full 
communion partner 

social ministry.
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1. Over the past year we have added several new All Creation Sings, resources including an expanded 
Indexes volume that includes both ACS and ELW listings, the Guitar Accompaniment Edition, the 
Ensemble Setting of Setting 12, and an eBook version of the Pew Edition. We continue to add learning 
resources that can help you use this hymnal supplement to enliven your congregation’s worship in these 
rapidly changing times. augsburgfortress.org/allcreationsings

2. Daniel Erlander’s timeless work continues to inspire faith formation at all levels in the church. Manna and 
Mercy: A Brief History of God’s Unfolding Promise to Mend the Entire Universe.is a family of books 
and curriculum to support conversations about the Bible with your whole congregation. This collection of 
resources complements three other series: A Place for You (Holy Communion), Come to the Water 
(Holy Baptism), and Baptized, We Live (introduction to Lutheranism). augsburgfortress.org/manna

3. Augsburg Fortress continues to support musical proclamation of the gospel with new seasonal choral 
music, vocal solo offerings, and piano and organ collections, including a new, second series of church 
year volumes in the acclaimed Augsburg Organ Library. augsburgfortress.org/new-releases

4. We have expanded our seasonal devotion options, with a new devotional for Advent and Christmas 
each year joining the Lent offering. Quantity discounts make these pocket-sized booklets ideal for 
congregational distribution and for household use. The accessible, colorful format makes it easy to 
incorporate a simple Christian observance into these central times of the year. 
augsburgfortress.org/seasonal-devotions

5. Fortress Press continues its legacy of publishing compelling theological, biblical, and ethical 
engagements for the church and the world in which it lives. New releases for 2022 include: Storycraft: 
The Art of Spiritual Narrative by Walt Wangerin Jr., 20 Myths about Religion and Politics in 
America by Ryan Burge, and an expanded edition of Fred Lehr’s Clergy Burnout: Surviving in 
Turbulent Times. fortresspress.org 

6. Our Broadleaf Books imprint explores the expanse of human experience—seeking to deepen faith and 
understanding and bring wholeness to readers and society. New 2022 releases include You Can Talk to 
God like That, The Mindful Grandparent, and Unbossed: How Black Girls Are Leading the Way. 
broadleafbooks.com

7. Sparkhouse provides digital access for a low annual fee through Sparkhouse Digital to a wide range of 
regularly refreshed resources for early childhood, children, and youth. Subscribers can access new digital 
activity kits that help congregations provide resources for use in the home or as a supplement to 
in-person faith formation activities. augsburgfortress.org/sparkhouse-digital

8. This spring Sparkhouse released a collection of poems by Joe Davis written with high school graduates 
in mind. We Rise Higher: Poems and Prayers for Graduates helps youth celebrate, commemorate, 
and reflect on this transition as they move on to the next phase of life. 
augsburgfortress.org/we-rise-higher 

9. Frolic Preschool, Frolic Nursery, and Frolic Family introduce little ones to faith concepts in age-
appropriate ways. This year we have released the award-winning Frolic Storybooks in affordable 
paperback bundles. wearesparkhouse.org/frolic 

10. Beaming Books continues its mission to publish high-quality children’s books that help kids thrive in every 
part of who they are–emotionally, socially, and spiritually. New releases for 2022 include: God’s Holy 
Darkness, The Animals Speak: A Christmas Eve Legend, God Made All Your Feelings, and Mother 
God. beamingbooks.com

Ten Things to Know about 1517 Media 
Spring 2022

Want to learn more? Follow us on social media. Sign up for our free eNewsletters at
augsburgfortress.org | wearesparkhouse.org | fortresspress.com | beamingbooks.com| broadleafbooks.com

Augsburg Fortress
Beaming Books
Broadleaf Books
Fortress Press
Sparkhouse
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PACIFICA WOMEN OF THE ELCA 

 

The Pacifica Women of the ELCA has had meeting challenges and has adapted to 

technology to continue meeting.  We celebrated our first in person meetings this 

year.  The first was a Spring Gathering planning committee and the next was the 

actual Spring Gathering with both in person and others visiting via Zoom.  We met at 

King of Glory in Fountain Valley.  Our gathering was small, but we had many positive 

comments.  We are now in the process of planning for our WELCA convention which 

is planned for Hope in Temecula.  We will again offer the opportunity of meeting in 

person or attending via Zoom.   

Respectfully submitted,  

Jackie  Severa, President 
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Baseline Salary Increase Recommendation for Rostered Ministers 2023 

  
The Pacifica Synod Council recommends to the 2022 Synod Assembly for approval a 5.6% 
increase* in the Baseline Salary for Rostered Ministers (Ministers of Word and Sacrament & 
Ministers of Word and Service) of the Pacifica Synod for the year 2023. This action would bring 
the current baseline salary (including salary and housing allowance) to $72,788 for Ministers of 
Word and Sacrament. 
 
*Based on the latest Consumer Price Index (CPI) increase. 
The Synod Council encourages congregations to use the Compensation Worksheets available 
online at www.pacificasynod.org 
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Resolutions Process and Background Information 
 
The resolutions process enables individuals or groups within the synod to bring a request for 
action to the Synod Assembly, which is the Synod’s highest legislative authority.  
 
The Synod Council has established a 90-day deadline, prior to the beginning of the Synod 
Assembly, for resolutions to be submitted to the synod office. The Synod Council appoints a 
Resolutions Committee which meets prior to the Assembly in order to review the resolutions 
received.  
 
It is the responsibility of the Resolutions Committee to: 

• ensure that resolutions comply with the constitution of the synod 
• ensure that resolutions are submitted in proper form 
• review the appropriateness of the subject and desired action 
• make sure there is a plan for implementation 
• seek to eliminate duplication of resolutions submitted on the same  
 subject matter 

 
The Resolutions Committee works with individuals or groups who are submitting resolutions to 
assist them in presenting their resolutions in the best form possible. 
 
The Resolutions Committee reports its work to the Synod Council and to those who have 
submitted resolutions. If the Resolutions Committee rules that a resolution is unconstitutional 
or inappropriate, the individual or group submitting the resolution may appeal that decision to 
the Synod Council. 
 
It is not the job of the Resolutions Committee to offer its opinions on a particular resolution. 
The work of the committee is to ensure that resolutions conform to the requirements set for 
them and then to place those resolutions before the assembly in a clear manner, so that the 
Synod Assembly as a whole may debate and decide the issues that are before them. 
 
If the Secretary of the Synod receives any resolutions after the 90-day deadline, they will also 
be reviewed by the Resolutions Committee. These resolutions will be referred to the Synod 
Council for action. 
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22-01 
 

Invitation for LIRS to Establish a Satellite Office in the Territory of the Pacifica Synod 
 
Whereas, the Pacifica Synod is grateful for the more than 80 years of history of the Lutheran 
Immigration and Refugee Services (LIRS) in helping to fulfill our scriptural calling to welcome 
the immigrant and the stranger. 
 
Whereas, the proximity of the Pacifica Synod to the international border, which has been called 
the busiest border crossing in the world (San Diego/Tijuana), presents a unique opportunity to 
address these needs. 
 
Whereas, LIRS has previously had an office within the territory of the Pacifica Synod.   
 
Whereas, LIRS has recently begun a process of establishing strategic satellite offices. 
 
Whereas, it is a timely, appropriate and urgent time to consider such an arrangement, with LIRS 
playing a large role in the resettlement of Afghans and Ukrainians and with San Diego being a 
primary resettlement area for recently displaced Afghans and Ukrainians. 
 
Whereas, congregations within the San Diego conferences of the Pacifica Synod have recently 
shared in constructive dialogue and partnership together around issues of immigration, 
systemic racism, and social activism, creating a network of connections in the area that could 
support and strengthen a LIRS office. 
 
Whereas, congregations in the Pacifica Synod which have new and ongoing contacts and 
ministries with immigrants and refugees would be encouraged and strengthened by the 
presence and resource of a LIRS office that is accessible and nearby. 
 
Whereas, having an office in the greater San Diego/Los Angeles area along with the current 
Baltimore office would symbolically embrace the United States from corner to corner in its 
mission of welcoming the stranger, therefore be it 
 
Resolved, that the Pacifica Synod of the ELCA extend an invitation to LIRS to engage in a 
feasibility conversation with this Synod with the goal of opening an extension office within this 
synod's territory, with the Bishop initially delivering this invitation by August 31, 2022.  Be it 
further 
 
Resolved, that should it be deemed feasible, the Bishop of the Pacifica Synod will appoint a task 
force of four representatives of the Synod to engage in this conversation and planning.  Be it 
further 
 
Resolved, that should LIRS find this invitation desirable and feasible, this task force will assist 
LIRS in locating a suitable office here. 
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Respectfully submitted by: 
Rev. Marcus Lohrmann, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. William Radatz, First Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Ellen Schmeding, St. Peter’s By The Sea Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Anita Reith, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Rebekkah Lohrmann, St. Peter’s By The Sea Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Jeff Jacobson, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Sarah Sumner-Eisenbraun, St. Andrew’s Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Darlene Morrow-Truver, St. Peter’s By The Sea Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Nancy Harrelson, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Linné Wienke, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Karla Seyb-Stockton, Gethsemane Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Eva Schneider, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Susan Connors, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. David Nagler, Christ Lutheran Church, San Diego  
Stephanie Jordan, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rich Papike, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Maria Santa Cruz, Our Savior’s Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Shaunda Jacobson, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Richard Vevia, Calvary Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Cheri Papike, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Susan Osborn, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Rick Fry, Ascension Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Gina Seashore, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rebecca Carson, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Rev. Karla Halvorson, St. Mark’s Lutheran Church, San Diego 
William Schneider, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
Nancy Trent, Shepherd of the Valley Lutheran Church, La Mesa 
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22-02 
 

Memorial:  Holy Communion Practices in Unusual Circumstances and in Pandemic Times 
 
Whereas, we believe that Jesus Christ is truly present in the meal we call Holy Communion.  
And that “This holy mystery calls for reverence, care and pastoral wisdom in the practices 
surrounding its distribution.” (Principle 45 - Use of the Means of Grace). 
 
Whereas, Martin Luther said: And we have, in the first place, the clear text in the very words of 
Christ: “Do this in remembrance of me.” These are bidding and commanding words by which all 
who would be Christians are enjoined to partake of this Sacrament. Therefore, whoever would 
be a disciple of Christ, with whom He here speaks, must also consider and observe this, not from 
compulsion, as being forced by men, but in obedience to the Lord Jesus Christ, and to please 
Him. (Large Catechism) 
 
Whereas, the common practice of gathering physically in person was prohibited for a time due 
to the Covid-19 Pandemic, and given the ability to gather virtually, and given that many 
congregants desire to receive the Sacrament regularly and not “fast” for a season (which is not 
a normative Lutheran practice).  Therefore be it  
 
Resolved, that the Pacifica Synod Assembly memorialize the 2022 Churchwide Assembly of the 
Evangelical Lutheran Church in America to consider with great faith and flexibility whether or 
not, and in what circumstances, virtual communion may be possible.  Be it further 
 
Resolved, that the Pacifica Synod Assembly direct the Synod Council to forward this resolution 
to the Church Council’s Executive Committee for referral and disposition to the appropriate unit 
or office of the churchwide organization in accordance with the bylaws and continuing 
resolutions of this church, for further study and discernment.   
 
Respectfully submitted by: 
Gloria Dei Lutheran Church Council, Dana Point 
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Conference Break-Out Sessions 

May 20, 2022 at 12:00 p.m. 
Per Resolution 10-02 from the 2010 Pacifica Synod Assembly, there is time devoted for each 

conference to meet together at least once during every Synod Assembly. 

The conferences will meet over lunch in the rooms off the foyer just outside the ballroom. 

Room assignments subject to change. 

 

Conference    Location 

East San Diego   Anaheim 

West San Diego   Anaheim 

Harvest    Santa Clara 

Raincross     Berkeley 

Big Bear    Rancho Las Palmas 

Saddleback    Newport Beach 

Son & Surf    Irvine 

Rejoice    Santa Barbara 

Hukilau    Los Angeles 
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WORKSHOPS 

May 20, 2022 at 2:00 p.m. 
All workshops are offered one time.   

Workshop descriptions are on the following pages.   

Please review and find which one best matches your interests.  

Room assignments subject to change. 

 

1. Undoing Racism in the Church: A Way to Get Started. 

Room: Santa Clara 

 

2.   In These Challenging Times…Why (Not) Coaching? 

Room: Santa Barbara 

 

3.  Planned Giving Best Practices for Congregations and how to link them to Stewardship! 

Room: Rancho Las Palmas 

 

4.  Sharing Our Faith Stories: Not that Type of Evangelism  

Room: Newport Beach 

 

5.  The Tax-Exempt Effect (legal conformity of the church) 

Room: Los Angeles 

 

6.  Healthy Transitions: Becoming an Agile Congregation  

Room: Irvine 

 

7. Nine Things You Should Know About Church Constitutions 

Room: Berkeley 
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WORKSHOP DESCRIPTIONS 

1. Undoing Racism in the Church: A Way to Get Started. 

Presenters: The Rev. Lara Martin & the Rev. Darin Johnson 

Room: Santa Clara 

Description: Learn the difference between individual bias and systemic racism and why 
undoing racism is essential to the good news of Jesus Christ. As the statistically ‘whitest’ 
denomination in the USA, the ELCA has a particular responsibility to move beyond internal 
white dominance, starting with conversations that are honest about the ways that racial 
constructs distort church relationships, communities, theology, worship, culture and structures. 
Discover how your own journey can help open conversations that begin undoing racism in your 
congregation. 

 

2. In These Challenging Times…Why (Not) Coaching? 

Presenters: Deenna Eley, Carol Schultz and Sarah Tees 

Room: Santa Barbara 

Description: In a world in which there are a lot of programs that promise they can help leaders 
grow, the only one I know that actually works is coaching.” Bishop Erik Gronberg, Northern 
Texas-Northern Louisiana Synod.   Did you know Pacifica Synod has an active coaching 
ministry? In 2021 alone, Pacifica coaches delivered 431 hours of individual coaching, 109 hours 
of team coaching, and 11 monthly Zoom presentations. This workshop is your opportunity to 
meet them and explore what coaching can do for you. You’ll leave this workshop with these 
takeaways. 1. What coaching looks like in practice. 2. Ways coaching can support you through 
your ministry challenges. 3. Where to find a coach for yourself or your team. 

 

3. Planned Giving Best Practices for Congregations and how to link them to Stewardship! 

Presenter: Lisa Higginbotham 

Room: Rancho Las Palmas 

Description:  

> Planned giving best practices that drive results 

>Linking practices to Stewardship activities 

>Why we should employ these behaviors and how to get started 
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4. Sharing Our Faith Stories: Not that Type of Evangelism  

Presenter: The Rev. Jennifer Garcia 

Room: Newport Beach 

Description: Evangelism doesn't have to look like approaching a stranger at the mall. It can 
involve relationship-building, listening, and storytelling. Pastor Jennifer Garcia (First Lutheran, 
Fullerton, CA) made her Sharing Our Faith Stories Bible study curriculum available for all 
Pacifica Synod congregations earlier this spring. This workshop will allow you to experience 
one session of the 6-week Bible study and share your experiences if your congregation has been 
offering it. 

 

5. The Tax-Exempt Effect (legal conformity of the church) 

Presenters: Jerry Bushore and Ryan Bushore (Attorney At Law) 

Room: Los Angeles 

Description:  The workshop will address the basics of the legal church entity and the effects 
your actions have on your nonprofit status and tax-exemptions. 

 

6. Healthy Transitions: Becoming an Agile Congregation  

Presenter: The Rev. Terry Tuvey Allen 

Room: Irvine 

Description: We are working together encourage, equip, and empower congregations to 
address ministry and missional shifts as they seek to follow God’s call. There will be an 
overview of the process for calling rostered leaders to serve in the ELCA, as well as an 
opportunity to hear your questions, concerns, and ideas. We are all in a state of continual 
transition, therefore this seminar is for you, whether your church is currently experiencing a 
rostered leader transition or you are interested in hearing about resources for future shifts. 

 

7. Nine Things You Should Know About Church Constitutions 

Presenter: Bob Michelet 

Room: Berkeley 

Description: Every congregation in the ELCA must have an approved constitution on file with 
its synod. This workshop will discuss the importance of having a constitution, procedures for 
updating and amending constitutions, and tailoring them for the needs of your congregation. 
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The Bishop Election Process 

Dear Voting Members and friends, 

Together in Christ we are gathered as the Pacifica Synod during this very exciting time to be the church. 
At this Assembly, voting members will elect the next bishop of the Pacifica Synod. This is one of the most 
important responsibilities of the Assembly, the highest legislative body of the Synod. We join you in 
prayer and we ask God for guidance and discernment - for you who will vote, and for you who will be 
nominated for bishop.  

The following information is a breakdown of how the bishop election process works. This information 
can also be found in the Pacifica Synod Constitution, S9.04.01 through S9.04.04.  

The Ecclesiastical Ballot and the Modified Ecclesiastical Ballot  

Since the inception of the ELCA, elections for the presiding bishop and synod bishops have been 
conducted using an ecclesiastical ballot, in which on the first ballot, the name of any ELCA Minister of 
Word and Sacrament may be submitted for nomination by a voting member of the assembly.  

The Pacifica Synod uses a modified ecclesiastical ballot for nominating persons for bishop, meaning 
there will be some names on the first ballot in addition to an open space for a write-in nomination. 
Earlier this year, each conference of the Synod was asked to submit up to 12 names of Ministers of 
Word and Sacrament to the Bishop Nominating Task Force as potential nominees for synod bishop. This 
process resulted in a large, diverse list of pastors within the ELCA. Every person lifted up in this process 
was contacted by the Task Force and asked to discern if this was their call. The names that will be on the 
first ballot, and who appear in this Notebook, are all of those who said yes to this discernment and are 
allowing their names to go forward in the nomination process. All of these persons have already been 
through the background check process, and were given opportunity for self-disclosure. If “yes” was 
checked, a short paragraph of self-disclosure was provided by the nominee. These self-disclosures are 
included in the Notebook.  

There will also be a space on the first ballot for any voting member to write-in the name of any person 
on the ELCA Roster of Ministers of Word and Sacrament. These persons will be contacted to inform 
them their name has been submitted.  If they do not choose to withdraw their name, they will appear 
on the second ballot.  They will also need to consent to a background check, as per the constitution, and 
will also be asked for their bio information and a self-disclosure statement.  Keeping this in mind, 
contact information is needed to inform the candidate of their nomination. 

The Synod Constitution describes a multiple ballot election process for the election of the bishop, with 
each subsequent ballot reducing the number of candidates, as well as the majority needed for election 
on each ballot. Absent ties, the maximum number of ballots cast will be five, but an election could occur 
on any ballot.  

Ms. Victoria Flood, who serves as the ELCA Director of Mission Support, will oversee, as well as chair, the 
election of the bishop and will provide thorough explanation and instruction prior to voting. We pray the 
Holy Spirit will be present and guide the Assembly in this process.  
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We know the modified ecclesiastical ballot process can be confusing, so here is a brief summary of each 
ballot: 

First Ballot for Bishop  

The first ballot will include those pre-identified as willing to allow their names to go forward, as well as a 
line to write in the name of any ELCA Minister of Word and Sacrament not already on the ballot. 
Information about the write-in candidates, including contact information and ministry setting, is 
required (see Nominating a Candidate at the Synod Assembly below). On the first ballot, three fourths 
(75%) of the valid votes cast shall be necessary for election.  Because the first ballot for bishop typically 
includes many write-in nominees, the counting takes several hours to complete.  

Second Ballot for Bishop  

The second ballot will include all eligible persons who received a vote on the first ballot and have not 
withdrawn their names. Three fourths (75%) of valid votes cast shall be necessary for election on the 
second ballot. 

Third Ballot for Bishop  

The third ballot will be limited to the seven persons, plus ties, who receive the greatest number of votes 
on the second ballot. Two-thirds—66.6 percent—of the votes cast are necessary for election on the 
third ballot. Prior to voting on the third ballot for bishop, the seven candidates, plus ties, will participate 
in a question and answer session before the Assembly.  

Fourth Ballot for Bishop  

The fourth ballot is limited to the three persons, plus ties, who receive the greatest number of votes on 
the third ballot. Sixty percent of the votes cast are necessary for election on the fourth ballot. Prior to 
voting on the fourth ballot for bishop, the three candidates, plus ties, will address the Assembly for no 
more than five minutes each.  

Fifth Ballot for Bishop  

The fifth ballot is limited to two persons and requires a majority vote for election.  

Nominating a Candidate at the Synod Assembly  

Voting members who intend to place a name in nomination at the Synod Assembly must:  

• Speak with the individual in advance to verify that they are willing to stand for election to the 
office of bishop. 

• Fill out the information in the space provided on the first ballot. The information needed will be 
a correct spelling of their name, their current ministry setting, city, state, and contact 
information (preferably phone) where they can be reached during the Assembly and prior to the 
announced deadline.  

• Accurate contact information is critically important to confirming eligibility and willingness, 
especially for persons not attending the assembly. 
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The Bishop Election Committee and the Bishop Nominating Task Force 

You’ll hear references throughout the Assembly to groups that have had a role in the bishop election 
process. The Bishop Election Committee, chaired by Ms. Becky Draper and Ms. Lori Herman, has had 
oversight of the entire bishop election process. The Bishop Nominating Task Force, appointed by Synod 
Council in August 2021 and chaired by Deacon Dr. Melissa James and Ms. Becky Anderson, consists of 
one representative from each of the conferences. The Task Force received 27 names (over 50 if you 
consider duplicates) from the different conferences and then contacted each person, asking them to 
discern if they were being called to bishop. Many of those people removed their names from 
consideration. Those who agreed to let their names go forward on the modified ecclesiastical ballot are 
presented in this Notebook. This Task Force has also been responsible for the process of developing and 
selecting the questions that will be asked of the nominees prior to the third ballot. We are thankful for 
the thoughtful and dedicated work of this team. 

We look forward to this process of electing the next bishop of the Pacifica Synod. We thank God for 
Bishop Andy Taylor, who has served this Synod faithfully as bishop for the past six years. We thank our 
voting members and all who serve to make this Assembly possible. We pray for the Holy Spirit to 
continue to guide our hearts and lead us as we participate in this call for the next bishop of the Pacifica 
Synod. 

Together in Christ, 

Ms. Becky Draper and Ms. Lori Herman 

Bishop Election Committee Co-Chairs 

+++ 
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Name:  Rev. Tom Goellrich 
 
Current Position: Director for Evangelical Mission  

     and Assistant to the Bishop, Pacifica Synod 
Congregation Membership: St. Paul Lutheran Church, Fullerton 
Date and Year of Birth: May 8, 1960 
Date and Year of Ordination:   June 24, 1990 
 
Previous Positions:  
1998 - 2017, Lead Pastor, St. Paul Lutheran Church, Fullerton, CA 
1990 - 1998, Lead Pastor, St. Paul Lutheran Church, Columbus, OH 
 
Education and Earned Degrees (with institutions and years, most 
recent first): 
2003 – DASD, San Francisco Theological Seminary,  

San Francisco, CA 
1990 - MDiv, Trinity Lutheran Seminary, Columbus, OH 
1983 - BA Religion-Philosophy, California Lutheran (College)  

University, Thousand Oaks, CA 
 
List up to five (5) current or past synod or churchwide activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Current - DEM/ATTB, Pacifica Synod, ELCA 
Dean of the Rejoice Conference, Pacifica Synod, ELCA 
Mission Table Director, Pacifica Synod, ELCA 
Pacifica Synod Executive Council and Synod Council, Pacifica Synod, ELCA 
Bishop Consultation and Discipline Committees, Pacifica Synod, ELCA 
 
List up to five (5) current or past community-related activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
President and Participant in Fullerton Interfaith Ministerial Association, North Orange County 
Area Coordinator Love Fullerton, Community Service Events 
JOYA Scholars - working with and raising funds for underserved youth with college ambitions 
Board of Directors, Lutheran Credit Union of America, Brea, CA 
Board of Directors, North Orange County, YMCA 
 
What gifts would you bring to the office of bishop of this synod?  
Passion and heart.  I have great love for the work I do.  My call is as fresh today as it was in 
1990.  While I am confident in the work I do, the decisions I make, and the experiences I bring 
with me, it is the passion and heart that drives me.  I am a parish pastor at heart. When 
combined with the experiences I have gleaned these past 5 years as a DEM/ATTB, I will be able 
to hit the ground running.  While there is always a learning curve, the curve is less steep due to 
these recent experiences. 
I have an incredibly supportive spouse, Susan, and family.  This is a tangible gift that I have and 
bring to the work of the Office of the Bishop. I will never take this gift for granted. 
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Finally, I have deep respect for the gifts that others bring to the work of the church. Lay and 
rostered leaders and parishioners are the heart of our identity and together we are driven by 
the lifeblood of Jesus Christ as God's Holy Spirit energizes and guides us in this work together. 
 
What do you see as the principal challenge to this synod in the next six (6) years, and how 
would you address it? 
The headwinds of diminishing capacity confront us on numerous fronts. The health, capacity 
and future of the Pacifica Synod is directly dependent on the health, capacity and future of each 
congregation and ministry. If we have learned one thing from the pandemic, being church 
together is not only a priority but a necessity.  
Initial priorities will include: Transparent dialogue and action about consideration of ministry 
consolidation, both informally and formally. Continued identification of new ministry sites in 
growing areas of our synod. Identification and invitation of people to consider ministry service 
to grow capacity of lay and rostered leaders. Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI or DEI) will be 
a priority in all things we do. 
We need to be committed to move from conversation to committed action; to be doers of the 
Word not just hearers. 
 
Describe your leadership style. 
The imagery of the shepherd is a common one in church circles, and it is one that resonates for 
me since my first parish installation in Columbus, OH.  Academic Dean, Dr. Jim Childs (who was 
also my ethics instructor) preached my installation service and worked from the shepherd 
theme. Shepherds led in three distinct ways: from the front, in the midst and from the back. 
My leadership mirrors this style.  I find that most of the time I am in a collaborative leadership 
type of moment.  From within the midst, I listen and learn from others. Discernment of the 
whole is the priority. At other times, I lead from the back. This requires great trust in the people 
and their gifts to lead and work with the task at hand.  Finally, there are times when one needs 
to lead from the front. Casting a vision and/or making and owning tough decisions becomes 
necessary.  I am confident in my shepherd abilities in each of these three leadership styles and 
to use each when appropriate. 
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Disclosure Form for Nominees 
Rev. Tom Goellrich 

 

Out of care for this church, the following questions are asked of all who are making themselves 
available for election to churchwide office: 

1) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, charged with, or convicted of illegal conduct 
or a crime, including conduct resulting in suspension or revocation of your driver’s 
license? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

2) Do you have any health conditions (physical or psychological) or any addictive behavior, 
including a history of drug, alcohol, or pornographic addictions that might interfere with 
your ability to serve or continue serving as a leader? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

3) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, sued, or charged with 
sexual misconduct, sexual harassment, substance abuse, child or spousal neglect or 
abuse, or financial improprieties? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

4) While on the roster, have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, 
charged with, or disciplined for any conduct proscribed in Definitions and Guidelines for 
Discipline? 

___Never Rostered  ___Yes  __X__No If yes please explain below. 
 

5) Have you ever engaged in any behavior or been involved in any situations that, if they 
became known, might seriously damage your ability to begin or continue in leadership 
and ministry? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

+++ 
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Name: Rev. Cynthia (Cyndi) A. Jones 
 
Current Position: Clairemont Lutheran Church,  
         Associate Pastor 
Congregation Membership: Clairemont Lutheran Church,  

           San Diego 
Date and Year of Birth: October 1, 1951 
Date and Year of Ordination: July 27, 2019 
 
Previous Positions:  
Synodically called Pastor to Atonement Lutheran during  
Holy Closure. San Diego, 2019-2020 
Clairemont Lutheran Church, Intern, September 2016-2017 
Agape House, SDSU Intern, August 2012-2013 
Center for an Accessible Society, Director, Principal  
Investigator, 1999-2010 
Mainstream Magazine of the Able Disabled,  
Publisher, 1982-1998 
 
Education and Earned Degrees (with institutions and years, most recent first): 
Luther Seminary, Lutheran Year, 2015, 2016 
Episcopal Divinity School, M.Div, 2008-2013 
University of California at San Diego, BA Biology, 1976 
Mediation Skills Training Institute  (Lombard Mennonite Peace Center) 2019 
Kaleidoscope Institute: Holy Currencies: Six Blessings for Sustainable, Missional Ministries, 2013 
Gracious Leadership Training: Tools for Racial Reconciliation, 2013 
Summer Institute on Theology and Disability: Los Angeles, 2017; Atlanta, 2015; Chicago, 2012 
 
List up to five (5) current or past synod or churchwide activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Steering Committee Member, Ecumenical Disability Advocates Network (EDAN), North America; 
an organization of the World Council of Churches. Participated in WCC: Pilgrimage of Justice 
and Peace Tour to Minnesota, May, 2021 and Toronto study group, June, 2021 
Stephen Ministry Leader: Reinvigorated the Stephen Ministry at Clairemont Lutheran Church.  
While at Atonement, I created The Awesome Preschool Book Give-Away that collected over 600 
books so each Head Start preschooler could receive 2 books before Summer and Winter breaks. 
Synodical Pastor for Disability Ministry 2019-2020, co-terminus with Atonement Holy Closure. 
Pacifica Synod Candidacy Committee, began 2021-  review applications for candidacy for 
Rostered Leaders in the ELCA 
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List up to five (5) current or past community-related activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
The Center for an Accessible Society disseminated independent living research information 
through the national press, both print and electronic, 1998-2004. As Director, I was responsible 
for writing the federal grants and directing the programs. How are we getting the word out? 
What’s Next?, a mentoring project for high school students with physical disabilities, 2004-
2009. We outreached to high school students with disabilities, matching them with adults with 
similar disabilities. Of 57 students, 56 graduated high school and 46 went on to college. 
I taught a class on Food and Faith that became a long term ministry distributing over 500 tons 
of food. I made connections that provided over 300 pairs of shoes for a Back to School Backpack 
program each year for many years. 
Author, What it means to heal? The New York Times, 12/24/18 
Author, The Yale Divinity School Journal "Reflections", Made in God’s Image, Imperfections and 
All, 09/07/2021 
 
What gifts would you bring to the office of bishop of this synod? 
I'm a visionary. ELCA is shrinking. It's time for bold, forward thinking. 
I'm a systems person and ran businesses for 35 years. Ideas come to me full blown, with 
interdependent parts that bring success. With What's Next? we supported the mentee's growth 
with education, transportation, personal assistance, resources, food, conversation, and real 
experience living at UCSD. Likewise, church programs need to have all the parts to succeed, plus 
contingencies. 
I have a gift for setting environments to be welcoming. I pay attention to how the environment 
feels. How does your church feel? Is it comfortable, welcoming? At Agape House, one evening 
we set the tables family style with tablecloths, candles and flowers. The lights were dimmed to 
warm the space. When the SDSU students arrived they asked, "Who is coming for dinner?" 
"You are." 
I see gifts in others they may not be aware of. I am a connector, putting ideas and people 
together. I have energy and help make things happen.      
 
What do you see as the principal challenge to this synod in the next six (6) years, and how 
would you address it?  
Are we like Andrew? Do we believe we have found the Messiah? Then share the Good News!  
The church is a place of belonging. When someone comes, do they feel "in" like an insider--
invited, included, involved, invested.  
"We need more youth." Look at our budgets. What are we spending on youth programs? Youth 
outreach is time consuming, plus the cost of the program itself. Are our youth programs 
something young people will bring a friend to? Youth work is like planting trees, long term 
work.  
Are we giving sacrificially or just to keep the doors open? People get excited about "boots on 
the ground" ministry. What is God calling us to do, to be? Invite others to grab hold of the idea. 
Money follows mission.  
We need new models to minister to smaller congregations with available clergy. We need to 
listen to congregations. We are all in this together. But that does not mean things can continue 
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as they have always been. Small's not bad. Dying is not bad. I will be with you! We preach 
resurrection. 
 
Describe your leadership style. 
Transformative, Collaborative, I lead by accompanying, alongside. I have an ability to get people 
to join in. Some people say I'm inspirational, usually focusing on my disability. It is natural to 
want to help someone with a disability. This is my hidden superpower -- a gift! Come for the 
inspiration, stay for the work. The best ideas come from beneath where the grass roots grow. I 
seek excellence. I'm a planner and an experimenter. We can try things out and make changes 
and try again. My goal is to bring out the best in those I work with. The buck stops on my desk. 
If things fail, I am responsible. If things are successful, those who did the work get the kudos. 
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Disclosure Form for Nominees 
Rev. Cynthia Jones 

 
Out of care for this church, the following questions are asked of all who are making themselves 
available for election to churchwide office: 

1) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, charged with, or convicted of illegal conduct 
or a crime, including conduct resulting in suspension or revocation of your driver’s 
license? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

2) Do you have any health conditions (physical or psychological) or any addictive behavior, 
including a history of drug, alcohol, or pornographic addictions that might interfere with 
your ability to serve or continue serving as a leader? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

3) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, sued, or charged with 
sexual misconduct, sexual harassment, substance abuse, child or spousal neglect or 
abuse, or financial improprieties? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

4) While on the roster, have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, 
charged with, or disciplined for any conduct proscribed in Definitions and Guidelines for 
Discipline? 

___Never Rostered  ___Yes  __X__No If yes please explain below. 
 

5) Have you ever engaged in any behavior or been involved in any situations that, if they 
became known, might seriously damage your ability to begin or continue in leadership 
and ministry? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

+++ 
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Name: Rev. Darryl W. Kozak 
 
Current Position: Pastor, Peace Lutheran Church,  

     Corona, CA 
Congregation Membership: Peace Lutheran Church,  

           Corona, CA 
Date and Year of Birth: August 29, 1968 
Date and Year of Ordination: July 23, 2006 
 
Previous Positions:  
Intentional Interim Pastor, First Lutheran Church,  
San Diego, CA (1/2017 - 3/2019) 
Intentional Interim Pastor, First Lutheran Church,  
Fullerton, CA (11/2014 - 1/2017) 
Interim Pastor, Christ Lutheran Church, San Diego, CA  
(3/2014 - 11/2014) 
Interim Pastor, Christ Lutheran Church, San Clemente, CA (8/2012 - 3/2013) 
Associate Pastor, Trinity Lutheran Church, Manhattan Beach, CA (8/2010 - 3/2012) 
Pastor, Redeemer-Saint Johns Lutheran Church, Brooklyn, NY (8/2006 - 7/2010) 
While in seminary: Intern/Vicar, Saint Peters Lutheran Church, Manhattan, NY and 
simultaneously as Assistant Program Director, Lutheran Office for World Community 
(representing the ELCA and LWF at the UN) (9/2004 - 8/2005) 
 
Education and Earned Degrees (with institutions and years, most recent first): 
Doctor of Education (EdD) in Organizational Leadership in process, Concordia University - 
Chicago (expected earned summer 2022) 
Master of Divinity, the Lutheran Theological Seminary at Philadelphia (5/2006) 
Bachelor of Arts in Theology, Concordia University Irvine (5/2002) 
 
List up to five (5) current or past synod or churchwide activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Current member of the Pacifica Nominating Committee (12/2021 - current) 
Active as a Coach and Leader of the Pacifica Coaching Ministry (2018 - current) 
Chaplain (lead liturgies and preached) for First Call Theological Education retreat, (11/2011) 
Trained as an Initial Interviewer for Pacifica Candidacy Committee (10/2012) 
Member, Resolutions Committee, Southwest California Synod (10/2010 - 3/2012) 
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List up to five (5) current or past community-related activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Co-Chair, Corona-Norco Interfaith Association (8/2021 - current) 
Member and representative of Peace Lutheran, Corona Chamber of Commerce 
(7/2019 - current) 
Board Member, Third Avenue Charitable Organization (TACO) (1/2017 - 3/2019) 
Chaplain/Co-Coordinator of Chorus Care, MenAlive, the OC Gay Mens Chorus (9/2012 - current) 
Member, Institute Review Board, Lutheran Medical Center, Brooklyn, NY (4/2007 - 6/2010) 
 
What gifts would you bring to the office of bishop of this synod? 
I've been blessed to serve in a variety of settings: our Lutheran NGO at the UN; urban/center 
city parishes; suburban congregations; affluent beach communities; a college congregation 
while in seminary; and a rural congregation also while in seminary. In these contexts, I've 
pastored and worked with all sorts of people from the very rich to the unhoused. These 
experiences have informed and formed my ministry as a pastor while strengthening, enhancing, 
and expanding upon my gifts from these local and global perspectives. I'm an exceptional 
preacher, vocalist, and worship leader equally comfortable presiding in "high church" and 
informal liturgies. 
 
What do you see as the principal challenge to this synod in the next six (6) years, and how 
would you address it?  
Even before COVID, many of our congregations have been struggling with less attendance and 
aging populations; some of these congregations have or may be closing. Like all of us, this 
brings me much sadness. Yet as a Church and people of the Reformation I believe in Ecclesia 
Reformata, Semper Reformanda: “A Church Reformed, Always Reforming.” If elected as the 
Pacifica Synod Bishop, I will focus on struggling congregations by exploring ways to work 
together with fellow ELCA congregations and our full communion partners, and I will be 
personally involved, when needed, to offer the support of the Synod. 
 
Describe your leadership style. (1,000 characters maximum) 
My leadership focuses on encouragement, empowerment, and transformation. I seek to 
encourage those whom I lead to let them know their voice matters in the process. From this I 
strive to empower others to find, strengthen, and use their gifts for the mission and ministry of 
the organization. Finally, the goal of my leadership is to transform the organization through the 
power of the Gospel to break forth from limiting beliefs to realize and encounter the Spirit and 
her work in the Church. Much of my leadership draws upon my skills of powerful questioning 
and inviting others to participate while being a deep, active listener. 
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Disclosure Form for Nominees 
Rev. Darryl Kozak 

Out of care for this church, the following questions are asked of all who are making themselves 
available for election to churchwide office: 

1) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, charged with, or convicted of illegal conduct 
or a crime, including conduct resulting in suspension or revocation of your driver’s 
license? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

2) Do you have any health conditions (physical or psychological) or any addictive behavior, 
including a history of drug, alcohol, or pornographic addictions that might interfere with 
your ability to serve or continue serving as a leader? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

3) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, sued, or charged with 
sexual misconduct, sexual harassment, substance abuse, child or spousal neglect or 
abuse, or financial improprieties? 

__X__Yes  ___No  If yes please explain below. 
 

4) While on the roster, have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, 
charged with, or disciplined for any conduct proscribed in Definitions and Guidelines for 
Discipline? 

___Never Rostered  ___Yes  __X__No If yes please explain below. 
 

5) Have you ever engaged in any behavior or been involved in any situations that, if they 
became known, might seriously damage your ability to begin or continue in leadership 
and ministry? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

 

Additional Information for Disclosure Form 

Please provide as complete an answer as you deem appropriate on this sheet.  Please make 
sure to number your answers to correspond to the questions. If more than one page is needed, 
please indicate that information is continued on another page. 

3. “My "yes" response above refers to a financial impropriety in my first interim position at 
Christ Lutheran Church in San Clemente. I erroneously used the church credit card without 
authorization from Council for some personal purchases for which I intended to reimburse the 
church as well as charges towards Professional Expenses and Continuing Education. As this was 
my first interim position, I didn't realize I had to request authorization as my previous calls 
allowed me to use the card without obtaining such authorization. I spoke in front of the whole 
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congregation and apologized for this mistake assuring them it wasn't malicious or anything like 
that, just being foolish. It was a very disappointing and embarrassing thing for me, and 
something that caused considerable, ongoing guilt. I didn't want to cause anything further and 
in consultation with Bishop Murray Finck, I felt it best to resign from this position. The charges 
were paid in full and since then, I have declined to have a church credit card in my name in 
subsequent calls and have made sure to seek authorization from Council if anything needed to 
be purchased for professional expenses, etc. It was an experience I regret, and something I 
have never done since.” 

+++ 
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Name: Rev. Robert “Bob” Mooney 
 
Current Position: Senior Pastor, Messiah Lutheran  

     Church (1987-present) 
Congregation Membership: Messiah Lutheran  

           Church, Yorba Linda, CA 
Date and Year of Birth: October 27, 1956 
Date and Year of Ordination: October 22, 1983 
 
Previous Positions: Assistant Pastor, Ascension  

       Lutheran, Scottsdale, AZ (1983-1985) 
Associate Pastor, Messiah Lutheran Church,  

       Yorba Linda (1985-1986) 
Education and Earned Degrees (with institutions and 
years, most recent first): 
Pacific Lutheran Theological Seminary, M.Div.  1983 
California Lutheran College, BS in Psychology 1978 
 
List up to five (5) current or past synod or churchwide activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Pacifica Professional Leadership Gathering in Palm Desert - Co-Chair - 2 years 
Pacifica Synod Council Member - 1 term 
Served on Bishop Finck's Retirement Celebration Committee 
Pacifica Synod Hunger Grant Team - Chairperson - 2 years 
ELCA Mid Size Congregational Event Presenter/Leader - 3 years 
 
List up to five (5) current or past community-related activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Placentia Navigation Center (PATH) - Homeless Shelter 
HIS House (Homeless Intervention Shelter) in Placentia 
Caring Hands Food Pantry, First Lutheran Church in Fullerton 
Hope 4 Kids International - Board Chairperson - 8 years 
Habitat for Humanity, Orange County- Build for Unity Coalition 
 
What gifts would you bring to the office of bishop of this synod? (1,000 characters 
maximum) 
Joy, compassion, a sense of humor, and an honest questioning and loving faith in our Triune 
God are some character traits that define me. I believe in my core that all people are created in 
the image of a good, loving, and creative God. My desire is that everyone feels seen and treated 
as a gift of our Creator. A guiding life verse for me is Micah 6:8 “To act justly, to love mercy, and 
to walk humbly with your God.” This verse encourages me daily in my pursuit of justice and 
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mercy. How am I to treat and support people with very diverse life narratives? My choice of 
action is to show each person, those inside and outside the church, with all their diverse life 
circumstances that they are invited, and that there is place for them, and that they are 
welcomed to our Lord's table. It is a really big table. Through my years of ministry, I have 
acquired some wisdom about life and relationships. I strive to hold that with humility, seeking 
new ways to support and help grow the kingdom of God. 
 
What do you see as the principal challenge to this synod in the next six (6) years, and how 
would you address it?  
Congregations are declining, members are aging, and these effects are being accelerated during 
the pandemic. So, wavering from God's mission for us is natural. We might cling to the familiar 
and slip into survival mode. But we must ask, "Why are we the church?" The answer is clear, to 
be Christ's hands and feet. We must collaborate, listen, and have compassion for all so that 
justice, peace, and the well-being of all results. We can't allow ourselves to be distracted by the 
noise of cultural and political voices. Our common ground is the love of Jesus. Our focus is, not 
buildings, but people.  Empowered by the Spirit we can work together bringing, hope, love, and 
joy to increasingly diverse communities who are hurting, hungry, and broken. This vital work 
stands on the Great Commission and Great Commandments. Utilizing collaboration, not 
competition, we embrace new pathways and modern technology to revive our hurting 
communities, so that all can feel a divine connection to one another. 
 
Describe your leadership style. 
Collaboration and teamwork are the principles of my leadership style. Leading by joyfully 
coming alongside others, appreciating, and guiding them are my methods. We are always 
better together than alone. Each person has specific gifts. I enjoy encouraging others and trying 
to help maximize their talents so that we can move deeper into our shared purpose. Listening is 
vital to collaborative leadership. It is important to hear people's narratives and perspectives 
without passing judgement. Real leadership includes prayerful discernment to seek solutions 
for the common good. Along with prayer, it is important to admit when a mistake has been 
made and to make mid-course corrections, when needed. I strive to lead so that we keep our 
focus on our “Why.” “What” we do and “how” we do it, individually, congregationally, and 
synodically must be driven by answering our big and little “Why?” Always, that answer should 
always align with Jesus's command to, “love God and love one another.” 
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Disclosure Form for Nominees 
Rev. Robert Mooney 

 

Out of care for this church, the following questions are asked of all who are making themselves 
available for election to churchwide office: 

1) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, charged with, or convicted of illegal conduct 
or a crime, including conduct resulting in suspension or revocation of your driver’s 
license? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

2) Do you have any health conditions (physical or psychological) or any addictive behavior, 
including a history of drug, alcohol, or pornographic addictions that might interfere with 
your ability to serve or continue serving as a leader? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

3) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, sued, or charged with 
sexual misconduct, sexual harassment, substance abuse, child or spousal neglect or 
abuse, or financial improprieties? 

__X__Yes  ___No  If yes please explain below. 
 

4) While on the roster, have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, 
charged with, or disciplined for any conduct proscribed in Definitions and Guidelines for 
Discipline? 

___Never Rostered  ___Yes  __X__No If yes please explain below. 
 

5) Have you ever engaged in any behavior or been involved in any situations that, if they 
became known, might seriously damage your ability to begin or continue in leadership 
and ministry? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

Additional Information for Disclosure Form 

Please provide as complete an answer as you deem appropriate on this sheet.  Please make 
sure to number your answers to correspond to the questions. If more than one page is needed, 
please indicate that information is continued on another page. 

“In 2005, my wife and I had a conflict over a real estate investment with other family members. 
The conflict led to a lawsuit against us. We immediately informed Messiah leadership and 
Bishop Finck. Both the Bishop and the church leadership found no wrongdoing on our part. We 
settled the lawsuit and have since reconciled with those family members.” 

+++ 
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Name: Rev. David Nagler 
 
Current Position: Pastor 
Congregation Membership: Christ Lutheran Church 
Date and Year of Birth: July 19, 1964 
Date and Year of Ordination: January 30, 1993 
 
Previous Positions:  
Pastor and CEO, Central City Lutheran Mission 
Pastor, Navity Lutheran Church, Bend Oregon 
Pastor, Christ Lutheran Church, San Diego 
Director, Project Shalom, Antsiranana Madagascar 
 
Education and Earned Degrees (with institutions and years, 
most recent first): 
M.Div. Pacific Lutheran Theological Seminary, 1992 
M.A.Ed. University of Redlands, 1989 
B.A in Psychology, Humboldt State University, 1986 
 
List up to five (5) current or past synod or churchwide activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
I have served as the Chair of the Advisory Board for PLTS for 7 years. 
I am on the Board of Regents for California Lutheran University. 
I served as chair of the synod Hunger and Housing Team for 5 years. 
I currently am the dean of the West San Diego Conference. 
I am part of the anti-racism taskforce of our synod. 
 
List up to five (5) current or past community-related activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
I am on the board for a contemplative retreat group (Companions on the Inner Way). 
I was on the Board of Directors of a homeless shelter (Bethlehem Inn) for 5 years. 
I have led interfaith pilgrimages to Italy, Scotland, Ireland, and Central Europe. 
I am part of an ecumenical team that creates a fundraiser that supports Border Angels (Wine 2 
Water). 
I helped organize the Tourmaline Tailgaters Surf Club annual fundraising event. 
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What gifts would you bring to the office of bishop of this synod? 
Whether serving in a congregation, social service agency, board, or as part of a synodical team I 
have learned to trust my sense of creative vision for the future and my ability to communicate 
that vision effectively. I draw inspiration from visionary leaders who dare to push their 
communities beyond their comfort zones trusting that God is leading them to a new and more 
lifegiving reality. I have a passion for keeping the good news of God's love good news for 
everyone, no exceptions! I rely on the witness of scripture, input from sources that have been 
marginalized, my intuition, and a sense of adventure to guide the communities I serve. I have 
studied and employed the tactics of adaptive leadership to address complex problems that 
don't have technical solutions. If you ask my dog, I am also kinda funny. 
 
What do you see as the principal challenge to this synod in the next six (6) years, and how 
would you address it? 
We are deep into a societal shift that has been erupting for decades but has picked up steam in 
the last few years. The church has been marginalized. That has brought pain.  So we have been 
trying to hold on to our place in the center of society forgetting that we do our best work on 
the margins! Time to let that go. We need to go deeper into our spiritual practices. We must 
have the courage and humility to do the work to become a truly anti-racist synod. We should 
no longer pine away for the "good ol' days", but embrace the Divine call we share to this time 
and this place. I would address this by pushing innovation, budgeting for deep change, 
developing deeper collegiality, trusting the voices we have historically ignored, and not being 
afraid to fail. I would also center everything, including the synod staff, in a local congregational 
context. We need to be rooted and intentionally invested in our local communities. 
 
Describe your leadership style. 
I have enjoyed being part of great teams! My leadership style is to listen and learn from my 
teammates and then to articulate my position clearly. Sometimes there is a clear consensus as 
to the path forward. Other times, I have had to push for a vision that only I can see. Truly 
leading can include lonely chapters, but those times should be few and are usually associated 
with major change. When (not if) I make a mistake I try to be fully accountable. Apologizing and 
changing our behavior is part of what it means to live in Christian community. Frequent and 
effective communication is very important to me. I believe that the role of pastor or bishop is to 
inspire the community, not to dominate them. Jesus said, "The greatest among you will be your 
servant." (Mt. 23:11) On my best days, I remember to check my ego at the door and do what is 
right for the needs of the community. 
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Disclosure Form for Nominees 
Rev. David Nagler 

 

Out of care for this church, the following questions are asked of all who are making themselves 
available for election to churchwide office: 

1) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, charged with, or convicted of illegal conduct 
or a crime, including conduct resulting in suspension or revocation of your driver’s 
license? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

2) Do you have any health conditions (physical or psychological) or any addictive behavior, 
including a history of drug, alcohol, or pornographic addictions that might interfere with 
your ability to serve or continue serving as a leader? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

3) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, sued, or charged with 
sexual misconduct, sexual harassment, substance abuse, child or spousal neglect or 
abuse, or financial improprieties? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

4) While on the roster, have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, 
charged with, or disciplined for any conduct proscribed in Definitions and Guidelines for 
Discipline? 

___Never Rostered  ___Yes  __X__No If yes please explain below. 
 

5) Have you ever engaged in any behavior or been involved in any situations that, if they 
became known, might seriously damage your ability to begin or continue in leadership 
and ministry? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

+++ 
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Name: Rev. Jennifer E. Zahnow 
 
Current Position: Our Saviour's Lutheran Church, Orange 
Congregation Membership: Our Saviour's Lutheran  

           Church, Orange 
Date and Year of Birth: April 10, 1975 
Date and Year of Ordination: February 4, 2006 
 
Previous Positions:  
New Song Church, Henderson, Nevada 
First Lutheran Church, McCool Junction, Nebraska 
 
Education and Earned Degrees (with institutions and 
years, most recent first): 
Sierra Nevada College, Master of Arts in Teaching with endorsements in TESL and Autism, 2010-
2015 
Trinity Lutheran Seminary, Master of Divinity, 1998-2005 
Dana College, B.A. in Psychology, with an emphasis in Elementary Education, 1994-1998 
 
List up to five (5) current or past synod or churchwide activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Currently serving on the Pacifica Synod Assembly Planning Team. 
Currently a member on the Pacifica Synod Finance Committee. 
Currently serving as a trustee for a congregation in the Pacifica Synod. 
Served six years on the Grand Canyon Synod Council. 
Experienced two Churchwide Assemblies as a voting member. 
 
List up to five (5) current or past community-related activities that would inform your 
service as bishop of this synod. 
Currently, I am serving on the local committee for the National Workshop on Christian Unity. 
I have worked with the homeless population at the Mobile Assistance Shelter for the Homeless 
in  Las Vegas as an In-take and Referral Specialist, Child Development Specialist and supervised 
the process for archiving client files from 2001-2002. 
 
What gifts would you bring to the office of bishop of this synod? 
I bring the following gifts to the office of the bishop: administration, ministry in crisis, 
communication and media, recruitment and equipping leaders. I am detailed oriented. Ministry 
is coaching others. I encourage people to strengthen their faith though listening, suggesting, 
and supporting those actions. We communicate our faith in many different ways: how we act 
towards others, what we say, what we do, and through the use of technology. Technology has 
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changed how we are sharing the Gospel inside and outside of the church walls. Recruiting and 
equipping leaders is a vital part of my ministry. 
 
What do you see as the principal challenge to this synod in the next six (6) years, and how 
would you address it? 
The principle challenge to this synod in the next six years is evangelism. I will invest in 
ministries, such as children and youth programs, outdoor ministries and campus ministries, that 
are impacting future leaders of the church.  I will develop innovative ways to promote the 
Gospel. The Gospel will become more accessible through apps, websites, blogs, and online Bible 
studies. 
 
Describe your leadership style. 
I lead through collaboration.  I share the vision of the Pacifica Synod that people are hungry for 
the Gospel. The leadership challenge is to discover effective ways to deliver the Good News. I 
know how to do this with others. I encourage and support others to use their gifts to serve the 
church. 
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Disclosure Form for Nominees 
Rev. Jennifer Zahnow 

 

Out of care for this church, the following questions are asked of all who are making themselves 
available for election to churchwide office: 

1) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, charged with, or convicted of illegal conduct 
or a crime, including conduct resulting in suspension or revocation of your driver’s 
license? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

2) Do you have any health conditions (physical or psychological) or any addictive behavior, 
including a history of drug, alcohol, or pornographic addictions that might interfere with 
your ability to serve or continue serving as a leader? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

3) Have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, sued, or charged with 
sexual misconduct, sexual harassment, substance abuse, child or spousal neglect or 
abuse, or financial improprieties? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 
 

4) While on the roster, have you ever engaged in, been accused of, investigated for, 
charged with, or disciplined for any conduct proscribed in Definitions and Guidelines for 
Discipline? 

___Never Rostered  ___Yes  __X__No If yes please explain below. 
 

5) Have you ever engaged in any behavior or been involved in any situations that, if they 
became known, might seriously damage your ability to begin or continue in leadership 
and ministry? 

___Yes  __X__No  If yes please explain below. 

 

 

 

 

 

+++ 
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